
Adult Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
DATE: Wednesday, 8 January 2020

TIME: 3.00 pm

VENUE: The Salford Room - St James's House Pendleton Way Salford M6 5FW.

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

3:00PM - MEETING TO OPEN 

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 6 November 2019 (Pages 1 - 6)

4  Patient Story - 5 minutes 

3:10PM - ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE 

5  Finance Report - Verbal Update - Steve Dixon - 10 minutes 

3:20PM - ITEMS FOR DECISION 

6  Integrated Care: models proposed to continue transformation 
tests of change - Karen Proctor (Sarah Cannon) - 30 minutes 

(Pages 7 - 26)

7  Postural Stability Service - Gillian Mclaughlan - 15 minutes (Pages 27 - 54)

8  Extra Care Service Specification - Judd Skelton - 20 minutes (Pages 55 - 136)

8a Financial Appraisal for Arrow Street (Extra Care Strategy) - Paul 
Walsh - 15 minutes 

(Pages 137 - 174)

Public Document Pack



9  Proposed amendment to Terms of Reference for Adults' 
Commissioning Committee - H Dobrowolska - 5 minutes 

(Pages 175 - 180)

4:50PM - ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

10  Adult Commissioning Report - Karen Proctor - 10 minutes (Pages 181 - 188)

11  Any Other Business - Chair 

12  Time and Dates of Future Meetings 

3:00pm on Wednesday 12 February 2020 – Civic Centre, Salford Suite;
3:00pm on Wednesday 11 March 2020 – St James’ House.

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 1 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

MINUTES OF ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

06 November 2019, 
15:00-17:20Hrs

SALFORD SUITE, SALFORD CITY COUNCIL, CIVIC CENTRE, CHORLEY ROAD, 
SWINTON, M27 5DA

Present:

Mr Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Finance Officer – CCG
Mr David Flinn (DF) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Cllr Jane Hamilton (JaH) Executive Support for Social Care & Mental 

Health – SCC
Cllr Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance & Support Services – 

SCC
Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK) Lead Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods 

- SCC
Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mrs Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mrs Charlotte Ramsden (CR) Strategic Director – People - CCG
Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT) Medical Director – CCG – in the chair

In Attendance:

Mrs Di Critchley (DC) Engagement, Experience and Development 
Officer - CCG

Mr Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mr Judd Skelton (JS) Assistant Director – Integrated Commissioning – 

CCG/SCC
Mrs Claire Vaughan (MS) Head of Medicines Optimisation - CCG
Mr Paul Walsh (PW) Head of Service – Integrated Commissioning – 

CCG/SCC
Ms Carol Eddleston (CAE) Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC

Apologies:

Dr Peter Brambleby (PB) Interim Director of Public Health - SCC
Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer – SCC
Dr Tom Regan (TR) Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG
Councillor Gina Reynolds (GR) Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and 

Wellbeing – SCC – Co-chair
Mrs Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 2 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

1. Apologies and Declarations of Interest

a) Apologies

The above apologies were noted.

b) Declarations of Interest

JT reminded committee members of their obligation to declare any interest they may 
have on any issues arising at the meeting which might conflict with the business of 
the Integrated Commissioning organisations.

2. Minutes of the Last Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 09 October were approved as a correct record.

3. ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE

a) FINANCE REPORT

SD presented an in-year update on how the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund 
was performing in this financial year (2019/20). The report was based on month 6 
(September 2019) financial information and initial view of month 7 information which 
had not been fully validated due to the timing of the meeting. Based on the latest 
financial information, the adults’ element was currently forecasting to overspend by 
£1.2m in 2019/20 which was a worsening of £0.4m from the last finance report to 
September’s ACC meeting. 

The main area for this worsening related to Adult Critical Care where the package of 
care provided by Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) for one Salford 
resident amounted to £0.5m. SD confirmed that the charge was valid and correct but 
there were concerns around the failure by MFT to keep Salford CCG informed, which 
would have allowed the CCG to forecast & plan better, and perhaps assess whether 
Critical Care was the most suitable place for the individual concerned. These 
concerns had been flagged with MFT and Manchester CCG and the individual’s GP 
practice had been asked to provide a summary of the case.

A workstream had been set up by the Urgent Care Board to enable a better 
understanding of the reasons for the 4234 excess bed days year-end forecast 
variance and whether it be due, for example, to the complexity of the cases or the 
lack of availability of suitable care packages to facilitate earlier discharge. Every 
hospital, regardless of size or specialisms, had now been set the target of reducing 
stays of 21 days or more by 40% by the end of March 2020. SRFT was not currently 
achieving its target.

Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the in-year and forecast position for 
the adults’ Integrated Fund for 2019/20. 

Page 2



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 3 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

4. ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE

a) ADULT COMMISSIONING REPORT

KP and JS presented an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care.

The report included an update on additional IAPT investment, Learning Disabilities 
Big Health Day, Living Well Salford and a Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman case.

JS confirmed that the additional Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
Investment was making a big difference in helping GMMH to meet its targets in 
relation to waiting list size and waiting times. The IAPT programme was very 
prescriptive about therapist qualifications and there were difficulties nationally in 
recruiting from what was a relatively small pool of qualified therapists, which had 
created some workforce challenges particularly in the lower intensity (Step 2) service

JS reported that early feedback from the 10th Annual Big Health Day on 22 October 
was positive and a more detailed evaluation of the outcomes would be brought back 
to the committee in a future report.

The committee acknowledged that returning to work after a period of time out of the 
workforce could be a culture shock, particularly for people with mental health support 
and care needs, and was pleased to hear that, within the Living Well Salford model, 
support was available to people for familiarisation with using public transport, 
interview skills and training.

KP confirmed that the CCG’s request for an extension to June 2020 on the notice 
period on the Manchester Elective Orthopaedic Centre had been successful and, 
although timescales were still tight, this extension would allow for additional patient 
engagement.

CR reported on the actions taken following the finding of fault by the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman following an investigation into a complaint 
made by a Salford resident with autism. The finding related to a failure to review the 
resident’s care plan in line with the Care Act. The ombudsman had found the 
council’s response to the LGSCO’s report very positive and was ‘particularly 
encouraged by the proactive steps the council is taking to improve its service above 
and beyond what I have recommended, and I hope this ensures other people will not 
have the same difficulties in future’.

At the present time it appeared that there were sufficient existing resources available 
to complete the actions required, including a Care Act compliant re-assessment of 
the social care needs of any people with care packages in mental health services

Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the overview of key and emerging 
areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care.

Page 3



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 4 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

b) ARROW STREET EXTRA CARE PROPOSAL

Phil Summers & Terry McBride of Salix Homes and Adam Gray and Rob Patton of 
OMI Architects attended the meeting for this item and, together with PW, provided an 
update on the proposed Extra Care Scheme development at Arrow Street in Lower 
Broughton. 

Representatives from OMI Architects presented the latest outline plans which 
included a 68 apartment Extra Care Scheme with an additional six bungalows on the 
opposite side. Salix Homes was in a position to submit a planning application before 
the end of 2019.

The representatives of OMI Architects and Salix Homes noted/responded to a 
number of observations/questions from the committee including about fire safety, 
flood risk, environmental sustainability, dementia friendliness, car parking, space for 
buggies, bicycles & specialist equipment, such as but not limited to mobility scooters, 
consultation with elected members & MPs and changes to ward boundaries.

PW confirmed that further consultation was yet to be undertaken with the 
communities the scheme would be likely to serve, along with current residents in the 
area. It was envisaged that the proposed site would meet current need but there 
would inevitably be a need for additional Extra Care provision in the longer term and 
discussions were underway with Salix Homes and ForHousing about potential sites.

The committee thanked the representatives of OMI Architects and Salix Homes for 
their comprehensive update.

Members of the committee commented that they had no objection in principle to the 
proposed scheme but were concerned that they had not yet had an opportunity to 
consider and agree the service model and service specification. They would by 
preference agree these before being asked to comment on prospective sites for 
delivery. PW confirmed that the service specification was due to be presented at the 
January meeting.

CR observed that the proposal was based on the premise that extra care places were 
required in the city and she considered it feasible for the January report on Service 
Specification for the Regulated Care Services delivered in Salford’s Extra Care 
Scheme to incorporate Arrow Street as the first proposed site.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the contents of the report, 
acknowledged that members had no objections in principle at this stage to the 
proposals but looked forward to the opportunity to consider and approve the 
Service Specification for the Regulated Care Services delivered in Salford’s 
Extra Care Scheme at its January meeting.

c) CCG THIRD SECTOR FUND

KP presented an update on the CCG’s Salford CVS managed Third Sector Fund 
which was a flexible, responsive grants programme that had the ability to ensure that 

Page 4



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 5 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

grantees were delivering against the priorities of the refreshed Locality Plan, 
alongside any other strategic priorities identified.

In 2018/19 the Fund supported 203 local voluntary organisations, charities, 
community groups, social enterprises and primary schools, benefiting the health and 
wider wellbeing of 26,048 Salford residents and demonstrating a financial return on 
investment for NHS Salford CCG of £1: £17.74.

Adults’ Commissioning Committee welcomed the update on the CCG’s Third 
Sector Fund and commended the decision taken by the CCG Executive in 
October to approve a further five-year investment into the fund of £1million per 
annum.

d) CANCER WORK PLAN UPDATE

HG provided an update on the local work being undertaken to improve cancer 
services and early diagnosis of cancer. Salford’s Cancer work programme was based 
on Greater Manchester’s Achieving World Class Cancer Outcomes Plan, the key 
domains of which were Prevention, Early Diagnosis, Improved and Standardised 
Care and Education, Commissioning, Patient Experience, and Living With and 
Beyond Cancer.

HG confirmed that, like many areas locally and nationally, Salford was failing to meet 
several of its targets.  Whilst this was affecting patients with several types of cancer 
the biggest issues were in relation to breast and skin cancers due to demand and 
capacity. There were a number of performance management plans in place to 
address these issues, including the piloting of a one-stop clinic approach in 
dermatology, with a view to managing more cases in a primary care setting rather 
than referral to secondary care.

HG clarified that part of the issue for breast services was that capacity issues had 
meant the Stockport service had closed, this meant more referrals were being sent to 
Manchester and their waiting times had increased resulting in some salford patients 
waiting too long.  There were forums across Greater Manchester for hospitals to plan 
together to address this kind of problem but sometimes the issues still arose.

It was acknowledged that the performance targets would have been met if it were not 
for breast and skin, so it was agreed that it would be helpful for performance to be 
broken down by type of cancer in future reports.

 
Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the update and welcomed the 
significant work that was being undertaken locally to improve cancer services 
and early diagnosis. The committee agreed that future monitoring reports 
should break down performance by type of cancer.

5. Any Other Business

There were no items of any other business.

Page 5



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 6 of 6
06 NOVEMBER 2019

6. Meeting Closed

The meeting closed at 17:20.

Page 6



 

1

ADULTS COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

8th January 2020 

Report of: Karen Proctor, Director of Commissioning

Date of Paper: 13th December 2019

Subject: Integrated Care Transformation Next 
Steps: Proposals for Models of Care

In case of query 
Please contact:

Sarah Cannon, Integrated Care 
Programme Manager

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
X Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

X Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

This report provides a summary of proposals for future models of care, to continue 
integrated care transformation, in order to maintain and further grow benefits. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

There are a number of benefits for Salford residents 
including:

 Care will be delivered closer to home
 People will regain function following 

deterioration 
 People will remain independent for longer
 People will experience improvement in their 

functional ability and quality of life
 Less hand offs between teams

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

-Staff recruitment and retention - due to change and 
due to shortage of specialist posts. Mitigation plan 
enacted including engagement and co-design 
process.
-Benefits may not be delivered as modelled. 
Mitigation includes close regular monitoring and exit 
planning if benefits not being realised.
- Time required for change. Mitigation includes 
implementation plan in place learning from previous.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED 
RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
WILL THESE BE MITIGATED?

None 

DOES THIS PAPER HELP 
ADDRESS ANY EXISTING HIGH 
OR EXTREME RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO 
WHAT ARE THEY AND HOW 
DOES THIS PAPER REDUCE 
THEM?

Yes, the outcomes of this project will support risks 
outlined in Salford Locality Plan i.e. reduce 
unnecessary secondary care and social care 
activity,  and support belter system flow 

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY 
POSSIBLE CONFLICTS OF 
INTEREST ASSOCIATED WITH 
THIS PAPER.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY 
CURRENT SERVICES OR ROLES 
THAT MAY BE AFFECTED BY 
ISSUES WITHIN THIS PAPER:

 Community Rehabilitation / Supported 
Discharge Teams

 Rapid Response 
 Urgent Care Team 
 Homesafe
 Enhanced Care Team
 MDGs
 Housing Officer

Page 8



Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X Salford Big Conversation (2017), 
presentations and discussion at  CCG 
member events, Citizens panel and 
Neighbourhood engagement events have 
been supportive of plans for integrated 
working and care closer to home.

Supportive of plans for 
integrated working and care 
closer to home

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X Extended care Steering and 
Neighbourhood scoping groups and 
Neighbourhood engagement events have 
had professionals from a variety of 
clinical and professional backgrounds. 
The work is ongoing as part of redesign. 

Supportive of business case 
and redesign

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?

    X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought x

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

x

 Extended Care and Neighbourhoods 
Partnership Task and Finish Groups

 Provider board
 Salford Royal Investment Committee 
 Adults Advisory Board
 Service and Finance Group
 Lead Member Briefing 

Supportive of model and 
redesign 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 9



  

4

Report Title Integrated Care Transformation Next Steps: Proposals for 
Models of Care

Meeting Adults Commissioning Committee

Date of Meeting 8th January 2020

Agenda Item Integrated Care Transformation Proposals

Author(s)
Sarah Cannon, Senior Programme Manager, Integrated Care 
Transformation
June Roberts, Associate Director of Transformation 

Purpose of Report 
This report provides a summary of proposals for models of care 
in order to continue Integrated Care Transformation.

Summary

The Adults Integrated Care Transformation Programme has 
tested new models of care between 2016/17 and 2019/20. The 
tests (or projects) were funded through Greater Manchester 
Transformation monies.  This report proposes integrated care 
models to further progress transformation in order to both 
maintain and grow impact. The proposals draw on the learning 
from the test projects and are a combination of continuation 
and change. Equally the proposals consider interrelated 
recurrent services to ensure holistic approach, with no 
duplication, best use of resources and effective integrated 
pathways. The models are for neighbourhoods and extended 
care integration. 

The neighbourhoods model proposal centres on strength based 
assessment, multi-disciplinary care planning and intervention. It 
involves continuation of the functions of the transformation 
project Enhanced Care Team, however wraps these functions 
around existing Neighbourhood Integrated Teams (district  
nurses and social workers). The proposal adds therapy, 
pharmacy and mental health to integrated neighbourhood 
teams (INTs). The proposal also moves an existing therapy 
service (Community Rehabilitation) to neighbourhood teams to 
make the best use of therapy resource. The INT would support 
and work with Primary Care to manage complex patients with 
multiple long- term conditions. 

The extended care model proposal is to redesign step-up and 
step down services, with some additional capacity, to deliver 
improved outcomes. The proposal maintains the specialist staff 
roles of the transformation service, Urgent Care Team, 
however merges these with the Rapid Response Service, for 
an integrated Community Urgent Response. 

Page 10



  

5

The proposal also includes a new transformation test of a 
‘Homesafe’ service so that people can be discharged home 
safely sooner, with improved capacity for reablement, 
rehabilitation and support for health and wellbeing.  

During the Integrated Care Programme positive progress has 
been seen with system indicators, including urgent hospital 
activity and care home admissions. The models out-lined in the 
paper will support continuation of the trend of mitigated growth 
in A&E attendances, reduction in Non-Elective Admissions 
(NEL) and admissions to residential care.  The risk of not 
continuing to progress transformation new models is that the 
benefit achieved to date will revert. Evaluation metrics for next 
phase will monitor a range of impacts including staff and patient 
experience plus adult social care spend. 

The funding requested from the CCG is £3,336,624 non-
recurrently for a two year test. However the cost is off-set by 
system savings, through avoidance of hospital costs with a net 
benefit, if impacts are realised as modelled, of £1619. The 
benefit above the ‘do nothing scenario’ is £1,172,800. This will 
mean an addition of 86 staff, of which 46 are already in post 
from existing transformation schemes.

Both proposals require a plan for implementation which will 
encompass a period of staff consultation, stakeholder 
engagement, plus co-creation of strength based pathways and 
processes.  It is suggested that this two year period would 
provide sufficient time for the on-going collation of evidence to 
inform future commissioning and contracting decisions. 
Evaluation and monitoring will continue to form part of the 
testing of new models of care. 

Recommendation(s)
The Adults Commissioning Committee is requested to:

 comment and agree the proposed models 

Page 11



  

6

1.0 Introduction and background

1.1 The Integrated Care Programme has tested new models of care using transformation 
monies (£18.3m) from Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership from 
2016/17 to 2019/20. The projects (or tests of change) will all complete during 2019/20 
and therefore consideration of future models of care, is required in order to maintain 
benefit delivered by the programme.

1.2 The Adults Advisory Board (AAB) agreed that the future options for the test of change 
projects should be considered alongside interrelated core commissioned services. In 
doing this there would be assurance that pathways of care were fully integrated providing 
holistic services, with no duplication and no unnecessary pathway steps for patients. 
Groups or bundles of interrelated services were agreed by AAB early in 2019.  These 
bundles of services covered the areas of:

 Extended Care (also termed Intermediate Care)
 Neighbourhoods Health and Care
 Urgent Care

1.3 This paper seeks a decision from Adults Commissioning Committee on proposals for 
further testing of new models of care, in order to continue with the next phase of the 
transformation. The proposed models seek to draw on learning from the transformation 
projects and to remodel services, to ensure effective use of resources. 

1.4 There are service areas within the new models which require investment to enable 
continuation to the next phase of transformation. The decision on investment to underpin 
the models for a two year test is requested from non-recurrent CCG monies and is 
scheduled for the CCG Governing Body decision in January 2020. 

2.0 Impact of Integrated Care Transformation

2.1 The evaluation of the Adults Integrated Care Programme has involved two approaches. 
The first is measurement of ten key system indicators, as agreed with Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Partnership, within the Investment Agreement for 
Funding. These measures are outlined in figure one below. The current position 
suggests the programme is mainly on track to reach the targets set for 2019/20. 

Figure one: Greater Manchester Investment Agreement Indicators (GMIA): position against 
plan at Sept 19 

GMIA Indicator Performance against plan Rating
Non Elective Admissions 5% below plan GREEN

AED Attendances   0.6% below plan GREEN

Elective Admissions   0.2% below plan GREEN

Total Outpatient Appts 1.6% above plan AMBER

Diagnosis Rate for Dementia  4.3% above plan (Oct 19) GREEN

Deaths in Usual Place of residence 4.8% below plan (Q1 19-20 
position)

RED

Page 12



  

7

Permanent Admissions to Care Homes 22.3 below plan – 184 against 
a plan of 206.3 

GREEN

Primary care prescribing 9.6% below plan GREEN

CQC rating 7.9% below plan GREEN

Drugs monitored in-line with shared 
protocol (GP practice)

100% GREEN

2.2 Non-elective admissions (NEL), A&E attendances and residential care admissions are 
the main measures relating to reduced system spend within the Investment Agreement. 

The rate of non-elective admissions have reduced over the course of the programme by 
8%, as shown in the graph below. 

Figure two: Rate of non-elective admissions April 2015 to Sept 2019. 

The rate of A&E attendances have stabilised over the course of the programme, as 
shown by the graph below.

Figure three: Rate of A&E attendances April 2015 to Sept 2019. 

Residential Care Admissions have reduced by 15% over the course of the programme 
and are shown in the graph below.  

Page 13



  

8

Figure four: Rate of Residential Care Home Admissions April 2015 to Sept 2019. 

2.3 The evaluation of the Integrated Care Programme has also involved assessment of 
each test of change project through the collection of quantitative and qualitative 
outcome/process data on a quarterly basis. Highlights are located in appendix one. The 
new models which are proposed to take transformation forward account for the learning 
from the tests of change projects and apply assumptions on future benefits, as modelled 
from the evaluations. 

3.0 Proposed Model: Neighbourhoods 

3.1  Neighbourhoods health and care compromise a range of services and support, 
delivered by a number of different providers and sectors. This model centres on the 
providers/services coming together to identify people who need health and care support, 
or are at risk of future health deterioration, to plan and deliver co-ordinated integrated 
care with individuals. The neighbourhoods model is pro-active, strengths based and 
preventative, supporting people to stay safely at home, avoiding the need for urgent 
hospital or social care services.

3.2 The model proposed:

 maintains and develops a Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) approach at the heart of 
health care planning and prevention in neighbourhoods. This MDT will meet 
regularly, bringing the right health and care professionals and wider sectors together 
to assess, plan and provide care (using care co-ordination); 

 develops and enhances the existing Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INTs) to 
support both the INT function and MDT working –see point 3.3;  

 aims to increase use of community assets, strength based approaches and 
facilitation of self-care.  

3.3 The INTs are currently comprised of District Nursing and Social Work and the proposed 
model includes functions of the transformation service, Enhanced Care Team (ECT), 
wrapped around the existing INT.  The new INT would therefore include District Nurses, 
Social Workers, Mental Health worker, Physiotherapists, Occupational Therapists, 
Assistant Practitioners and Pharmacy. The teams would be managed within current INT 
management capacity and other professions would input or join for the MDT meeting 
including (but not limited to) Primary Care, Geriatrician, Community Connector and 

Page 14



  

9

Advanced Nurse Practitioner. Homecare and care homes would input where indicated. 
This will enhance the integrated offer in neighbourhoods, maintaining the impact of the 
ECT and making this available across neighbourhoods, with more effective use of 
resources.

3.4 The enhanced offer will integrate care and management of complex patients and those 
with multiple long-term conditions, supporting primary care. The model will include 
Geriatrician and Advanced Practitioner community clinics or home visits.     

3.5 Both the model for the MDT approach and the INT structure are shown below. An 
indication of roles of members of the MDT is also provided in appendix two.  

Figure five: Proposed Neighbourhood Model and Integrated Neighbourhood Team (INT) 

Page 15



  

10

3.6 An options appraisal has been completed for neighbourhoods, which considers the 
implications, risks, costs and benefits of the following options. The pros and cons are 
summarised in appendix three for these options. 

 Doing nothing (ending transformation services)
 Continuing transformation in current models with no change to other services
 Redesign which includes some change to existing services and some change to 

transformation tests

4.0 Proposed Model: Extended Care 

4.1 The aim of Extended Care is to support reablement and independence, in order to 
prevent unnecessary hospital admission, promote timely discharge and reduce the need 
for long term residential care.  

4.2 Extended Care comprises the services which bridge hospital to community. The 
services are grouped into those that ‘step people up’ from community to hospital and 
those which are a ‘step down’ from hospital to home, as outlined in the table below.

Figure six: Extended (Intermediate) Care Services
Step-up
Urgent Care Team*
Rapid Response
Intermediate Home Support
Occupational Therapy

Step-down
Homesafe
Integrated Discharge Team - Housing Officer*
Community Rehabilitation / falls* 
Intermediate Care Social Work

 *service part of current transformation programme

4.3 The intermediate care bedded units have been subject to a prior remodelling process, 
as part of the case for a new build unit, and so are out of scope. However after the 
proposed two year test for new models outlined in this paper, it is anticipated the impact 
of the new build bedded unit will also be known, to inform any future model proposals 
post 2022.  

4.4 Remodelling of all the services within Extended Care has been informed through 
consideration of evaluations of the test of change projects, national recommendations 
and local reviews including: 

 Evaluations of transformation tests of change projects (2019) including Urgent 
Care Team, Falls Pathway and Housing Officer;

 Allied Health Professional Review (2019); 
 Intermediate Care Review (2015); 
 National Audit of Intermediate Care (2018);
 Utilisation Management Review (2019); and 
 Review of demand and capacity.

4.5 An options appraisal has been completed for extended care which considers the 
implications, risks, costs and benefits of the following options. The pros and cons are 
summarised in appendix three for these options. 

 Doing nothing (ending transformation services)
 Continuing transformation in current models, with no change to other services

Page 16



  

11

 Redesign which includes some change to existing services and some change to 
transformation tests

4.6 The Extended Care model proposed is the redesign of existing and transformation 
services which includes the following elements:

4.6.1 Establishment of an ‘Urgent Community Response Service’ which merges the 
offer of Rapid Response (existing service) and Urgent Care Team (test service) into 
one team. A small number of posts are removed from the future service compared 
to existing transformation service.  It is anticipated this function will deflect 5197 
A&E attendances annually so people’s urgent need is resolved in the home setting.

4.6.2 Test of expansion of a function to support patients to be discharged sooner termed 
‘Homesafe’. This is based on a ‘Discharge to Assess’ model meaning patients are 
assessed for their post discharge support in a timely way in their home setting 
safely with reablement, rehabilitation and promotion of health and well-being. It is 
anticipated this function will reduce length of stay and readmissions for 1944 
patients to be supported by the service annually. 

4.6.3 Enhancement of ‘Community Rehabilitation Team’ capacity with a move of the 
staffing into integrated neighbourhood teams, in order to make most effective use of 
therapist skills and expertise. It is anticipated this will result in an additional 144 
fewer falls admissions to hospital each year and 24 fewer fractured neck of femurs.  

4.6.4 Continuation of the Housing Officer within the Integrated Discharge Team to 
maintain the potential beds days avoided estimated to be 387 from the evaluation.  

4.6.5 Skill mixing, strength based approaches and review of pathways in other services 
within the Extended Care tier will also form part of the remodelling.

4.7 The model is summarised in the diagram below which also shows the link to 
neighbourhoods. 

Diagram six: Proposed Extended Care Model (also showing link to neighbourhoods) 

Page 17



  

12

5.0 Benefits 

5.1 The main benefit of the proposals is that patients will experience timely co-ordinated 
assessment, care and treatment closer to home resulting, in improved quality of life. 
There will be reduced waits and improved access for all services within the INT and 
Extended Care. People will also be connected to community assets for additional 
support, where identified. An example of a patient pathway in the new models, 
compared to prior to transformation, can be located at appendix four. 
  

5.2 The financial benefits analysis within the CCG investment cases are based on the 
preferred options impacting on further demands on acute services by increasing more 
appropriate out of hospital resources . The models implemented will enable as much 
demand as possible to be managed in neighbourhoods, providing better skill mix and 
increased capacity for the system  This will contribute to avoiding growth in A&E/NEL 
activity against the do nothing scenario. This will enable continuation of the impact 
described in section two of this report. Combined with the introduction of Community 
Led Support an impact on Adult Social Care packages and spend is an anticipated 
benefit. 

5.3 Although the financial benefits analysis has been based on hospital activity avoidance 
there are other system benefits to the proposals, which are either not directly cash 
releasing or there is minimal evidence available to enable modelling or costing of these 
benefits. 

These include:
 Improved patient experience and improved quality of life
 Increased access and quicker access to range of support nearer to home 

including therapy, mental health, rehabilitation and pharmacy  
 Increased use of community assets
 Reduced pressure on Primary Care 
 Potential reduction in social care packages and residential care admissions or 

delay in need for this
 Potential impact on use of hospital beds for the cohort seen by the service. 
 Reduction in out-patient appointments
 Improved information sharing between staff in Neighbourhood teams
 Increased opportunity to up skill professionals e.g. physical health and other 

professionals will benefit from an increased awareness of mental health and vice 
versa

 Efficiencies through shared assessment, care planning and reduction in formal 
referral processes

6.0 CCG Investment Case Financial Benefits Analysis

6.1 To enable the models described additional staffing capacity is required, some of which 
is already in place through transformation. The staffing capacity for the proposed 
models is increased from the do nothing scenario by an additional 86.62 WTE staff 
(87.44WTE to 173.56WTE). As noted this is not all new staffing as there were 
67.48WTE posts added through the transformation tests of change projects of which 
46WTE are currently (November 2019) in post. Recruitment would therefore be required 
for 40.62WTE, in addition to some skill mixing and changes to roles. 

Page 18



  

13

6.2 The majority of the staffing requested is within Salford Care Organisation. The exception 
is the Housing Officer (Housing Options) and the Mental Health posts (Greater 
Manchester Mental Health Trust).

6.3 The requested additional staffing capacity annual cost is £3,336,624 from a do nothing 
recurrent cost of £3,934,739. Just over half the requested monies is funding staff 
currently in post through transformation.  

6.4 The financial benefit analysis modelled from service review data and evaluation data 
suggests that the models would result in avoidance of sufficient hospital activity to off -
set the cost of the service.  The models cost overall £7,271,363 (including recurrent 
services) and the benefits from hospital activity avoided are £7,272,982.   

6.5 The graphs below model the impact on avoided hospital activity for do nothing (pre 
2016), current transformation (2016 – 2019) and the proposed transformation (2020 – 
2022). These graphs show that there is a risk that impact would be lost if services 
reverted to what they were prior to transformation. The estimated risk to not continuing 
the transformation programme is 2994 A&E attendances and 1036 NEL will not be 
avoided, resulting in hospital activity, equating to £2,517,456.

Figure seven: Avoidance of hospital activity from recurrent services, transformation services 
and additional from proposed further transformation

7.0 Implementation 

7.1 An implementation plan will be required to deliver the new models as both proposals will 
require: 

- a period of staff consultation and recruitment; 
- movement of staff bases;
- establishment of infrastructure such as IT, training; 
- establishment of Standard Operating Procedures; 
- communications and awareness raising; and
- co-creation of simplified processes and pathways. 

7.2 The request is to test the new models for a period of two years in order to allow sufficient 
time for mobilisation and delivery of benefits. The graph below estimates that by the end 
of year one there will be delivery of the full benefits. 

Page 19



  

14

Figure eight: Benefit and cost of transformation and existing services over time.

7.3 KPIs will be agreed and monitoring will be built into the test. This will include some 
monthly and quarterly monitoring plus an annual evaluation report. Exit arrangements 
will be developed if the tests are not demonstrating impact by the end of the first year of 
testing. 

8.0 Summary

8.1 This report provides an overview of two proposals for new models of care to move to the 
next phase of transformation for neighbourhoods and extended care. The models seek 
to continue with what has shown impact, stop/change what has not shown impact or is 
not cost effective and test new approaches. In summary this is:  

 Continuation of the transformation test of the Urgent Care Team, merging with 
the existing Rapid Response Service;

 Wrapping and co-locating some functions of the Enhanced Care Team 
transformation service around existing Integrated Neighbourhood Teams across 
neighbourhoods, with redesign of MDG processes ;

 Increasing capacity of the Community Rehabilitation Service and moving the 
team into neighbourhood INTs;

 Continuation with the transformation service of Housing Officer within the 
hospital discharge team;

 Commencement of a new test of ‘Homesafe’ to facilitate people to get home 
sooner with appropriate post discharge care after a hospital episode. 

8.2 The models are underpinned by:
 Strengths based approaches;
 Person centred care;
 Integrated MDT working; and
 Evaluation;

8.3 The benefits from the new models and continuing to transformation are that integration 
continues to develop to deliver improved experiences and outcomes for people with 
more care closer to home. The net financial benefit, if impacts are realised as modelled 
in the investment cases, is £1619. The benefit above the ‘do nothing scenario’ is 
£1,172,800.

Page 20



  

15

8.4 The proposal is for a two year period to further test new care models and presumed 
benefit realisation. This would provide sufficient time for the on-going collation of 
evidence to inform future commissioning and contracting decisions.  

9.0 Summary

9.1 The Adults Commissioning Committee is requested to:
 comment and agree the proposed models. 

Page 21



  

16

Appendix one: Summary of transformation achievements

Page 22



  

17

Appendix two: Example action of Integrated Neighbourhood Team members

Role Example action in care plan
Geriatrician Specialists assessments and medical management for 

conditions such as cognitive decline and frailty 
Advanced Practitioner 
(AP)

Long-term condition support e.g. respiratory fatigue 
management, breathlessness control, prescribing.

Integrated 
neighbourhood lead

Operational Management of the team and running of the 
MDT 

Mental health 
practitioner

Anxiety and depression interventions e.g. Cognitive 
Behavioural Therapy

Therapist (Physio/OT) Environment assessments, mobility / balance /falls 
/rehabilitation/ reablement  programmes e.g. exercises

Assistant Practitioner Observations, such as weight, blood pressure, pulse and 
wellbeing advice, goal monitoring and support of 
rehabilitation and reablement programmes. 

Pharmacy Medication reviews, medication advice, home visits, 
identifying issues such as stockpiling. 

Admin Co-ordination of the MDT, clinics, correspondence/ 
communications 

District Nurse Nursing intervention such as nursing management of 
complex patients, end of life care, wound management, 
injections, catheter care.  

Social Work Strengths based assessment / working with people, 
families and networks to find solutions to complex issues, 
arrangement of social care support e.g. home visits to 
help personal care, arranging equipment and 
adaptations.

Page 23



  

18

Appendix three: Pros and Cons of model options 
Option Pros Cons

Do
in

g 
no

th
in

g 
(e

nd
in

g 
tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
se

rv
ic

es
)

 No further investment will be 
required

 Opportunity to redistribute staff to 
other health care teams who may be 
carrying vacancies

 Lost impact and increase cost - Potential 
increase in ED attendances and NELs

 Benefits for people of integration will not 
be achieved

 Lost opportunity to redesign services and 
achieve efficiencies through pathways

 Financial risks for SCO and SPCT
 Potential increase in waiting times for 

various services that have seen 
improvements and increased demand 
through transformation 

 Increased hospital Length of Stay
 Increased pressure on existing primary 

care services
 Learning from tests of change lost

Co
nt

in
ui

ng
 tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
in

 c
ur

re
nt

 
m

od
el

s w
ith

 n
o 

ch
an

ge
 to

 o
th

er
 

se
rv

ic
es

 Maintains benefits achieved so far by 
transformation

 Opportunity to increase referrals 
across services and see further 
benefits and wider reach of the 
positive changes within the 
healthcare system

 Retains staff with expertise and 
learning from the tests can be shared 
and developed further

 Opportunity to simplify pathways
 Improved patient experience
 Improved patient outcomes

 Requirement for major Digital 
Infrastructure changes as IT was a barrier 
to Enhanced Care Team 

 Inequity as enhanced care set up for two 
neighbourhoods

 Estates review needed
 Costly models
 No opportunities for efficiency and 

learning from the elements that did not 
work as well in the tests of change

 Duplication – double running within 
some elements of the service

 Potentially a confusing offer for general 
practice and NWAS

Re
de

si
gn

 w
hi

ch
 in

cl
ud

es
 so

m
e 

ch
an

ge
 to

 
ex

is
tin

g 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 so

m
e 

ch
an

ge
 to

 
tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
te

st
s

 Maintains and enhances benefits 
achieved so far by transformation

 Opportunity to increase capacity in 
the neighbourhoods for therapy, 
potentially reducing the waiting list 
and improving outcomes

 Equity – services provided citywide 
 No duplication between services – 

more efficient and less confusing
 Enhances relationship between VCSE 

and statutory services
 Supports strength based working 

implementation
 Opportunity for clear streamlined 

pathways with reduced hand offs

 Estates review would be needed to 
ensure space for new staff

 HR consultation necessary due to change 
in roles

 Timescales to implement and realise full 
benefit

 Potential to lose staff due to role and 
location changes

Page 24



  

19

Appendix four: Example patient pathway in current (do nothing) services

P
age 25



  

20

Example patient pathway in proposed model

P
age 26



 

                                                          

Adults Commissioning Committee 
AGENDA ITEM NO 7
Item for Decision/Assurance/Information
8th January 2020

Report of: Deputy Director of Public Health 
Date of Paper 8th January 2020
Subject: Enhanced Postural Stability Service Business Case
In case of query 
Please contact:

Helen Dugdale – 0161 793 3543

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:
To present a business case for decision of the continuation of the Enhanced Postural 
Stability Service. Salford have 6th the highest rate for Falls admissions for the UK. 
Postural Stability is known to be highly effective in preventing falls in older adults at risk 
of falling. The Enhanced Postural Stability service is part of the Salford Falls pathway 
and follows the recommended evidence base. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The recommendations for Adult Commissioning Committee is 
to:
 

1. Agree the continuation of the Enhanced Postural Stability Service 

2. Agree to recurrently fund the service at current level in line with Adults Advisory 
Board recommendation.

3. Agree to retain Salford Community Leisure (SCL) as provider on grounds of cost 
effectiveness and continuity of service. Assurance has been provided regarding 
Best Value and future tendering options including broader Salford City Council 
commissions with SCL.

4. Agree to the continuation of two years until March 2022 with a plus one year’s 
extension until March 2023. 

5. The £21,600 is recurrently funded, therefore this business case is to agree the re-
currency of the £160,000 currently non recurrent, although the availability of the 
funding is re-current

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

                                                          

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Salford have 6th the highest rate for Falls 
admissions for the UK. Postural Stability is 
known to be highly effective in preventing falls 
in older adults at risk of falling. 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

If the Enhanced Postural Stability Service ends 
on the 31st March 2020, then it is likely that the 
number of Falls admissions and Fracture Neck 
of Femurs will increase. Post discharge from 
these admissions would result in some people 
being unable to live at home independently 
therefore increasing community health care 
costs and social care costs. 

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

Currently the Enhanced Postural Stability is 
funded through the Community Assets Bundle. 
The Community Assets Bundle has been 
disaggregated into two parts Enhanced 
Postural Stability and Age Well. A business 
case has been developed for the Age Well 
which will be brought to SFG and if receives 
appropriate recommendation will be brought to 
Adults Commissioning Committee.   

Footnote:

Members of Adult Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 28



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)

 X

All 4 week courses are evaluated. Courses evaluate very 
positively with participant 
articulating improved 
benefits to physical as 
well mental wellbeing and 
health 

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)



Relevant clinicians are members 
of the Falls Steering group who 
developed the Falls PID and 
valued the important role of the 
Postural Stability service and its 
place in the pathway.  

There has been no 
indication this view has 
changed.

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these will 
be managed) 

 N/A

Legal Advice Sought  N/A

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



For Governance/comments:
AAB provided recommendation 
on 25/06/19
Adult DMG SCC 16/8/19
Lead Member Board 20/11/19
Service and Finance 05/11/19

P
age 29



  

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 30



Enhanced Postural Stability Business Case 

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT
01/08/2019 2, 3 4, 5,  Helen Dugdale Written
15/08/2019 All Gillian McLauchlan Written and Amended
27/08/2019 All Helen Dugdale Amended
30/08/2019 All Phillip Kemp Contract perspective
06/08/2019 All Helen Dugdale and  Gillian McLauchlan Amended
16/09/2019 All Comments from SCC DMG Amended 
21/09/2019 All Comments from Karen Proctor CCG Amended 
05/11/2019 All Service and Finance meeting Recommendations 

included in this report
20/11/2019 ALL Lead Member Briefing Recommendations
16/12/2019 All Christopher Conway Procurement comments 
18/12/2019 All Michelle Cowley Finance Comments 
19/12/2019 All Tony Hatton Legal Comments

Page 31



Section 1 Executive Summary                                                  
Purpose
Salford has the 6th highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater 
Manchester. This equates to 3,182 admissions per 100,000 residents aged 65+. Falls are a 
common and serious health issue for older people, with around a third of all people aged 65 
and over falling each year, increasing to half of those aged 80 and over. This leads to falls 
related emergency admissions and fragility fractures which are costly for health and care 
services.

This Enhanced Postural Stability business case aims to consolidate an existing service 
which commenced as part of the Integrated Care Programme for Older people. The current 
service is provided by Salford Community Leisure. It provides a 24 week Postural Stability 
course and an ongoing maintenance programme (known to service users as ‘Step up’) post 
the 24 weeks, some people go straight into maintenance. This service operates in line with 
International and national standards and guidance which recommend Sstrength and Balance 
exercise programmes as the optimum approach for the majority of older people living in the 
community with a low to moderate risk of falls. The evidence highlights that these services 
provide an effective method for both primary and secondary prevention of falls and non-
vertebral fractures in older people. 

The current funding comprises of £21,600 which is recurrently funded within the integrated 
fund and £160,000 which is ear marked as non-recurrent, though the availability of funding is 
recurrent.

Salford falls prevention services (Postural stability service and the SRFT community 
rehabilitation service) were discussed at Adults Advisory Board (AAB) on the 25th June 2019. 
The following recommendation was made:
“That the 24 week postural stability course and maintenance provided by Salford Community 
Leisure, continues to be funded. It is currently funded from the Community Assets budget 
and the pooled budget. It is suggested that the funding to provide Postural Stability in Salford 
is separated from the Community Assets bundle. The proposed capacity would be to match 
previous years (approx. 330 referrals). This will be levels prior to Transformation as the 
project had not delivered on expected levels due to pathway issue. 

At Service and Finance Group (SFG), this business case was discussed and 
recommendation to Adults Commissioning Committee (ACC) on the basis were assurances 
were given on grounds for continuation of SCL as provider, cost effectiveness and charging 
for transportation 

Those assurances have been sought and provided. In line with the AAB and SFG 
recommendations to ACC are: 

1. Agree the continuation of the Enhanced Postural Stability Service 
2. Agree to recurrently fund the service at current level in line with AAB recommendation.
3. Agree to retain SCL as provider on grounds of cost effectiveness and continuity of 

service. Assurance has been provided regarding Best Value and future tendering options 
including broader SCC commission’s with SCL.

4. Agree to a continuation of two years until March 2022 with a plus one years’ extension 
until March 2023. 

Page 32



5. The £21,600 is recurrently funded, therefore this business case is to agree the re-
currency of the £160,000 currently non recurrent, although the availability of the funding 
is re-current

Section 2 Strategic Context                ………                       …

2.1 Health and Service Need 

Falls are a frequent and serious occurrence in the older population. Falls in older people 
frequently result in fractures, contribute significantly to reducing older people’s capacity to 
live independently and are a demonstrable cause of early mortality. Whilst falls can result 
from a variety of different proximate causes, many are predictable and preventable. Risk 
factors for falls include dementia and confusion, reduced muscle strength, poor balance and 
stability, failing eyesight and the presence of trip hazards at home.

Falls and fragility fractures, and the fear of either of these eventualities, can have a huge 
impact on quality of life at any age, but the natural processes of ageing make the likelihood 
of a fall or fracture more likely after the age of 65.  In 2016, PHE estimated that ‘around 30% 
of people aged over 65 and 50% aged over 80 experience a fall each year. Fractures and 
hospitalisation occur in around 5% of community dwelling adults with a history of falls.’ 1

The impact of a fall cannot be underestimated and whilst many falls may never need medical 
treatment, and may not therefore be reported by the individual, the psychological effects can 
be significant, with people choosing to restrict their daily activities and social life because 
they don’t feel confident with their balance and may become risk averse especially with 
regard to physical activity.  This can lead to ongoing deterioration in motivation and loss of 
strength and balance which are vital to personal autonomy, functional independence and 
quality of life. 

Whilst mortality from falls is generally not a frequently occurring event, falls are the most 
common cause of death from injury in adults aged 65+.years. Hip fractures have also shown 
to be associated with a high mortality risk, of 9.4% at 30 days and 31.2% at 1 year and 
within the first year.2

Salford has the 6th highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater 
Manchester. In 2017/19, 1,154 Salford residents were admitted to hospital having sustained 
injuries due to a fall which is equivalent to 3,182 admissions per 100,000 residents aged 
65+. Admission rates have fluctuated falling significantly between 2014-15 and 2016-17 but 
have risen again to 2014 levels. Figures 2-5 highlight Salford’s hospital admission in 
comparison to other GM Authorities. 

In context the average cost of a Non elective admission in Trauma & Orthopaedic specialty 
is £4,859. So for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service to break even effect it would need 
to avoid 37 admissions 37 each year.

1 PHE 2016, Local health and care planning: menu of preventative interventions
2 PHE 2018, An ROI Tool: Assessment of Falls Prevention Programmes for Older People Living in the Community

Page 33



Admissions from Falls 

Figure 1: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 65-79 year olds across GM. 

Figure 2: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 65-79 year olds across GM

Figure 3: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 80+ year olds across GM

Page 34



Figure 4: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 80+ year olds across GM

Figure 5: Emergency admissions injuries due to falls 65+ (2016-19)

Figure 5 highlights the emergency admissions due to falls. Since 2016, the numbers have 
fluctuated, but from August 2018, there is evidence of a downward trajectory.  The number 
of falls in 2018/19 has significantly decreased compared to the previous year. This has been 
6.8% (-74) reduction compared to 2017/18 and a 7.1% (-77) reduction compared to 2015/16.  
Similarly the rate has significantly decreased; compared to 2017-18 there were 219 fewer 
65’s per 100,000 having a fall whilst compared to 2015-16 the number is 297.   

Mortality from Falls 

Mortality from accidental falls by age group, 3-year pooled are shown in the tables 1-3 
below. Salford’s female mortality rates above the England and Greater Manchester which 
follows the same trends on admissions. Whilst male mortality is below the Greater 
Manchester average: Figure 6 shows the mortality rates. 

Page 35



Figure 6: The Mortality Rate from accidental falls 2015-2017 for 65-74 and 75+ 

65-74 75+
0

50

100

150

200
England Greater Manchester Salford

Mortality Rate from Accidental Falls 2015 to 2017 for All Persons 
aged 65-74 and 75+

Source:ONS

Age Group

M
or

ta
lit

y 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00

In addition to admissions and mortality, fractured neck of femur also provides insight into the 
number of falls, see Table 1 below. 

Table 1: Fractured Neck of Femur 2018/19 Directly Standardised Rate per 100,000

SalfordPeriod Count Value
North West 

region England

2010/11 239 710 623 615
2011/12 222 655 633 612
2012/13 239 692 625 599
2013/14 282 821 631 614
2014/15 252 713 629 599
2015/16 241 678 618 589
2016/17 228 634 612 575
2017/18 258 714 617 578

         2018/19                                       256         704

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), 

Salford has a higher number of Fractured Neck of Femur compared to other areas in the 
North West and the England average. 

2.2 Evidence Base 

There is an extensive evidence base regarding falls which highlight the including:
 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people
 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and 

preventing further Falls

Page 36



 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the prevention 
and management of falls in adults, recommendation 15

 NICE Management of fracture neck of femur 
 Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources 2018 Quality Standard 

for Strength and Balance training programmes. See Appendix 1.
 Public Health England 2017 Falls and fracture consensus statement Supporting 

commissioning for prevention Falls 

The evidence base highlight Strength and Balance exercise programmes as the optimum 
approach to reducing falls risk and improving functional independence for people assessed 
as having a low to moderate risk of falling, based on a suitable assessment process. These 
programmes have been shown to provide an effective method for both primary and 
secondary prevention of falls and non-vertebral fractures in older people. A Multifactorial 
falls risk assessment and management has also been highlighted to be a cost-effective 
approach for identifying and managing high falls risk.   

Section 3 – Current service           
3.1 Context 

Salford’s Postural stability service has evolved over time learning from evaluation. It 
commenced in 2009 with three 12 week courses. The evaluation demonstrated positive 
effects whilst in the programme, but these were not maintained post the programme. To 
enhance this offer, a Step Up element was introduced as pilot programme which offered 
more challenging maintenance class. HAELO evaluated the Step Up programme and 
showed a reduction in hospital admissions in those who attended, which ceased after they 
stopped attending for a period of time. Due to the reduction in admissions, Step Up was 
rolled out across all neighbourhoods. 

In 2017, the Postural Stability offer was increased to 24 weeks in response to continual 
evaluation and evidence base. The evaluation showed that many people needed to repeat 
weeks 1-12 and others did not go on to attend Step Up. Evidence demonstrated that 
continuous adherence to exercise is associated with continued reduction in falls and 
associated hospital admissions. The current 24 week Postural Stability model coupled with 
the home exercise programme aligns with recommendations made by Sherrington et al 
(2011). In a meta-analysis it was highlighted that exercise programmes should comprise of a 
minimum of 50 hours delivered for two hours a week to be effective. 

3.2 Current service

The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is an integral part of Salford’s Falls pathway 
highlighted in Figure 7 below. This works alongside Acute, Community and Social Care 
services to ensure that patient receive timely and appropriate rehabilitation. This pathway 
aligns to the Enhanced Care Bundle and place based working. 

Page 37



Figure 7: Salford’s Falls pathway

The Falls Pathway for Salford is in line with evidenced based practice. Local professionals 
ask 3 key question which assess the persons falls risk, if the answer to any is yes to any of 
the questions the person is referred to Triage.  At Triage, people are referred to a high 
intensity option, with a home visit, a Multi-factorial Falls risk assessment and a high intensity 
intervention or to the low intensity intervention, postural stability and the maintenance 
programme or they are provided with information and advice if they have a very low falls risk

3.3 Enhanced Postural Stability Service

The service provides a community based Falls Prevention initiative delivered by Exercise 
Professional qualified as Postural Stability Instructors (Level 4 Register of Exercise 
Professionals- REPS). Clients who have fallen or are at risk of falls are referred to the 

Page 38



programme to support their rehabilitation in the community and to contribute to reduction in 
further admissions into long term residential care and acute care. This is the only service in 
Salford that provides Strength and Balance related exercise specifically to reduce falls.

The service provides a 24 week group based Postural Stability Programme once a week for 
1.5 hours to improve participant’s stability during standing, walking and other functional 
movement, strengthen the muscles around the hip, knee, and ankle and increase the 
flexibility of the trunk & lower limbs. This is followed by an optional ongoing maintenance 
class called “Step Up”, to improve clients’ balance, strength, stamina, functional capacity, 
and wellbeing. In addition the service seeks to address issues of social isolation by 
connecting individuals to other people and to assets within their community, using volunteers 
from the broader Age Well programme and wellbeing matters. 

Currently the Enhanced Postural Stability service have 15 classes running. The classes are 
held across the City at venues including leisure centres and community centres. The 
maintenance programme, “Step Up” provides an on-going semi-structured series of 
exercises that enable individuals to continually improve their balance, strength and 
confidence. The service assesses clients ‘optimal’ postural strength, confidence and social 
connectedness prior to discharge and provide a managed transition from the service to 
ensure the maintenance of the gains secured through the service. Participants are 
encouraged to access the Active Lifestyle Programme, Healthy Hips and Hearts sessions 
and other community based exercise provision.

3.4 Provider 

The current provider is Salford Community Leisure (SCL).

3.5 Commissioner

The service is commissioned by Salford City Council (SCC). This service was originally 
commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) as part of the Older Persons 
fund and managed through SCC integrated commissioning team. As the service expanded 
with additional monies from the Community Assets Programme led by Salford City Council 
and the Greater Manchester Transformation Fund. In 2018, the performance monitoring was 
transferred from integrated commissioning to Public Health. 

In 2018, the service specification was revised and was added as an additional schedule in 
the Salford City Council contract with Salford Community Leisure. This specification meets 
the GM Falls Quality Standards for Strength and Balance Training Programmes, see 
Appendix 1. 

3.6 Performance

The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is meeting current level of demand and is 
performing well. In 2018/19, the service noted an increase in higher need clients being 
referred in. The nature of running a 24 week course means that it does not fit neatly into 
financial years or quarters for reporting, therefore, 2 year averages are used to highlight 
performance. All accepted referrals had fallen or were at risk at falling, but have no medical 
conditions which contraindicate them taking part. Table 2 highlights the current referrals. 

Page 39



Table 2: Current referrals for Postural Stability 

Year Actual Postural Stability referrals

2017/18 330

2018/19 326

1st April 2018- March 31st 2019

 10, 24 week Postural stability courses were started and completed.
 8 Step Up maintenance classes were running throughout the year.
 326 referrals 
 168 Actively engaged with service (52%). 
 134 were waiting for the next course.
 71% engagement.
 72% average retention rate week 1-12. 68% average retention rate week 12-24.
 196 clients completed 24 weeks of activity with another 111 still on active programmes. 
 Completions 61% - this is below 2017/18 71.6% due to issues in the triage pathway. 
 Change to Clients fitness baseline, 2018-2019 show lower baseline fitness. 
 81% clients showed improvements in their functional mobility from week 1 to 24.
 87 clients assigned to Step Up from April 2018 - March 2019 of which 41% completed at 

least 12 sessions.
 100% client satisfaction.
 74% stated they had a Reduction in fear of falling.

3.7 Outcomes

The following tables detail the average annual assessment outcomes used within the 
service. Table 3 shows the scored improvement for each assessment at each point 
throughout the course.

Table 3: Assessment outcomes scored at different weeks.
Week 1-12 Week  12-24 Week1-24

180 degree turn 1 less step Maintained 1 less step
TuG DT 6 seconds faster Maintained 6 seconds faster

30 second chair stand 2 additional 
stands

1 additional 
stand

3 additional 
stands

4 Stage Balance Half stage 
improvement Same 1 stage 

improvement

Outcomes achieved was there is a noticeable improvement from week 1 to 12. 
Improvements are made within week 12 to 24 in addition to 1-12 week improvements 
generally maintained. Maintenance programmes are advocated at week 24, as the evidence 

Page 40



suggests stopping activity or dropping out notes a decline in physiological status. The data 
shows that 39% of participants have a further improvement at week 52 and 83% 
improved/maintained as the exercise becomes more regular. 

3.8 Client reported outcomes

Alongside the physiological benefits, the programme also demonstrate psychological 
benefits as noted in table 4

Table 4
Performance 

Indicator Indicator Threshold
Measured 
Outcomes

Client Satisfaction 
results will be 
reported twice yearly 

Reporting of audit results 
to commissioners

Minimum 10% of 
patients surveyed 
per course

100%
All clients 
complete 

questionnaire 
at week 24.

Client reported confidence 
in managing health from 
baseline

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

         75% 

Enhanced ability in 
managing activities of 
daily living

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

72%

Reduction in Fear of 
Falling Scale (1-5)

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

74%

Improvement in 
Independence Scale (1-5)

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

81%

User outcomes – for 
Postural Stability  and 
maintenance 

Self-report increase in 
happiness as a result of 
the impact of the service

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

90%

Physical activity level – 
PS and maintenance
Both streams

Increase in physical 
activity levels from 
baseline at end of cycle

70-100% (green)
50 – 69% (amber)
<50% (red)

80%

100% of clients reported that they felt they had benefitted from attending the classes. The 
most commonly occurring reported benefits included feeling more mobile, improved walking, 
feeling more confident, improved balance, having a more positive outlook, standing with less 
support, and feeling better able to get around. 74% of participants reported on having a 
reduced fear of falling. 

Page 41



3.9 Step Up
 
Step Up is a more advanced maintenance class. Clients on the 24 week Postural Stability 
course are assessed at Week 1, 12 & 24. At this assessment the instructors can move 
clients up to Step Up based on their scores. Table 5 details the numbers for Step Up and at 
what point the clients were moved. 

Table 5: Step up numbers

Transfer to Step Up Points Attended Step 
up Sessions

Offered 
Step Up Week 

1
Week 

12
Week 

24
Week 

36
Week 
48

Step Up %
 48% 30% 20% 36% 10% 5% 71%

3.10 Demographics of referrals 

3.11 Participants
The service continues to achieve 100% attendee satisfaction. Below are a selection of 
comments the service has received. 

 “My balance has improved immensely” 
“Strengthened muscles which helps my osteoarthritis”;

“Enjoy the exercise and making new friends”.
“Loved every minute of being with the group”; 

“I couldn’t walk before- just shows what you can do!”
The class is the highlight of my husband’s week”.

“I carry my stick in and out of the class now it’s marvellous”.
“It's very nice, nice people. Done my legs a lot better. Really enjoyed it”

Page 42



3.12 Costs for Enhanced Postural Stability Service

Table 6 below highlights the financial envelope

Service and finance group sought assurances on * Step up contributions. Service Users pay 
a contribution towards attending the Step Up classes, this pays towards transport costs to 
and from the venues. 100% of the contribution is used to cover Transport arrangements. As 
the legal Contract Holder is Salford City Council, legal services have confirmed charging is 
possible.  

3.13 Current Financial profile 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020

Fund Expected Annual Contract Value

Integrated fund £21,600 recurrent investment

Part of the Community Assets 
bundle – integrated fund 

£160,000  non recurrent through availability of 
funding recurrent  

Total investment £ 181,600

Item Description Total

Staffing Total Pay  £77,440.57
Total non-staff costs   £114,290.00

Overheads 5 % total costs £9586.53

Income to deduct Step up 
Contributions *

£19,717.10

Total Cost per Annum £181,600

Page 43



        Section 4- Options 

Purpose

Three options were considered against the benefits criteria of cash releasing, non-cash 
releasing and wider impact on communities. 

Option 1 – Cease and terminate Service 

Option 1 would cease the Enhanced Postural Stability Service on the 31st March 2020 and 
use the monies elsewhere in the health and care system. 

Risks
1. There will be no Falls Prevention Strength and Balance provision offered in Salford. This 

would produce a gap in the integrated current Falls pathway for people with low and 
moderate risk of falls. 

2. The Intermediate Care team (Triage) and Primary Care would not have referral route for 
people low and moderate risk of fallers. The assumption would be that these people 
would remain with the intermediate care team therefore increasing waiting times or 
maintained in primary care.
 

3. Having no service for low and medium risk fallers, the evidence suggests people would 
become higher risk in a shorten time therefore adding pressure to the intermediate care 
team in secondary care.
  

4. Salford has the 6th highest rates of falls in England. If no service existed for low and 
medium risk of falls, these rates are likely to increase and associated costs to health and 
social care system.  

5. After a fall, individuals often develop a fear falling which leads to them restricting their 
physical movement, reducing their willingness to leave the house to socialise and carry 
out daily tasks. This results in loneliness and social isolation, a further increased risk of 
falling, as well as a loss of fitness and slower recovery from future falls. As a 
consequence some people will be unable to living independently. These consequences 
will have cost implications. 

6. The expectation would be over time there would be an increase in presentations to A&E 
and Falls admissions and associated costs post discharge, residential care and care 
packages at home.

Benefit 

There will be no benefits other than immediate cash releasing to Option 1. Evidence 
suggests this cash releasing will be short term as over time presentations to A&E and Falls 
admissions and associated costs post discharge are likely to increase as will the number of 
people going into residential care and receiving care packages at home.

Page 44



 
Option 2 – Recurrently fund a 24 week course at current levels (pre GM transformation 
funding levels) in line with AAB recommendations. On grounds of continuity of 
service and cost effectiveness, recommend waiver to continue with existing provider 
SCL. 

Option 2 would be to recurrently fund a 24 week enhanced postural course with a financial 
envelop of £181,000. The current service specification with the addition of direct referral from 
primary care into the service will be used. On the grounds of cost effectiveness and 
continuity of service, there will be a waiver not to re-tender and retain SCL as provider. 

Benefits:  
1. The service specification complies with national falls related strategies and Quality 

standards including NICE. It also complies with recommendations in the Greater 
Manchester Falls and Fracture prevention Resources Quality Standard for Strength 
and Balance training programmes. 

2. Evidence suggests potential non cash releasing due to: Reduction in Residential 
Care Admissions (weeks), Reduction  NEL admissions, Reduction in  A&E 
attendances, Reduction in Outpatient Attendances, Reduction in Fractures, 
Reduction in Ambulance calls & Ambulance conveyances, Improved Quality of Life 
(Falls Attendance), Improved Quality of Life (Falls Admission), Improved QOL (Falls 
fracture) and improved well-being of individuals. 

3. This service is already part of the existing integrated falls pathway, therefore, no new 
systems need to be developed.

Risks 

There will be no immediate cash releasing savings. However as mentioned earlier in context 
the average cost of a non-elective admission in Trauma & Orthopaedic specialty is £4,859. 
So for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service to break even effect it would need to avoid 37 
admissions each year.

Rationale for SCL as Provider

Service and Finance group sought assurance of cost effectiveness and continuity of service 
of recommending waiver not to re-tender service. The rationale is as follows:   

1. A review of comparative services was undertaken focusing on the cost equity and 
effectiveness of the service to ensure that it is costed within accurate financial 
envelope. 

2. Salford City Council procurement and legal have indicated that services being 
delivered through SCL are subsidised through the wider partnership 
agreement/programme the Council has with SCL and that robust delivery 
mechanisms are in place. 

3. It is further understood that if the programme were to be commissioned outside of the 
current Partnership Agreement then there is the potential that the contract costs 
could increase.

Page 45



4. The review of comparative services highlighted that the service uses a specialist 
workforce. The current provider have trained and developed staff. 

5. There is a clear benefit to be gained from maintaining continuity with using the 
existing provider SCL. The benefits of such continuity does outweigh any potential 
financial advantage to be gained by competitive tendering. 

6. Using the existing provider SCL means there will be no disruption to service and/or 
ramp up costs of a new provider. No additional funds are sought. The business case 
was calculated on the basis of the current capacity of 360 referrals per year, 
assuming that the demand for the service will remain the same as for the previous 
two years. Plus 8 Step Up classes running across the City throughout the year. 

7. The timescale genuinely precludes competitive tendering. 

8. As the current contract holder is Salford City Council, the recommendation from 
Salford City Council procurement, financial and legal teams that an additional 
schedule will be written in the City Council’s SCL wider partnership agreement. 

9. It is recommended that the contract will be for two years with an end date will be 31st 
March 2022. There will be a plus one year’s extension clause providing an end date 
of the 31st March 2023. The City Council’s SCL wider partnership agreement has 
end date of 31dt March 2025.

Option 3 – Recurrently fund as per AAB recommendations but retender after 12 
months 

Risks

1. Instability of current pathway. 
2. Market engagement and retender will need to commence early 2020 therefore need 

to ensure workforce capacity is available to support.  
3. Pathway has undergone several changes in recent years therefore this would 

distribute again leading to outcomes not released.  
4. A new pathway has been tested as a test of change model from Transformation 

funding for the falls pathway. 

Benefits

Option 2 would have the same benefits as Option 3.

Section 4 Recommended Option             ………………………                                                        
The recommended option is: 
Option 2 to recurrently fund the service at current level in line with AAB recommendation. 
Recurrently funded for two years until March 2022 plus a year’s extension until March 2023, 
as recommended by SCC procurement. The £21,600 is recurrently funded, therefore this 
business case is to agree the re-currency of the £160,000 currently non recurrent, although 

Page 46



the availability of the funding is re-current. Retain the current provider for continuity service, 
cost effectiveness and timescale precludes competitive tendering. Additional details on the 
service are outlined in Appendix 2. 

Section 5 
Financial, procurement and legal comments on option 2 

5.1 Legal Implications

Contact officer and telephone number: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel: 0161 219 6323.

When commissioning contracts for the provision of goods, services or the execution of 
works, the Council must comply with the provisions of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
(PCR), which require that contracting authorities treat any candidates equally and in a non-
discriminatory way and act in a transparent manner. In addition, the Council is required to 
comply with the requirements of its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s) as set out in 
its Constitution, failing which the award of a contract may be subject to legal challenge.

It is an established principle that an existing public contract is capable of being extended (or 
modified providing any modification does not affect the overall nature of the contract), and 
CSO’s also allow for contract extensions to be made, where the parties agree and where the 
original contract makes provision for such an extension of the original term. Approval was 
given in 2018 for the Council’s contract with SCL to be extended and varied until 2025.

When the contract was originally put out to tender by way of a fully compliant OJEU process, 
and subsequently awarded to SCL, it was made clear in the documentation that the original 
16 year term would be subject to a potential extension of up to five years, hence any risk that 
the proposed extension would be subject to realistic challenge by an aggrieved provider, on 
the basis that it ought to have been put out to tender and advertised in accordance with 
public contract regulations and CSO’s, was extremely low, and the option to extend within 
the contract was being properly exercised.

The possibility of extending, modifying and making variations to existing contracts has been 
codified into the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, such that changes which are deemed to 
be “not substantial” may be modified without a new procurement procedure where additional 
works, services or supplies by the original provider have become necessary and were not 
included in the initial procurement, where a change of provider:
▪ cannot be made for economic/technical reasons; and
▪ a change of provider would cause significant inconvenience or substantial duplication of 
costs for the Council
…provided that any price increase is not higher than 50% of the original value.
 
In accordance with Option 2 in the report, the extension of the Agreement with SCL with 
proven ability to meet the requirements of the service and service users would be argued to 
be more cost effective and efficient under the circumstances, in addition to the provision of 
continuity of support to the relevant population groups and members of the community.

Page 47



The Council is also under a best value duty to carry out its functions economically, efficiently 
and effectively with the objective to achieve value for money in all public procurement, and is 
satisfied that the extension with SCL will continue to demonstrate that value, as well as the 
health and wellbeing outcomes referred to in the report.
Date provided: 19th December 2019.

Financial Implications 

Contact officer and telephone number: Michelle Cowley, Interim Finance Manager, tel: 0161 
793 2520.

The proposal is to extend the current Enhanced Postural Stability Service for two years at 
the current funding level and to maintain the existing provider on grounds of continuity of 
pathway.

The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is currently funded through the Community Assets 
Bundle – Integrated Fund. The funding comprises: 

 £21,600 which is recurrently funded 
 £160,000 which is ear marked as non-recurrent, though the availability of funding is 

recurrent.

The preferred option would be delivering a 24 week course under the present provider 
arrangements. Funding will be at 2017 levels, for two years until March 2022 plus a possible 
extension for one until March 2023, as recommended by SCC procurement. 

The funding for the continuation of this service is available in the Integrated Fund - 
approval is subject to agreement through the Integrated Fund Governance structures.

Date provided: 18th Dec 2019.

Procurement Implications 

Submitted by: Christopher Conway, Procurement Category Manager, tel. 0161 686 6248

The current Partnership agreement that SCC has with SCL includes a number of contracts 
that SCC has commissioned through the partnership agreement. SCC are currently 
undertaking a review of all services being delivered through the partnership agreement with 
its partner SCL with the view of scheduling in a retender exercise for all contracted services 
currently being delivered through the Partnership Agreement, it is envisaged that any future 
retendering may also include Services currently being delivered and Commissioned by the 
CCG in the spirit of aligning and agreeing on one contract management where pooled 
budget arrangements have been identified.
   
Date Provided: 16th December 2019.

Page 48



Appendix 1: Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources - Quality 
Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes. 

This document has been developed in collaboration with colleagues, practitioners and 
clinicians working across health and social care systems in Greater Manchester during 
2018. It is part of a collection that brings together written resources, guidance, information 
and standards designed to improve awareness of best practice in falls and fracture 
prevention and management, and enable Greater Manchester’s health and social care 
systems, patients, service users and carers to work together to improve practices and 
provision that will help to reduce the rate of falls, in particular falls which are severe 
enough to result in a hospital admission (with or without a fracture). 

Part of the agreed resources is a set of quality standards aimed at supporting effective, 
evidence and insight-led practice at some of the most influential points of care or self-care, 
in settings, services and population groups. Focusing effort on systematic identification and 
high-quality intervention in these areas is likely to significantly reduce the incidence of falls 
and/or the risk of serious injury. 

Colleagues are recommended to work towards implementing the quality standards in their 
locality or setting, to help to ensure that residents and patients across Greater Manchester 
receive the same standards of care and support, which also increases the likelihood of 
more falls and fractures being prevented. 

Strength and balance training programmes are widely considered to be the optimal approach 
to reducing falls risk and improving functional independence for people assessed as having 
a low to moderate risk of falling, based on a suitable assessment process (see the quality 
standard for identifying falls risk in primary care). 

A low to moderate risk of falling can generally be assumed if older adults report or are 
observed to be experiencing problems with walking or movement, balance or steadiness, 
muscle strength or some typical activities of daily living such as heavy housework. Someone 
with a low to moderate risk of falling may not have experienced a fall, but they may report, or 
be observed to experience problems with or reduced confidence with walking or movement, 
balance or steadiness, or muscle strength. 

However, strength and balance training is also considered one of the more effective 
elements of a multi-factorial (multi-component) falls intervention. Multi-factorial falls 
assessment and intervention is recommended for people who are assessed as having a high 
risk of falling e.g. people who report recurrent falls in the past, or who have presented for 
medical attention associated with a fall, or who have clearly observable balance or gait 
problems. 

Strength and balance training is therefore suitable and recommended for people who are 
assessed as having low, moderate and high falls risk, but for people with a high risk of falling 
it should form part of a wider assessment and range of interventions. NICE suggests that the 
individuals most likely to benefit from strength and balance training are older community-
dwelling people with a history of recurrent falls and/or balance and gait deficit. Effective 
strength and balance training programmes have the following characteristics, which should 
be commissioned and delivered as standard:  

Page 49



1. The instructors delivering a strength and balance programme should be trained to 
Postural Stability Specialist Instruction (PSI) Level 4 or Otago Level 3 and have an 
accredited qualification, with a view to receiving ongoing training and/or continuing 
professional development (CPD) 

2. The strength and balance programmes delivered in practice should be tailored to the 
needs of the participating individuals or groups but should be consistently based on the 7 
evidence- based activity components of the Falls Management Exercise (FaME) programme 
below, or in the case of the Otago home exercise programme the 4 components indicated by 
a * 

These are: 
i i. Dynamic endurance training * 
ii ii. Dynamic balance training * 
iii iii. Resistance/strength training * 
iv iv. Skills to rise from the floor 
v v. Floor coping strategies and targeted strength 
vi vi. Flexibility * 
vii vii. Adapted Tai Chi 

3. Whether for individuals or groups, programmes should involve highly challenging balance 
training and progressive strength training, which is tailored to the needs of the individual or 
group. 

4. Group strength and balance programmes should comprise a minimum of 50 hours or 
more, delivered at least once, but ideally twice weekly for between 45 – 75 minutes. The 
programme should last for at least 6 months. 12 participants is viewed as the optimal group 
size. 

5. While there is evidence that outdoor walking has numerous health benefits for older 
adults, it should not be included in strength and balance programmes for participants 
assessed as or considered to be at high risk of falling, as this may result in further falls. 

6. At the end of the programme, older adults should be assessed and provided with a written 
personalised plan, tailored to their individual needs and which is designed to encourage and 
support the maintenance of the gains in strength and balance they have made whilst on the 
programme. 

This could include follow-on classes and home-based exercises but must focus on strength 
and balance and supporting progression.

Page 50



Appendix 2 Enhanced Postural Stability service 

Strategic alignment

SCC and CGG strategic aims are to keep people as well and independent as possible. This 
aim is at the core of the Enhanced Postural Stability service. The service aligns with the 
recommendations in the Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture prevention Resources 
Quality Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes. 

National falls related strategies and Quality Standards include:
 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people
 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and 

preventing further Falls
 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the prevention 

and management of falls in adults, recommendation 15
 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines
 Osteoarthritis Guidelines

Key Partners

Key partners are: 
Falls Clinic – SRFT outpatients, Falls Prevention Service – SRFT community, Intermediate 
Care Services (Triage), Primary Care (GP), Community Mental Health, District Nursing, 
Health and Wellbeing services, Third Sector, Housing and Involvement in wider falls system 
developments

Inclusion Criteria 

The service is available to adults, 18 years and over, who are Salford residents or registered 
with a Salford GP. Access to the service is via Triage (Intermediate Care Team), or directly 
from GP’s, other sources of access may be looked at if adequate numbers are not referred. 
The service will check the medical status of the individual to ensure the individual can safely 
undertake the course or postural exercise. This check will be requested from the individual’s 
GP or at Triage and made against the agreed exclusion criteria. 

Exclusion criteria

The service is not able to provide for people whose primary need is for acute medical care or 
acute specialist mental health care.  The service is unable to meet long term, continuing 
health or social care needs. The service is not available to people who live outside Salford 
who are not registered with a Salford GP or people under the age of 18.Referrals will be 
rejected under the following contraindications for exercise:

 Unstable angina/ angina at rest
 Blood Pressure higher than 180mmHg systolic/100mmHg diastolic
 Blood pressure drop more than 20mmHg demonstrated during ETT  (if applicable)
 Resting tachycardia more than 100bpm
 Uncontrolled atrial or ventricular arrhythmias
 Unstable or acute heart failure

Page 51



 Unstable diabetes
 Febrile illness
 Clinically Unstable

Outcomes 

Direct Outcomes
 Prevention of falls
 Increased stability
 Increased strength
 Increased functionality
 Increase physical activity levels
 Increase in social connectedness
 Increase self-reported wellbeing

Indirect Outcomes
 Prevention of avoidable admissions to residential care
 Reduce reliance on home care
 Facilitation of timely discharge
 Reduction in A&E attendances 
 Reduction in residential care admissions 
 Maintain people in their own place of residence with ongoing minimal care package 

and reduced dependency on significant packages of care at the end of intermediate 
care input.

 Optimise independence through rehabilitation and recuperation. 
 Reduce risk of hospital admissions
 Reduction in fractures
 Ambulance calls and conveyances
 Enable individuals to manage their long term conditions

Team and Service 

Salford Community Leisure Falls team provide the Enhanced Postural Stability service and 
are based at the HellyHanson Watersports centre, however the Enhanced Postural Stability 
Service is delivered across the City in venue’s including: Beesley Green Community centre – 
Worsley/Boothstown, Worsley Leisure Centre – Walkden, Rainbow Rooms Community 
Centre –Eccles, Guild Hall Community Centre – Walkden; St Lukes Church – Langworthy; 
Holy Angels Church – Claremont; Valley community Centre – Swinton; Salford Sports 
Village – East Salford and Wardley Community Centre – Swinton

Technology and / or equipment 
For data recording Refer All is used. It was specifically designed to support strength and 
balance courses. 

Scope

In addition to SCL staff running the sessions, volunteers attend funded by the Community 
Assets programme to link people in to other activities in their local area and support their 

Page 52



broader health and wellbeing needs. This service is currently being reviewed alongside a 
social prescribing offer for the city. 

Stakeholders

The Intermediate Care Service (Triage) refer patients in to SCL’s service. The main referrer 
into triage and therefore Postural Stability and Step Up is Primary Care. Some people do self 
refer but must obtain GP consent prior to attendance to ensure there are no medical 
contraindications. The Community Mental Health, District Nursing, Social Care and other 
Health and Wellbeing services including the VCSE Sector also refer people into triage to be 
referred to the Enhanced Postural Stability Service. 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

Adult Commissioning Committee 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 8

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

08 January 2020 

Report of: Lauren Fairey

Date of Paper: 20 December 2020

Subject: Extra Care – Care Service Specification

In case of query 
Please contact:

Lauren Fairey 
Service Improvement Manager
lauren.fairey@nhs.net
0161 212 5643

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   

This paper is to be read in conjunction with the Extra Care – Care Service Specification 
(Appendix 1).

The paper provides the Adult Commissioning Committee with information about Extra Care 
in Salford, the aims of the service specification and points for consideration. 

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to review and approve the Extra Care – Care 
Service Specification in conjunction with this paper.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8

mailto:lauren.fairey@nhs.net


 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

See section 6 of paper and specification aims 
which will benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

N/A

WHAT EQUALITY RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

See Community Impact Assessment Screening 
Form 

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

Supports the procurement of the Extra Care – 
Care contracts. 

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Adult Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 56



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Health Watch Care and Extra Care 
Housing Enter and View visits, June – 
October 2018 Programme report. 

The report and 
recommendations have been 
shared with the current care 
provider and the Landlord. 
They have both responded to 
the recommendations. 
The care provider 
recommendations have been 
considered and reflected in 
the updated specification 
under ‘Designing what 
matters to Salford people – 
experience based co-design’ 
heading.

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Attended a District Nurses manger 
meeting 04/04/19 to discuss Extra 
Care 

Visited the Walkden & Little Hulton 
(17/04/19) and Irlam (30/04/19) 
Advance Social Work Practitioners

Comments from team have 
been considered and 
reflected in the specification. 
The draft Service 
specification has been sent to 
the team for comment.

Comments from the Social 
Work Practitioners have been 
considered and reflected in 
the specification. The draft 

P
age 57



  

Adult Social Care has been attending 
the Extra Care Project Groups which 
have been meeting monthly since 
January 2019. 

Service specification has 
been sent to the team for 
comment.
Their views have been 
considered and reflected in 
the specification. The draft 
Service specification has 
been sent to the team for 
comment.

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?

 Reflected in the Service Specification See Service Specification

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

 Community Impact Assessment Completed and sent to 
Equalities & Cohesion Team 
for approval. See appendix 
two.

Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 Adult Advisory Board 22/10/19

Integrated Care Organisation Adult 
Social Care Commissioning Board 
25/10/19

Lead Member 20/11/19

Adult Advisory Board asked 
to review and provide any 
recommendations. No 
recommendations provided.

Presented at Adult Social 
Care Commissioning Board 
for update.

Cllr Reynolds requested that 
care workers be paid the real 

P
age 58



  

Service & Finance 07/01/20

Adult Commissioning Committee 
08/01/19

living wage as part of the 
procurement process. This is 
being considered alongside 
the development of the 
budget and will be presented 
at Service & Finance for 
approval 07/01/20. 

Specification will be shared 
with Services & Finance for 
information

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 59



Extra Care – Care Service Specification

1. Executive Summary

The contracts for the provision of care across the six Extra Care Schemes have ended or 
are coming to an end with an agreed contract extension ending on 30 September 2020. To 
support with the procurement process the Integrated Commissioning Team in partnership 
with key stakeholders have developed a new Extra Care – Care service specification for 
Salford Care Organisation, who manage the contract. 

The report provides the Adult Commissioning Committee with information about how the 
specification has been developed, points for consideration and what the next steps are. 

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to review and approve the Extra Care – Care 
Service Specification in conjunction with this paper.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Extra Care Housing provides self-contained effective accommodation solutions with 
access to 24/7 on-site homecare and on-site landlord services. Enabling residents to 
access Care Quality Commission (CQC) regulated homecare, providing residents 
with independence needs as stated in the Care Act a ‘home for life’.

2.2 In Salford there are six Extra Care schemes. In each of the schemes the Landlord 
and the Care Provider work together to support the tenants living in the schemes. 

2.3 Extra Care in Salford is accessed through an Adult Social Care Assessment. People 
that are assessed as eligible for Extra Care will be added to a waiting list depending 
which scheme they would like to access. Extra Care referrals are then discussed at a 
monthly panel. Members of the panel include adult social care, the care and support 
provider and the schemes landlords. The panel ensures that the care mix within the 
schemes remains as vibrant and diverse as possible. People accepted for Extra Care 
schemes by the panel will then be supported by adult social care, the care and 
support provider and the landlord to settle into their tenancy.

2.4 Comfort Call is the current care provider of care in five of the Extra Care schemes. 
SageCare is the current care provider for one of the Extra Care schemes. SageCare 
is in the same umbrella company (City & County Healthcare) as Comfort Call 
therefore technically there is one care provider across the six schemes.

2.5 Salford Care Organisation manages the six Extra Care - Care contracts. 

2.6 Comfort Call’s five contracts expired on 1st September 2019 and Sage Care’s contract 
is due to expire January 2020. Salford Care Organisations have extended all six 
contracts to 30th September 2020 to allow time for a robust procurement exercise to 
take place.

Page 60



2.7 The Extra Care - Care Service Specification has been developed to support Salford 
Care Organisation with the procurement process. 

3. Strategic Context

3.1 Extra Care is recognised as a good care option for vulnerable people and an 
alternative to Residential Care. There is a developing and strong evidence base for 
the benefits of Extra Care.

3.2 The strategic Extra Care Position Statement 2018 set out the Council’s and CCG’s 
strategic intention to grow the Extra Care market in Salford. The paper identified a 
growth level of between 700-1000 units up to 2035 and a current shortfall of about 
100 units.

3.3 An Extra Care Strategic Development Report was taken to Integrated Care Advisory 
Board (ICAB) in April 2019 to provide an up to date position together with risk 
analysis of the key areas for Extra Care scale-up.

3.4 An Arrow Street – Briefing October 2019, provides an update on the development of 
the proposed Arrow Street Extra Care Scheme in Lower Broughton.  

3.5 To support with the ‘scaling-up’ of Extra Care in Salford the Extra Care – Care 
Service Specification has been developed to reflect the direction of travel for Extra 
Care in Salford. The specification has been designed to ensure that it is future proof. 
Therefore, it can be used in the procurement process for the current 6 schemes, and 
easily transferred when new Extra Care schemes are built in Salford. 

4. Extra Care Schemes in Salford

4.1 There are currently six Extra Care schemes in Salford. Three of the older schemes 
are converted sheltered housing and three of the newer schemes are purpose built 
for Extra Care. There are 313 units across the six schemes this includes a mix of 
single and double units.

4.2 The table below provides information about the Extra Care schemes, including the 
landlord, current care provider, location, desired occupancy against the High, Medium 
and Low model, and actual occupancy as of September 2019.

Page 61



 

Table 1: Extra Care Schemes in Salford
Extra 
Care 

Scheme
No. 

Units
Scheme 

Type Landlord
Current 

care 
provider

Level of 
Need

Desired 
Activity

Actual 
Activity*

Neighbour
hood

High 28 25
Medium 20 31Amblecot

e Gardens 66 Purpose 
built ForHousing Comfort 

Call Low 18 14

Walkden & 
Little Hulton

High 22 15
Medium 17 26Astley 

Court 57
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

ForHousing Comfort 
Call Low 17 14

Eccles & 
Irlam

High 20 19
Medium 18 16Bourke 

Gardens 56 Purpose 
Built ForHousing Sage 

Care** Low 18 24

Walden & 
Little Hulton

High 20 20
Medium 15 23Monica 

Court 47
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

ForHousing Comfort 
Call Low 15 5

Eccles & 
Irlam

High 20 17
Medium 15 21Moores 

House 50 Purpose 
Built Retail Trust Comfort 

Call Low 15 17

Ordsall & 
Claremont

High 15 11
Medium 12 15

Mount 
Carmel 
Court

38
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

Mosscare 
St Vincent’s

Comfort 
Call

Low 11 12
Ordsall & 
Claremont

*Actual activity as of 09/12/19
**Sage Care is under the same umbrella company as Comfort Call – City & County Healthcare

5. Engagement 

5.1 The specification has been developed following extensive engagement across the 
Salford system.  

5.2 Healthwatch was commissioned to conduct a Care and Extra Care Housing Enter 
and View, June – October 2018. Healthwatch visited all six schemes speaking with 
tenants, their carers, housing and care staff. The outputs from the Enter and View 
were pulled into a report with recommendations. The outputs and recommendations 
have been considered and reflected in the new Extra Care – Care Specification.  

5.3 A monthly Extra Care project group was set up in January 2019 with representation 
from the CCG, Council and Salford Care Organisation. The group discussed the 
development of a new Extra Care model, reviewed the current finances and oversaw 
the development the development of the Extra Care – Care Specification.

5.4 Informally met with Comfort Call and the landlords of the schemes to understand what 
is working well and what could be improved. Feedback from this has been worked 
into the specification. 

5.5 Met with key stakeholders across health and social care to discuss current Extra Care 
provision and how this can be improved. Comments from this discussion have been 
reflected in the Extra Care – Care Specification. The draft Extra Care – Care Service 

Page 62



Specification has been shared with the health and social care stakeholders for 
comment.  

6. Specification Aims

6.1 The Extra Care - Care Specification has been developed with an aim to reflect and 
promote the below, please note this is not an exhaustive list. 

 Personalisation – Personal Budgets and Direct Payment
 Strengths Based Approaches – Outcome Focussed
 Enablement
 Prevention
 Wellbeing
 Quality and Value for Money
 Flexible model of care that can be stepped up and down to meet the short 

term and/or long term care and support needs of the people living in Extra 
Care

 Partnership working
 New Models of Health & Social Care for Salford
 Neighbourhood working and Social Value
 Extra Care is part of the Salford Health and Social Care pathway in Salford

7. Recommended Model

7.1 Commissioners are recommending that Salford Care Organisation develop a service 
and finance model for the Extra Care – Care Service that best supports the key aims 
of the specification.

7.2 Commissioners are also recommending that SCO take the opportunity of this new 
specification and tender process to further apply the development of their Strength 
Based approaches in the provision of Extra Care service.

8. Next Steps

8.1 The next steps are:

 Take the Extra Care – Care Service Specification through the formal 
governance structure for formal sign off;

 Hand the Extra Care – Care Service Specification over to Salford Care 
Organisation for the procurement process

9. Recommendations

9.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Note the contents of the paper 

Page 63



And

 Review and approve the Extra Care – Care Service Specification to ensure it 
meets the specification aims described in section 6 of this paper. 

Lauren Fairey 
Service Improvement Manager

Page 64



Section One – Introduction and Key Principles

Introduction – Salford Health and Social Care Strategic Context

Integrated Health and Social Care – A modern and transformational system  

Salford is at the forefront of health and social care integration.

Over many years strong foundations of trust and understanding have been built between Salford City 
Council, local NHS organisations and service providers. This shared history means that a culture of joint 
working from our political leaders to our front-line workers has developed. 

Our objectives are to:

 deliver better outcomes for residents through strengths and place based approaches
 improve their experience and satisfaction with the support offer (which can help people increase and 

maintain their independence); and 
 ensuring an efficient use of health and social care resources

Salford was one of the first areas of England to create an Integrated Care Organisation (ICO) for adults 
across Health and Social Care (2016), with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) as both the prime 
provider of health and social care in Salford, and the supply chain manager for a range of health and social 
care contracts with third party service providers.  

This integration has seen a transfer of the majority of Salford City Council’s Adult Social Care service to 
SRFT-ICO, resulting in a shift in emphasis from treatment in hospital, to prevention, reduction and delay of 
health and social care needs. More will be done in local communities to help people keep well with 
recognition that when they do need care and support, the experience will be as seamless, efficient and 
effective as possible, helping the individual to remain independent and self-managing as much as they can. 

Social Value in Salford

Salford City Council is continuing to make a difference for Salford and its people. It aims to achieve the 
most social, environmental and economic value when council funds are spent to make the city a better 
place in which to live and work.  To make Salford a Social Value City, Salford City Council and its partners 
aim to maximise the benefit from all money invested in Salford. All organisations should look for 
opportunities to increase social value – whether it’s core (direct wellbeing impacts of a service or a contract, 
e.g. apprenticeship schemes) or added (the value over and above the goods and services) such as social 
development, local employment, ethical purchasing, low energy use, low waste and emissions. Extra care 
providers are expected to demonstrate strong social value approaches in their work. 

Adult Social Care in Salford

Adult Social Care encourages and supports citizens to work through what is important to them to develop 
solutions that can prevent and/or support with challenges people are facing. Adult Social Care supports 
older people, adults with physical and sensory disabilities, adults with mental health problems, adults with 
dementia, adults with learning disabilities and carers, who have a need for care and support. 

Adult Social Care is an integral and vital part of the health and social care system, which seeks to put the 
person in control “Starting with the needs of the person themselves is the only way to put together 
help and support that will address their particular needs and identified outcomes.”

Page 65



 

2

Most people with care and support needs are well supported in communities by their informal carers, 
families, neighbours and a range of universal support. 

In some circumstances particularly where people with care and support needs become isolated, their needs 
can increase and additional support may be required. This can often be provided by making better use of 
universal or targeted support such as the voluntary sector, housing, neighbourhood management teams 
and health improvement teams.

Where the individual’s care and support needs remain unresolved additional support might be required. In 
these circumstances it might be necessary to seek advice and/or assessment from a Social Care 
Practitioner which will determine, through a person centered, strengths based assessment, the needs of an 
individual against nationally prescribed eligibility criteria (Care Act 2014). 

Social care assessment establishes eligibility for support and works with people to identify their strengths 
and needs, and to see how those needs can be best met by the individual, their carers and relatives, from 
within the community, or from support organised under Adult Social Care.

Adult Social Care has focused resources on person centred, asset and outcome based assessment 
methodology as part of our three key social care strategies:

 Building on community capacity and resilience - providing communities and individuals with 
support to live independently, using their personal and community assets 

 Getting a Life, Not a Service - supporting people to take control over their own lives and raising 
aspirations to self-determination and independence 

 Just Enough Support - caring for people with the right amount of support, at the right time and as 
close to their home as possible. 

Adult Social Care works closely with key partners including consulting with all adults and their carers across 
Salford. Partnership working ensures that Adult Social Care meet the needs of the local population. This 
has resulted in innovative assessment, support and care delivery services being developed to meet the 
challenges of a changing city.

"Improving the life chances of Salford citizens by promoting the independence of individuals and 
communities in Salford".

Adult Social Care is committed to enabling Service User choice and control through the use of Direct 
Payments and Self-directed Support in order to support people to live inclusive and valued lifestyles, 
according to their personal choice.

The context of the Extra Care Homecare and Enablement service 

Salford has a population of 249,000 (2016) with 36,000 people aged over 65, 2260 people over 65 living 
with dementia, 900 people with a moderate or severe learning disability (18-65 years), 36,357 people living 
with a mild to moderate common mental health problem, and 2,649 people living with a serious mental 
illness (SMI) and 3000 with a serious physical disability (18-65 years). Salford covers just over 8 square 
miles and is bounded by the local authority areas of Manchester, Bury, Bolton, Wigan, Warrington and 
Trafford.

With a growing older population and increases in the number of people with health problems, we will see an 
increase in levels of assessed care and support needs amongst our more vulnerable population groups and 
as a consequence changes in demand for services that support people to remain independent in their own 

Page 66



 

3

homes. Early intervention and the promotion of prevention and wellbeing can delay and in some cases 
prevent the need for formal care and support later down the line. 

Extra care housing enables people to continue to self-care and enjoy their independence – it offers 
solutions that help people to avoid the need for unplanned health and social care support.  Extra care offers 
people the opportunity to continue to live independently and have the same privacy they would have in any 
other kind of housing, but with access to onsite services and facilities that can help them to retain their 
independence.  Much depends on individual preferences and extra care is one of the choices available to 
people.  It is often a preferable choice to residential care and should be seen as a choice for life.

Extra care may also be an option to people who need support in an appropriate living environment to 
enable rehabilitation following a stay in hospital or period of ill health. Similarly it may be appropriate to 
consider extra care housing for a short respite break instead of residential or nursing care.

In short, living in an extra care environment supports people to take care of themselves for longer. Medical 
care and community nursing is available when required as it would be in ordinary housing.

Nationally, the ‘homecare’ market is recognised as being under significant pressure across England, largely 
as a result of increases in demands that have accelerated due to an ageing population which has led to 
increased complexity of care needs for people living in the community. Additionally, the health and social 
care system has undergone and is continuing to undergo significant changes as it adapts to meet the 
challenges of developing acuity amongst people with Care Act eligible care and support needs.

Over recent years there have been a number of reports published that highlight a range of common 
challenges in the homecare system, including finance, workforce, procurement, outcomes, delivery models, 
measurement and operational scrutiny (including review and supervision of care). These reports include:

 ‘Not Just A Number‘ Care Quality Commissioning report on Homecare
 Key to Care: Report of the Burstow Commission on the Future of the Homecare Workforce
 UNISON – Ethical Care Charter
 Centre for Research on Socio-Cultural Change – why we need social innovation in homecare for 

older people 

It is evident from national and local review that the homecare system needs to adapt to the changes around 
it in order for it to deliver the service response required, to meet the escalating needs of people in Salford 
who require support to live at home. This service specification sets out Salford’s visions, aspirations, 
service objectives and expectations for a new Extra Care Homecare and Enablement Service for the 
people of Salford. 

Salford’s ambition for Extra Care Homecare and Enablement

Salford Council and its partners have a strong and clear ambition to enable people to remain independent,  
living in their own home for as long as possible. This will be achieved by a coordinated effort to understand 
the health and social care needs of people and then by providing coordinated supports that can effectively 
meet that need. Our vision for the service is:

The Extra Care Homecare and Enablement service will ensure that people in Salford have timely 
access to a high quality homecare and enablement which is person centered to the assessed needs 

Page 67



 

4

of the individual, is responsive to changing needs and enables the person to maximize their 
independence and quality of life in their Extra Care home and in the community.

Our approach is to ensure the people of Salford are placed at the centre of decision making about them 
and services will be coordinated and collaborate around the individual to meet their assessed need.  
Services will be outcome focussed, deliver best practice interventions and make efficient use of available 
resources, including technology and innovation, in the provision of care and support in the person’s own 
home.

Salford’s Extra Care - Care Model

Extra Care Housing (Schemes) provides self-contained effective accommodation solutions with access to 
24/7 on-site homecare, support and on-site landlord services. Enabling residents to access Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) regulated homecare providing residents with independence needs as stated in the 
Care Act a ‘home for life’. The combination of ‘Housing’ and ‘Homecare’ solutions means people who live in 
Extra Care can benefit from a managed community of care, with effective accommodation, on-site activities 
and homecare services that focus on the maintenance and improvement of daily  living skills, also known 
as ‘enablement’. 

Figure 1 – Extra Care on the continuum of care

Extra Care sits on a nationally recognised care pathway. People who benefit from Extra Care can be adults 
of any age with a range of care and support needs including mental health, dementia, learning disabilities, 
autistic spectrum condition and physical/sensory disability. Although adults (18+) of any age, with 
independence needs can benefit from living in Extra Care people who reside in the schemes are 
predominantly aged over 55. Salford has an ambition to diversify the schemes by opening it up to people 
18 and over who will benefit from an Extra Care tenancy.

Extra Care schemes can accommodate a wide range of needs and most schemes operate to the nationally 
suggested model of 1/3 High, 1/3 Medium and 1/3 Low need. This model means people are able to support 
and sustain a vibrant, cooperative culture within the schemes that draws upon the assets of everyone living 
in the community.

Best practice schemes have communal areas for socialising, wellbeing activities, dining and often include 
accommodation for health related activity, for example, space for therapy or room for clinic appointments. 
Schemes also provide accommodation for on-site staff. Extra Care schemes may be based on community 
hub models, where members of the local community can also access services or activities. Crucially 
schemes are designed to enable adults with assessed care and support needs to live in the least restrictive 
environment as a tenant in their own home, avoiding the need to move into a more restrictive residential 
care setting. 

Page 68



 

5

Extra Care delivers a number of benefits to tenants including:

 Improving/maintaining quality of life – the communal nature of the schemes mean people socialise 
and make friends. Schemes have on-site facilities for social activities where Landlords and care 
providers work together to run and support a range of groups, activities and events for people. 
Communal dining and seating areas within the schemes create further opportunities for socialising 
by allowing people to spend time with each other.

 Maintaining/improving health and wellbeing – schemes enable people to be active and to maintain a 
good diet. They are able to offer on-site clinic space for health practitioners. Schemes have both 
internal and external space, circulation space as well as rest areas - which means people are 
encourage to move about.

 The service is tailored ideally for adults with long term conditions where needs for increased care in 
the longer term can be predicted therefore, enabling people to remain  living independently in their 
own home for longer.

 Enabling the continued involvement of family carers – Extra Care schemes are designed to be part 
of and add value to the communities they are built in. On average people who move into Extra Care 
lived less than 4 miles from the scheme (Salford data). This means schemes are often close to 
family and friends. They are generally built on or near to transport routes and have on-site car 
parking. Family and friends can visit the scheme whenever they like during the day (and at night 
with arrangement). Visitors can spend time in the scheme apartments, in the communal areas or 
take trips out.

 The scheme allows for a swifter response to changes in need and if required rapid access to 
emergency support.

 Improved prevention in relation to reducing the need for hospital admissions and enabling speedier 
hospital discharge because of the flexible nature of the care provision. The care provision on site 
can be readily adjusted up and down as required, if this was elsewhere in the community a new 
package of care may need to be commissioned delaying discharge.

 An environment that encourages the use of innovative technology enabled solutions to meet the 
assessed needs of residents by promoting independence and wellbeing.      

Page 69



 

6
Page 70



Salford Extra Care Homecare Strategic Components

P
age 71



Purpose – What we want to achieve

To support the people of Salford to be independent

Goal – To fulfill our purpose

To secure effective home based care that meets need

Stakeholders – Who we will support

People who have been assessed as needing additional support services to help them live in their 
own home

Values – How we do things

Caring; Compassionate; Person Centered; Responsive; Productive; Effective; Collaborative; 
Reliable. Promotes Choice and Control; 

Objectives – Logistics

Leadership
Our homecare service will be well-led by an effective manager working for a high quality 
organisation

Staffing
People working in homecare will be valued, skilled, supported, equipped and developed to do their 
job effectively

Home Based – Extra Care
The service will work with people in their own homes and communities to maximise independence 
through effective interventions

Locality
The service will operate within a neighbourhood model developing knowledge of the local 
community and its assets

Administration
The service will deliver effective internal processes that support service and contract functions

Resources
The service will equip itself with the necessary equipment and facilities in order deliver effective 
services

Objectives – Functions

Planning
The service will deliver effective support plans that are current and meet the assessed need

Coordinate
The service will proactively work with others to deliver effective and efficient care services 

Co-design and Co-produce
The service will plan and deliver the service through effective collaboration with people

Reliability
The service will work to agreed times and days with regular staffPage 72



 

9

Safety/Risk
The service will be safe and have a positive approach to managing risk in the delivery of care 

Relationships
The service will develop and sustain effective relationships with people and support social 
connections

Technology and Innovation
The service will promote technology and embrace innovation in the delivery of care

Promoting
The service will promote its service and the purpose and values of homecare 

Objectives – Principles

Wellbeing
The service will promote and maximise the wellbeing of people, recognising the aspirations and 
potential of people 

Quality
The service will work to quality principles, being self-reflective and self-improving

Choice & Control
The service will support and facilitate personalisation by placing people at the centre of decision 
making about them

Standards (see local co-design standards below)
The service will work to national and local standards and within legal frameworks

Partnership
The service will have effective and productive operational relationships with internal and external 
service partners

Enabling
The service will support and challenge people to build and sustain their own potential for 
independence and wellbeing

Adaptable
The service will be adaptable to changing circumstances and take a lead role in responding to 
changing need

Evidence
The service will base its approach on the best care evidence and on evidence presented through 
assessment and care planning

Service User Groups 

The Provider shall deliver Services for the following user groups which may overlap in the presentation and 
needs of individual Service Users:

Page 73



 

10

Primary (most common) client group

 Older People
 Dementia Care
 Physical Disability
 Learning Disability non-complex and non-challenging care
 Autistic Spectrum Condition, including Asperger's non-complex and non-challenging care
 People with Mental Health - mild to moderate and SMI
 People with alcoholic issues where this is unlikely to adversely impinge on other tenants

Secondary (less common) client group

 Palliative and End of Life
 People with behaviour that challenges
 Supporting Carers and family members involved in the service users care
 People transitioning into Adult Social Care Services

The Provider will recognise and respond to the needs of people who are less able to access and engage 
with services; including those with protected characteristic under the Equalities Act 2010, taking steps to 
ensure services are delivered and needs are met through personalised approaches.

Designing what matters to Salford people – experience based co-design

The service specification and service model has been developed through a process of experience based 
co-design that brought together a range of people who had experience of the current homecare services, 
which included people who use services, the professionals across health and social care, the housing 
providers and care providers. A number of important themes were evident from the co-design process.

Enablement

It is important to provide a service that empowers Service Users by giving them the opportunity and 
confidence to maintain, relearn and regain skills that keep them as independent as possible. This will 
ensure that people stay in their own home for as long as possible. 

Relationships

The value of good relationships between Service Users, carers, housing providers and staff was a 
consistent theme. Building and maintaining relationships was seen as the cornerstone to the provision of a 
good service. The development of rapport with a regular member of staff brought about benefits for users 
and staff alike.

Activities

Activities are an important part of an Extra Care scheme as they support people to maintain and improve 
people’s health and wellbeing, as well as their quality of life. Extra Care schemes should be a hub within a 
community that enables people living in the scheme and in the community to access activities. The 
schemes should also be available as an asset that can be utilised by community groups e.g. allowing an 
external group to meet in an Extra Care scheme. Care staff should utilise good relationships with the 
tenants to encourage and support tenants increased involvement in a variety of activities this includes 
encouraging them to input into the development of new activities. 

Page 74



 

11

Staffing: continuity, quality and consistency

Service Users want to be confident in the skills, experience and competency of the staff that come into their 
homes. Skills in responding to safeguarding issues, medication management and diet/nutrition where 
highlighted as important areas that had a significant impact on the safety and quality of care. 

Staff with the right skills, were needed to ensure continuity, reliability and a high quality service.

Timings

It is important for the Service Users and care staff that visits are not rushed and that adequate time is 
allocated to meet the needs of the tenants, this includes providing companionship and support. The 
planned and actual length of time for visits are important components of the delivery of a high quality 
service and had implications for managing medication, quality of life and delivering person centered care.

Information and Communication

Service Users wanted clear and consistent communication from both the care provider and landlord. The 
care provider and landlord should work together to develop joint methods of communication that meets the 
needs of the tenants and best practice standards, such as the Accessible Information Standard 2015.It is 
important that tenants and carers are able to understand the roles and responsibilities of all the staff 
working in the Extra Care scheme. 

It is important that Service Users are aware of and have access to policies and procedures this includes, 
but is not limited to the provider’s complaints procedure. 

Choice and control

People talked about the need for the service user to be ‘in control’ and to be able to be a genuine part of 
developing a care plan that was realistic, centered on their needs and for it to be delivered. This is at the 
time an assessment is made under the Care Act by Adult Social Care and when care providers are 
planning with people to meet their needs and deliver the Homecare service.

Service leadership from Care Providers

Service Users receiving homecare services recognised the need for good leadership to be displayed by 
care providers, from the co-ordinators, to the provider’s office, to systems and processes that support the 
service delivery. 

Service Users wanted to be confident that they would be listened to and their concerns addressed, 
increasing their control or influence on the system or in the relationship with the organisation providing 
care. 

The culture of the organisation should be person-centered to support care delivery and set the right ethos 
for care staff visiting people in their own homes.

Page 75



 

12

Record Keeping

To ensure the changing needs of service users are recognised and acted upon, staff awareness and use of 
care plans and recording of care and events is an important part of the service. The quality of record 
keeping is essential to safety and quality 

Standards for care at home

The following ‘I’ and ‘my’ statement have been developed through the experience based co-design 
process.

 I should be put at the centre
 My needs should be understood
 I want to have meaningful and positive relationships
 I should know my carers
 My carers are listening, empathetic and caring
 My service should be value based
 I should be supported to do the things I can do for myself
 I want barriers removing so I can love my life
 I want to be able to choose how I live my life
 I want to live a dignified, safe and independent life
 I want to be connected to my family, friends and community
 I want comfort and security
 My service should be efficient and well led
 My service should use technology and better logistics (scheduling)
 My service should be effectively monitored and reviewed (proactive and reactive)
 My service should Interact and work with other services, family and the community to deliver my 

care plan and high standards

Core elements

In additional to the ‘I’ statement the co-design process identified a number of core elements for a 
commissioned care at home service. 

Extra Care Homecare staff that:

 Have a standard uniform
 Are treated like professionals and are confident when they present themselves
 Feel valued in their work, satisfied and rewarded 
 Have listening skills
 Have rapport with clients
 Are proud of the service they deliver
 Have terms and conditions that provide security, fair pay and working hours and encourage 

retention and career progression

Training for staff that:

 Is appropriate to the tasks of their job 
 Is holistic and develops skills and competencies
 Has consistent standards

Page 76



 

13

 Has an induction programme
 Enables staff to identify changing needs, nutrition and medication needs
 Enables staff to listen to service users and build good communication and rapport
 Supports staff to promote independence and enablement rather than dependency whenever 

possible

An integrated service that:

 Works well across agencies and care  providers 
 Has shared records, standardised paperwork, consistent information
 Has integrated and effective information technology systems with a single entry point
 Participates in multidisciplinary meeting to effectively coordinate care
 Supports key working where a named member of staff is responsible for care coordination and 

communication
 Is equipped and supported to manage medication and changes to prescribing
 Uses technology, equipment and communicates effectively using various methods
 Is co-located with other services that support people in their own homes

People focussed principles

The Service will be delivered in accordance with the following people focused principles:

Respect for capacity

The Service User shall be treated as able to make his/her own decisions. A Service User's capacity to 
make a decision will be established at the time that a decision needs to be made in line with the definition 
of capacity set out in the Mental Capacity Act 2005. Where it is felt a person would benefit from Advocacy 
they should be supported to access this service.  

Equality of opportunity: 

The Service shall be organised and provided in a way which does not discriminate against the Service User 
and Staff in respect of race, colour, nationality, ethnic origins, gender, gender reassignment, marital status, 
sexual orientations, disability, age, religion or belief, social or economic status or political beliefs.

The Provider shall ensure that the Service is at all times delivered in a safe non-discriminatory and non-
judgemental manner and that equality and diversity is always promoted.

The Provider shall report upon their compliance and workforce profile on demand to the Authority.

Individuality
The Service User shall be recognised and respected as an individual person.

Human Rights
The Provider shall protect and maintain all entitlements associated with UK citizenship (subject to any 
authorised “Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 2008 and Mental Health Act 1983”).

Page 77



 

14

The Provider shall promote and protect service users’ human rights and act as though it is a ‘public 
authority’ in relation to human rights obligations.

Choice & Control:

Fulfilment
The realisation of reasonable personal aspirations and abilities in all aspects of daily life;

Dignity
Recognition of the intrinsic value of the Service User, regardless of circumstances, by recognising their 
uniqueness and their personal needs and treating them with respect, 

Confidentiality
The sharing of any and all kinds of information concerning a Service User shall always be consistent with 
the principles of consent and data protection as well as choice and privacy;

Protection
The Provider shall have zero tolerance of all forms of abuse and Service User shall be protected from risk 
of harm that arises from abuse or neglect;

Service User engagement
The Provider shall actively engage with the Service User so that they are consistently contributing - where 
possible and where considered important by the Service User - to the structuring and delivery of their care;

The Provider shall seek family and/or carer engagement in the outcome based care planning process 
where appropriate including by way of example setting up a carer group.

Person centered care
The Service User’s goals, targets and objectives shall remain the focus of care at all times.

Cultural awareness
The Provider shall ensure that the religious, cultural and spiritual needs and wishes of the Service User are 
identified, respected and wherever possible met.

Care Principles

Personalisation

Personalisation is founded on person centered thinking and outcome based care and support planning, 
viewing people as persons in their own right,  understanding that they need and have a right to live a life 
that has meaning to them. 

Care plans are developed to be meaningful to the individual by identifying and building upon theirs existing 
strengths and can improve outcomes. Planning care should fully involve the person seeing them as equal 
partners in their health and well- being, not passive recipients of care. This is the process of personalised, 
asset and outcome based care planning and about supporting people to take responsibility for their own 
health wellbeing and providing them with the right information to assist that process.

The Provider shall ensure that the culture of the Service is a positive one, promoting an ethos of care, and 
placing the Service User at the heart of all processes (a person centered culture). 

Page 78



 

15

Holistic approach to supporting service users to maintain their health

The Provider shall ensure that:

 Staff work in partnership with the schemes Landlord to deliver effective onsite care and support 
services.

 Staff work where appropriately in partnership with health partners in Salford to ensure that the 
health of Service Users is supported and maintained;

 Good pathways for care are maintained between the Provider and Social Care for hospital 
admissions and transfers of care back into Extra Care; and

 There is a suitable, consistent and timely transfer of Personal Information and Personalised 
Information regarding Service Users between organisations.

In the context of provision for this service the guiding principles are:

 Ensuring people have support wherever possible in ways and at times of their choosing;
 Treating people with dignity and respect at all times;
 Supporting people to keep control of their lives, and to exercise that choice;
 Supporting people to lead independent healthy lives;
 Promoting Social Inclusion.

In the context of both the Authority and the Provider as a whole:

 Creating a person centered culture within the organisation;
 Reviewing and improving services through feedback and a developmental approach to 

personalisation;
 Having the appropriate business systems that are based on placing the Service User first, and 

having principles of transparency;
 Using a supported-choice approach to risk management.

Relevant legislation and guidance

The Provider shall maintain any other national quality requirements that may from time to time be specified 
and shall comply with all relevant legislation, national policy and national guidance including those detailed 
within the following non-exhaustive list as may exist or come into effect from time to time:

Legislation

 Care Act 2014
 Mental Capacity Act (2005) and the associated Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
 Mental Health Act 1983 as amended in 2007
 Health and Social Care Act 2012
 General Data Protection Regulation (2018) 
 Care Standards Act 2000
 Autism Act 2009
 Local Authority Social Services Act 1970
 Human Rights Act 1998
 National Health Service Act 2006 and subsequent National Health Service (Consequential 

Provisions) Act 2006  

Page 79



 

16

 Equality Act 2010
 Police & Criminal Evidence Act (1984)
 Housing and Regeneration Act (2008)
 Housing Act 2004 (Housing Acts of 1985, 1988 and 1996 are still in force, however parts of the 

earlier Acts are repealed by later Acts) 
 Housing Grants and Regeneration act 1996
 Regulatory Reform (National Health Service Charitable and Non-Charitable Trust Accounts and 

Audit) Order 2005
 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012

National Policy and Strategy

 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)
 NHS Operating Framework
 Best Practice in Managing Risk (DH, 2007) – archived
 Delivering better Mental Health outcomes for people of all ages (DH 2011)
 Valuing People Now (2009)
 Improving the Life Chances of Disabled People (2005)
 Think Local Act Personal (2011)
 The Care and Support Statutory Guidance (2017)
 Making Safeguarding Personal (2014)
 Information Authority’s Office Data Sharing Code of Practice (2011)
 Dementia: support in health and social care NICE quality standard [QS1] (2010)
 NICE quality standard QS24 - Nutrition support in adults (2012)
 Homes not hospitals for people with learning disabilities, 30 October 2015
 Prioritising need in the context of Putting People first: A whole system approach to eligibility for 

social care – Guidance on Eligibility Criteria for Adult Social Care, England 2010 (Archived)
 Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans Companion Document 

(2014)
 Essential Standards of Quality and Safety 2010
 Essence of Care (2010) - archived
 The Health and Social Care Act 2008 Code of Practice on the prevention and control of infections 

and related guidance (2015)
 Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009
 National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care – July 2012 

(revised).
 The NHS Constitution
 NICE guideline [NG31] Care of dying adults in the last days of life
 Gold Standard Framework
 Care Closer to Home (2006)
 NHS Five Year Forward View 2014
 The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) 
 NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017-2019
 The Code for nurses and midwives
 Social Care Institute for Excellence – Guide 49 Maximising the potential of reablement (2013)

Page 80



 

17

Salford Policy & Strategy 

 Salford Mental Health Commissioning Strategy 2018 - 2023
 Salford Carers Strategy 2019 - 2024
 Salford Personalisation Strategy 2011(refreshed in the Market Position Statement 2015)
 Greater Manchester Learning Disability Strategy 2018
 Making Greater Manchester Autism Friendly 2019-2022 (version 10) FINAL
 Salford Market Position Statement 
 Service & Financial Plan
 Salford Vulnerable Persons Protocol 2012 onwards (reviewed annually)
 Shaping Housing in Salford 2020 – a Housing Strategy for Salford
 Salford City Council Older Persons Housing Strategy 2008 – 2018
 Social Value and Sustainability Policy

Ethical Extra Care Homecare – Service in Salford

Ethical provision

 The starting point for commissioning of visits will be service user need as determined through the 
Independence Led Assessment. The time allocated to visits will match the needs of service users. 

 Visits will be scheduled so that homecare workers have sufficient time with service users.
 Service users will be allocated the same homecare worker(s) wherever possible
 Providers will have a clear and accountable procedure for following up staff concerns about their 

service users’ wellbeing

Ethical employment 

 Zero hour contracts will not be used in place of permanent contracts, where employees request a 
fixed hours employment 

 Homecare workers will be paid for their induction period, and other necessary expenses 
 All homecare workers will be regularly trained to the necessary standard to provide a good service 

(at no cost to themselves and in work time)
 Homecare workers will be given the opportunity to regularly meet co-workers to share best practice 
 Those homecare workers who are eligible must be paid statutory sick pay

Extra Care Homecare Services and Integration – 
Landlord/Neighbourhood/Locality Service Partnership

The Extra Care homecare provider will develop and maintain an effective working relationship with the 
Extra Care Scheme Landlord. A Partnership agreement will be signed between the Extra Care homecare 
provider and landlord that will include the following principles:

 Occupancy/finance
 Cooperation
 Roles and responsibilities
 Service Quality – including safeguarding
 Information sharing – including data protection and confidentiality

Page 81



 

18

 Health and Safety 
 Grievances and Disputes
 Equality
 Continuous improvement

The partnership agreement will ensure an effective working relationship between the homecare provider 
and Landlord for the benefit of tenants (service users).

Homecare providers will work collaboratively with health, social care, VCSE and community service 
providers in the delivery of coordinated services around the needs of individuals. Providers will ensure 
continuity of care and support services through effective resource deployment and partnership working 
within a locality service model.

Providers will work with and respond to the requirements of emerging health and social care 
neighbourhood service models in the delivery of commissioned homecare services. 

 

Page 82



 

19

Section Two  – Service Specification 

For the avoidance of doubt, all references to “the Provider”, “the Care Provider”, “the Service Provider” 
within the Service Specification (Schedule 5 of the Contract) means the supplier named on the first page of 
the form of Contract. 

1. Service Description
1.1. The service shall meet the care and support needs of people who choose to live in Extra Care, and 

meet the Authority’s Extra Care assessment criteria.
1.2. A service user’s care and support needs will be assessed and identified by an Adult Social Care 

(ASC) Practitioner (Social Worker) through a person centred strengths based ASC Assessment and 
ASC support plan. The provider will use the ASC support plan to develop a Provider Support Plan 
that is co-produced with the Service User and where appropriate their carers.

1.3. The Provider shall deliver Services that provide:
1.3.1. Appropriate assistance to ensure that the assessed social, personal, cultural, spiritual and 

healthcare needs of each Service User are identified supported and met within the Service User's 
home, as detailed within an agreed Support Plan;

1.3.2. Enablement focused on goal setting and delivering outcomes that are personalised to the assessed 
needs of the Service User, underpinning daily practices;

1.3.3. An effective and supportive environment that allows Service Users to confidently challenge 
themselves in the process of maintaining, learning or re-learning skills;

1.3.4. Support to maximise Service User’s self-care abilities, thus encouraging and prompting 
independence; 

1.3.5.  Security and support to each Service User in their home such that it is a place where they feel able 
to live with dignity and respect;

1.3.6. Flexible Services to enable a timely response to any changes to Service User's needs, wishes and 
support networks;

1.3.7. A range of options for the support services available to the Service User and provide each Service 
User with full and accessible information about the services and choices on offer to them;

1.3.8. A place where all Service User’s personal preferences are recognised and their ability to 
exercise choice and achieve personal fulfilment is maximised;

1.3.9. Understanding that Service Users and Carers have the right to take risks in their life and enjoy 
their preferred lifestyle, and make ‘ ; 

1.3.10. Confidentiality, respect, dignity and privacy and does not erode a Service User's capacity for self-
care, or the positive contributions made by family carers;

1.3.11. Opportunities for each Service User, and where appropriate their Carers to be involved in the 
planning and delivery of the services they receive. Ensuring their views are incorporated into 
outcome based support planning, and that they have access to an advocate, where  
appropriate to assist them in expressing their wishes;

1.3.12. Accessibility for every Service User ensuring Services are delivered in a sensitive way which 
takes into account individual needs in respect of age, gender, race, language, culture, 
religion, sexuality and disability;

1.3.13. A place where organisations work in partnership to meet the individual needs of the Service 
Users;

Page 83



 

20

1.3.14. Staff who act professionally at all times; 
1.3.15. The highest standards and quality possible; 
1.3.16. Opportunities for each Service User and/or their Carers to make complaints without fear of 

retribution;
1.3.17. Equality of care across all Service Users regardless of their Care Provider, financial status and 

length of stay;
1.3.18. Appropriate assistance to Service Users to enable them to access other services as required, 

including those from other Providers;
1.3.19. Where appropriate and in accordance with the agreed end of life care plan, the Service User to die 

with dignity in a manner that supports their wishes along with their cultural and spiritual beliefs.
1.3.20. Support that maximises each Service User’s abilities, to include cognitive, behavioural, 

psychological, emotional, mobility and communicative needs;
1.3.21. Dignity and respect for each Service User; and
1.3.22. Satisfaction with the Services provided and a belief that each Service User's quality of life is 

enhanced as a result.
1.4. Short & Long Term Care - The Services shall include care packages for long term care and short 

term interventions and will be tailored to meet individual need.
1.5. Medicines - The Provider shall have policies, procedures and training in place to ensure the 

effective management of medicines in line with the needs of the person and the support plan agreed 
for each individual. Please refer to Schedule Four of the Specification for further detail. 

1.6. Exclusion Criteria - The Service specified within this Agreement is not intended to provide for any 
person:

 Under the age of 18;

 Detained under the Mental Health Act (1983);

 Not referred via Adult Social Care; 

 For which there is no care and support package agreement; 

 Adults whose behaviour in a communal setting could put other tenants in serious risk 
e.g. Someone with a history of setting fires where there is nothing in place to suggest 
this is going to stop

 Adults that reside outside of Salford at point of referral.

2. Extra Care Homecare Pathway 

Extra Care Referral Pathway / Criteria

2.1 Only those individuals referred into Extra Care via the Authority will be eligible for an Extra Care 
tenancy.

2.2 The Authority will use a strengths based approach to screen and assess prospective Extra Care 
Service Users to ensure they are eligible for Extra Care. Only those individuals whose ASC 
assessment identifies a qualifying level of care and support needs as stated in the Care Act (2008) 
will be eligible for the care and support services within the extra care scheme.

Comment [LF1]:  Insert pathway once 
finalised

Page 84



 

21

2.2.1 Service Users eligible for an Extra Care tenancy will have Low, Medium or High care and support 
needs, which will be identified by and ASC Practitioner during an ASC Assessment. Service Users 
with Medium and High care and support needs will typically be eligible to access the onsite 
regulated care

2.2.1.1 Service Users with Low care and support needs typically do not qualify for regulated care and 
support and would therefore not require regular support from the Care and Support provider.  …….  

People with Low care needs are characteristically:

 Individuals who require support with increasing their levels of independence on a 
short term basis, individuals who benefit from having background support;

 Being vulnerable to social isolation or having experienced emotional and 
psychological distress and

 Will benefit from the availability of social contact and a supportive environment which 
provides security and reassurance.

2.2.1.2 Service Users with Medium Care and Support needs typically qualify for regulated care and 
support. People with Medium care needs are characteristically individuals who tend to require 
ongoing assistance, monitoring or prompts in some areas of their life.

2.2.1.3 Service Users with High Care and Support needs typically qualify for regulated care and support. 
People with High Care needs are characteristically individuals who require a lot of assistance in 
most areas of their life.

2.1.3 Service Users assessed as eligible for Extra Care will be able to choose their Care and Support 
Provider. In some cases this might mean that they do not go with the onsite Care and Support 
Provider. It is expected that where necessary the onsite Care and Support Provider will work with 
the chosen Care and Support Provider. 

2.1.4 The Authority will manage the extra care allocation process through an allocations panel. The Care 
and Support Provider will be required to participate in the allocation panel chaired by the Authority.

2.1.5 The Care and Support Provider is expected to participate in the establishment of the extra care 
tenancy, the development of the initial support plan and any subsequent care and support plan. This 
pathway will be timely to ensure that urgent tenancies can be established following the identification 
of need and suitability for extra care.

2.1.6 The allocation process will need be reviewed regularly and will need to reflect the void turnaround 
target’s which the Landlord is required to aim towards.

3.       Independence-led, Asset based Assessment and Planning

3.1 The level and nature of care and support a person requires will be determined through the 
Authority’s personalised, independence-led, asset based assessment, care planning and care co-
ordination procedures.

3.2 The Authority will ensure that service users who have qualifying care and support needs receive an 
independence-led, asset and outcome based assessment by an ASC Practitioner.  This assessment 

Comment [L2]:  Need to consider if 
people a low band should pay a 
‘wellbeing charge’ for overnight 
support / response to a pull cord. Or 
will the cost of this be covered by the 
Care Organisation? 
Potential issue that people with 
regulated Care Needs are paying for 
service but people without could 
access this if needed. Possible benefit 
in covering charge as links with 
prevention and people staying well for 
longer. 

Page 85



 

22

will be developed and shared with the service user and a care and support plan will be completed 
following negotiation with all parties identifying how the person’s needs are to be met.  An ASC 
Practitioner will be appointed by the Authority to monitor and review this care and support plan with 
the Care and Support Provider. This will take place via a 6 week review of the initial plan and an 
ongoing 6 monthly review and/or if there have been any changes.

3.3 Any request for specialist assessments must follow the Authority’s referral process.

3.4 The Care and Support Provider will co-operate with the Care Manager/Coordinator in assessing the 
needs of service users and planning for change to services. This will incorporate person-centred 
planning and ‘total communication’.

3.5 The Care and Support Provider is required to ensure that they have a copy of a written and current 
care and support plan for each service user.

3.6 Care and support plans will vary according to the complexity of each service user’s needs.

3.7 The Care and Support Provider must ensure that all support workers are given proper and adequate 
training to meet the needs of service users as identified in the care and support plan.

4. Changes to Care and Support Packages
4.1 The Care and Support Provider will be expected to work flexibly to meet short term and long term 

changes to Service Users care and support needs.

4.2 Service Users will be reviewed every 6 months by an ASC Practitioner to ensure that the care and 
support provided meets the Service User’s needs. This review may result in a decrease or increase 
of care and support required depending on the individuals assessed need. This will be developed, 
discussed and agreed with the Service User, and reflected in their care and support plan.

4.3 If the care and support needs of the Service User changes before their 6 monthly review the Care 
and Support Provider must contact the ASC Practitioner to arrange a review as soon as possible. 

5. Range of Personal Care Tasks
5.1 The provider of Care and Support is expected to deliver aspects of personal care to individuals as 

dictated by the Authority’s care and support plan within the required care and support level.
5.2 Individual care and support should be offered in a personalised, enabling and empowering way in 

order to achieve greater independence where possible, or to sustain an individual’s capacity to live 
independently and prevent moves to residential care and hospital care. The level of input should 
follow ‘just enough support’ principles.

5.3 Some examples have been provided below, but it is recognised that this list of tasks is not 
exhaustive and not every example will be applicable for every service user:
Individual Support

 Aspects of personal care and support (including medication management), as 
detailed in the individual’s care and support plan.

 Daily call checks.

Page 86



 

23

 Healthy diet advice, guidance, support etc.
 Support with meals/support to and from the dining room.
 Support to make medical (or other) appointments, arranging transport, fostering good 

relationships with GP and other health and social care professionals.
 Domestic tasks, by exception – as described in the individual’s support and care plan 

– including shopping/cleaning/laundry.
 Maintenance and development of relationships (friendships and family) to maintain or 

develop social connectedness
 Early identification of changes to the health or social care needs of the service user 

and timely referral to relevant agencies.
 Emotional support including support for faith based, worship or cultural activities
 Signposting to other services/activities.
 Encouragement to be involved in service development.
 Responding to emergency alarm calls
 Supporting service users to access activities within the scheme
 Enabling timely hospital discharge when a service user is ready to return home

Group Session
 Encouraging individuals to attend and support to attend any of the group activities on 

scheme or in the wider community.

 Encouragement to be involved in service development.

5.4 The level of care a Service User requires is determined through a person centered, 
strengths based Social Care Assessment carried out by a Social Care Practitioner. Table 1 
shows a breakdown of personal care tasks depending on the level of assessed need. For 
illustrative purposes this has been split regulated care tasks for people with medium and 
high requirements.

5.5 In the three older schemes (Astley Court, Monica Court and Mount Carmel) the Care 
provider will be required to order, prepare, serve and clear communal meals at lunch and 
dinner time. For more information about what is required please see schedule six. 

Page 87



Table 1: Breakdown of regulated care tasks

Individuals who tend to require ongoing assistance, monitoring or prompts in some areas of their life.
Bathing: May require supervision, monitoring and/or prompting.
Washing and dressing: Relatively independent, but may require occasional prompting and supervision to dress 
appropriately.
Mobility: May use equipment to mobilise and require some monitoring of safety.
Toileting: May need encouragement/prompting to establish a routine.
Continence: May have issues with incontinence, but able to manage with minimal assistance.
Night-time attention: May need some assistance during periods of illness or an emergency.
Eating & drinking: Relatively independent though may need some supervision and encouragement  and 
monitoring of diet at mealtimes
Cooking: May need some supervision for meal preparation/ cooking and using appliances.
Communication: Able to communicate needs.
Memory / orientation: Occasionally forgetful.  May require prompting.
Mood / Agitation: Occasional concerns.  Minimal Support needed.
Maintaining a safe environment: Able to understand risk and own limitations but occasionally needing support.
Health appointments: May require occasional support to complete medical appointments. This may include 
timetabling, reminding, re-arranging, arranging support to assist attending.
Medication: May require occasional support to maintain their required medication routine. Reference should be 
made to medication guidance in the care and support plan or with the service user’s GP or pharmacist.
Skin care: May require occasional support to manage skin health. Reference should be made to the care and 
support plan and/or guidance from the service user’s medical practitioner.
Nursing input: May need occasional input from district nurses / CPN etc to assess, monitor and treat on short or 
long term basis.
Practical domestic tasks: May need regular assistance or supervision of shopping, cleaning, pension collection 
and laundry.

Medium Care & 
Support Needs
People who are 

best described as:

Activities: May require occasional support and motivation to take part in activities in the scheme and community. 
Including the development and maintenance of relationships with family and friends.
Individuals who require a lot of assistance in most areas of their life.High Care & 

Support Needs Bathing: May need assistance to get in and out of bath and some help with personal care. May need frequent 

P
age 88



 

25

supervision and some practical help throughout process or require full assistance and may have equipment in 
situ.
Washing: Can wash hands and face but may require some assistance with other areas of the body or may need 
full assistance with all aspects of washing.
Dressing: Will require some assistance or frequent prompts or full assistance to dress appropriately.
Finances: May require ongoing support to manage. Refer to the care and support plan for guidance.
Mobility: May need reminding to use appropriate equipment and assistance / supervision and encouragement to 
mobilise. May not be able to independently mobilise for longer distances. May require assistance to transfer and 
use of equipment such as a hoist.
Toileting: May need prompting and assistance to go to the toilet. 
Continence: May have issues with continence, and may require full assistance with a toileting regime and or 
assistance with to use appropriate continence aids / equipment or catheter care.
Night-time attention: May require occasional assistance. Individual may require assistance / monitoring during 
the night; monitoring to manage falls risks, continence, response to Telecare equipment.
Eating & drinking: May require some assistance, e.g. cutting up food. Individual may require prompts and 
encouragement with eating and drinking; may require food and fluid intake to be monitored.
Communication: May need some support or assistance to communicate needs. Individual may require support 
with using appropriate communication aids, i.e., hearing aids.
Cooking: Likely to need full assistance to plan and prepare meals or meal to be prepared for them.
Memory / orientation: May have moderate cognitive impairment. May be forgetful (e.g. people, places, time) and 
require prompting. Individuals may be disorientated to place and time and require daily support to maintain 
safety. Monitoring of Telecare equipment may be required.
Mood / agitation: Relatively stable, but may need periodic support associated with behavioural issues and require 
appropriate care plan / risk assessment in place.
Maintaining a safe environment: May have difficulties in understanding risks but able be to comply with 
instructions to minimise risk and monitoring of Telecare equipment.

People whose 
needs are best 
described as:

Health appointments: May require regular support to complete medical appointments. This may include 
timetabling, reminding, re-arranging, arranging support to assist attending.

P
age 89



 

26

Medication: May require ongoing support to maintain their required medication routine. Reference should be made to 
medication guidance in the care and support plan or with the service user’s GP or pharmacist
Skin care: May require specific, ongoing support to manage skin health. Reference should be made to the care and 
support plan and/or guidance from the service user’s medical practitioner
Nursing input: May need regular input from district nurses or other health professionals to assess, monitor and 
treat health problems.
Practical domestic tasks: Needs full assistance or supervision with shopping, cleaning, pension collection and 
laundry.

Activities: May require ongoing support and motivation to take part in activities in the scheme and community 
including the development and maintenance of relationships with family and friends.

 

P
age 90



6. Assistive Technology
The Care and Support Provider must identify, promote and maximise the use of Telecare and other 
such devices to enhance a service user’s independence. This includes:

 The identification and use of innovative technology enabled care solutions;

 Manage the equipment;

 Monitor the use of devices;

 Report faults/concerns;

 Support a service user to manage devices that have been put in place to promote 
their independence, health and well-being.

7  Service Availability
7.1 The service will operate 365 days per year (366 if a leap year), including bank holidays and will be 

24 hours a day, 7 days per week.
7.1.1 The Care and Support Provider shall be available to contact and be capable of accepting 

Allocations between 08:30 and 17:00 each Weekday via a designated and Staffed telephone 
number, secure e-mail address and fax number. During the course of the contract these days and 
hours may be extended as models of care develop within Salford.

7.1.2 The Care and Support Provider shall maintain robust contingency plans at all times to ensure that 
there is appropriate staff presence in the office to cover the absence of office 
managers/coordinators. The designated staff covering such absence must be sufficiently competent 
and authorised to respond in a timely fashion to queries from the Authority’s representatives and to 
deliver all aspects of the Contract. 

7.1.3 The Care and Support Provider shall provide an Emergency Call number that is available for the 
Authority, Service Users and their representatives at any time and a person shall be available 
through this number who has the authority and resources to deal with an emergency situation and 
arrange care. For the avoidance of doubt Providers shall not use an answering machine to provide 
this function.

7.2 Day Time Hours
7.2.1 Staffing levels will reflect the needs of the Extra Care scheme with a minimum of two members of 

staff on duty at all times.  It is expected that the Care and Support Provider will allocate staffing 
resource to meet the needs of the Service Users in the scheme, and will do so flexibly to meet 
changing needs as they arise.

7.2.2 Staffing levels are likely to fluctuate according to the collective needs of Service Users. In order to 
effectively administer the service, the Care and Support Provider must ensure that these 
fluctuations are managed by ‘banking’ hours which are not required by temporary reductions in need 
or by temporary absences (e.g. hospitalisation, holidays etc), which can then be used at other times 
to meet additional temporary requirement (e.g. illness, temporary deterioration).

7.3 Waking Nights 
7.3.1 An allowance of hours to cover double waking nights will be provided each night. This will be 

provided to meet the needs of the Service Users, and will flex in capacity to meet changes in 
demand.  The waking night will be in operation from 11pm until 7am.  

7.3.2 The Authority requires the Care and Support Provider to utilise waking night hours to contribute to 
the effective running of the services e.g. carrying out laundry tasks at night.

8 Unplanned Care and Emergency Care for an Existing Service User
8.1 Unplanned Care and Emergency Care is defined as an unplanned care need that is not part of a 

Service User’s care and support plan.
Page 91



 

28

8.2 An example of an Unplanned Care call could be where support has been required to support a 
Service User after a fall. 

8.3 Each of the flats in the Extra Care Schemes has a pull cord alarm system and some of the tenants 
may also have a pendant alarm system in place. When an alarm is activated the onsite care staff 
will be notified. If the on-site care staff does not respond to the alarm within the allotted time period 
the call will be forwarded to an off-site call center. 

8.4 As part of care and support, the Care and Support Provider will deliver care in response to an 
emergency incident of care situation, e.g. a fall at night.

8.5 The care response to an emergency incident will be available to all service users within the 
schemes, irrespective of who delivers their care on a day-to-day basis.

8.6 The Provider will have a response to an emergency incident protocol and will respond to an 
emergency situation in an effective manner that is the least traumatic for Service Users as possible.  

8.6.1 The Provider must be able to identify if a service user is having a medical emergency. Examples of 
medical emergencies include (but are not limited to):

 chest pain
 difficulty in breathing
 unconsciousness
 severe loss of blood
 severe burns or scalds
 choking 
 fitting or concussion
 drowning
 severe allergic reactions

8.6.2 If it is not a life-threatening emergency and immediate medical attention is not required, other options 
should be considered before dialling 999, including:

 Providing help and reassurance to the service user.
 Use of any appropriate onsite lifting equipment, for example a Manger Lifting 

Cushion
 Talking to a local pharmacist
 Contacting the service user’s GP
 Calling Intermediate Care
 Calling NHS 111
 Visiting the NHS Choices website
 Making arrangements to attend the local A&E department, walk-in centre, minor 

injuries unit or urgent care centre. 
8.6.3 The Provider will maintain a register of care responses to emergency incidents. In this register, the 

Provider will record details of the emergency incident, including the condition of the Service User, 
the nature of the incident (what happened) and the response to the incident by the Provider.  
Following every emergency incident, the Provider will carry out a review within 24 hours and identify 
any lessons to be learned and actions to address any issues.

8.7  In the event of an emergency occurring, the Provider will meet the care needs of the Service User. 
If a Service User uses a different care provider, the Provider will support the Service User until the 
service users’ care provider is available.  If it is an external provider, the Provider must liaise with 
them to arrange a handover of care and discuss the ongoing care needs, ensuring good 
communication throughout.  

Page 92



 

29

9. Unplanned Admission
9.1 If a Service User is admitted to hospital, the Care and Support Provider shall inform the ASC 

Practitioner and vice versa. The provider shall also inform close family and friends as identified by 
the Service User in the Support Plan.

9.2 When a Service User is ready for discharge from hospital the Care and Support Provider will work 
with relevant organisations to ensure that they are able to support the Service User to settle back 
into their home (7days per week).  

9.3 The Care and Support Provider must reassess a Service User within 24 hours of discharge from 
hospital, and update their Care and Support Plan to reflect any changes in their care and support 
needs. 

10. Continuity of Care
10.1 The Provider recognises that continuity of support staff is a significant contribution in maintaining 

and improving the independence of each Service User and maximising their privacy, dignity and 
respect.

10.2 The Provider shall use their best endeavours to organise the rota for Service Visits in such a way as 
to maximise the regular use of specific Staff for each Service User.

11 Handling of Service Users' Money
11.1 The Provider shall have a fully documented clear and auditable system to handle Service Users’ 

monies.
11.2 When handling Service Users’ monies the Provider shall maintain comprehensive records for each 

Service User of all payments made by the Service User to Staff to pay for by way of example but not 
limited to shopping, transport and prescription fees.

11.3 In each and every case:
11.3.1 The records shall show the transaction date, the member of Staff carrying out the transaction, the 

money taken, the money spent, any change handed back to the Service User and the signatures of 
all Staff involved in this process; and

11.3.2 A fully itemised and dated listing of all such the money spent with a cross-reference to valid receipts 
from the vendor.

11.3.3 Staff shall promptly and without delay provide the Service User with the valid receipt from the 
vendor which shall be itemised for each and every payment or purchase and the Provider shall 
regularly review the records and receipts with the Service User

11.4 The Provider shall ensure the Registered Manager reviews and signs off the records as set out in 
11.3 above at least once each and every month.

11.5 The Provider shall maintain adequate insurance to the Authority's reasonable satisfaction such that 
all property and monies belonging to any Service User (including any Service User Contributions 
collected by the Provider or its Staff) are fully insured against loss or damage whilst in the 
possession of the Provider or Staff.

11.6 The Provider shall notwithstanding any outstanding consequential insurance claim by the Provider 
immediately reimburse any Service User in respect of the loss of cash or loss/damage of property 
belonging to any Service User whilst in the possession of the Provider or Staff.

11.7 Where the Authority is acting as an Appointee for the Service User in regard to their finances the 
Provider may be required by the Authority to arrange for the collection of cash to pay for essential 

Page 93



 

30

items which shall be in the Support Plan and all such transactions shall be documented as above.

12 Access to and the Security of Service Users’ Extra Care Apartment/Flat
12.1 When making arrangements for and gaining access to the Service Users’ Apartment/Flat, the 

Provider shall:
12.1.1 Ensure that only Staff specifically authorised to do so enter each and every Service Users' 

Apartment/Flat, and knock before entering unless there is a prior agreement in place to ensure and 
maintain a Service User’s privacy and dignity;

12.1.2 Ensure that Staff do not enter a Service User’s Apartment/Flat when the Service User is absent 
unless by prior written arrangement with the Service User;

12.1.3 Have in place clear written protocols for Staff in relation to their access to and entry into Service 
Users’ Apartment/Flat;

12.1.4 Have and maintain a clear policy and procedure for the security and control of any keys it holds for 
accessing the property of Service Users;

12.1.5 Have and maintain a clear policy and procedure for the security and control of any Key Safe Access 
Codes as set out below.

12.2 Where a Key Safe is provided to manage access to a Service User's Apartment/Flat then:
12.2.1 The Key Safe Access Code shall be held securely by the Provider and only made available to those 

Staff delivering Services to that Service User;
12.2.2 The Key Safe Access Code shall be held by Staff in such a way that the Service User or Service 

User's Apartment/Flat cannot be directly identified;
12.2.3 Should there be a breach or potential breach of security in respect of Key Safe Access Codes, or 

concerns arising in respect of such security (for example but not limited to Staff leaving the 
employment of the Provider), then the Provider shall use their best endeavours to ensure the safety 
and security of Service Users without delay including by way of example but not limited to changing 
one or more Key Safe Access Codes;

12.2.4 A change to a Key Safe Access Code shall be communicated immediately to the Care manager;
12.2.5 A breach or potential breach of security of Key Safe Access Codes shall be communicated without 

delay to the Authority, the Safeguarding Team (or EDT) and where appropriate to the Police.
12.2.6  The Key Safe Access Code shall not be made available to any other individual or company.

13 Managing Behaviour that Challenges Service Delivery
13.1 Providers shall demonstrate an understanding and appreciation about the nature of the difficulties 

some Service Users are facing, which might result in behaviours that are or could be perceived as 
challenging. Providers shall respond reasonably and appropriately by managing these challenges 
through a proactive and supportive approach.

13.2 Staff shall be trained and mentored in managing behaviour that challenges.
13.3 Should the behaviour of a Service User become more than the Provider is able to reasonably 

manage or such behaviours are significantly recurring or likely to endanger the Service User or 
others, the Provider shall make a written Referral to the ASC Practitioner or Authority.

13.4 The relatives and friends of Service Users may also at times be considered to be overly aggressive 
or challenging in voicing their concerns in relation to delivery of Services. Providers shall 

Page 94



 

31

demonstrate an understanding and appreciation of the nature of the difficulties facing Carers and 
shall take all reasonable steps to manage such situations. If the Provider reasonably considers that 
this behaviour is recurrent and is significantly impacting on Service delivery, the Support Plan or 
significantly upon the health and safety of the Service User or Staff then the Provider shall make a 
written Referral to the ASC Practitioner or Authority.

14 Complaints
14.1 The Provider shall maintain a clear and accessible complaints policy and procedure, which must be 

provided to all Service Users when they enter the extra care scheme. The complaints policy and 
procedure must also be provided to the Authority and any other individual upon request and which is 
readily available to Staff and Service Users and in one or more formats that can be understood by 
them.

14.2 The Provider shall take and evidence action to address any complaints and such incidence shall be 
monitored to identify trends. The Provider shall maintain a summary digest of complaints and 
compliments and make this available to the Authority.

14.3 The Provider’s Complaints policy and procedure shall be consistent with the requirements of Health 
and Social Care Act 2008 and the NHS and Community Act 1990, and shall encourage the early 
discussion and resolution of any problems identified by the Providers Staff or Service Users and the 
Provider shall take all reasonable measures to achieve a resolution that is satisfactory to the 
complainant.

15 Contract Performance and Quality Monitoring
15.1 The Authority shall utilise a range of methods and tools to monitor quality as set out in Schedule 

One, Two and Four of the specification. 
15.2 The Provider shall have a service monitoring system, policies, processes and procedures to 

appropriately and effectively support performance monitoring and management of Services.
15.3 The Authority may at their sole discretion share information with Service Users or prospective 

Service Users and their families about the Provider in so far as it related to the provision of services 
in order to assist them to make an informed choice about who will provide their Support Package.

15.4 The Provider shall produce on request by the Authority the evidence that supports the Provider’s 
self-assessment of compliance with the CQC regulations. The Provider shall have available at any 
time for review the appropriate evidence that demonstrates that all of the standards and outcomes 
required are being met to the satisfaction of the Authority.

16 Recruitment, Supervision and Appraisal
16.1 The Provider shall have and maintain suitable policies in respect of Recruitment, Induction, 

Supervision, Appraisal and Personal Development. Providers should demonstrate effective 
approaches to values based recruitment and retention, for example, following the guidance issued 
by Skills for Care “Recruiting for values and behaviours in social care”

16.2 The Provider shall consider where appropriate include service users in the recruitment process. 
16.3 The Provider shall have and follow safe recruitment and employment practices including but not 

limited to ensuring Staff have appropriate DBS, I.D., Right To Work and reference checks (which 
might include a school or college reference Pre-employment. Checks should comply with Schedule 
3 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities Regulations 2014).

16.4 The Provider shall ensure:

Comment [LF3]:  Check location when 
complete

Comment [LF4]:  ICO to check and 
confirm

Page 95



 

32

16.4.1 Upon appointment staff should also have evidenced that they possess the Skills For Care Core 
Skills:

16.4.1.1 English Skills 
16.4.1.2 Digital Skills,
16.4.1.3 Number Skills  
16.4.1.4 Employability Skills
16.4.2 All staff receives induction training.
16.4.3 All Staff including Managers receive regular supervision and appraisals of their competence and 

performance at work. This shall include a regular appraisal of Staff training needs, which will be 
recorded accurately and timely. 

16.4.4 The effective day to day management of Staff to enable reasonable discussion in respect of 
operational issues, Service developments and/or Service changes, which shall include regular and 
recorded Staff meetings

16.4.5 Access to management support is available to all Staff at all times.
16.4.6 Each member of Staff is briefed on each and every Service User as to their Assessed Needs and 

Personalised Outcomes before that member of Staff begins delivery of Services with that Service 
User.

17 Workforce, Learning Development and Training
17.1 The Provider should refer to workforce guidance issued by Skills for Care. The Provider shall ensure 

that:
17.1.1 Staff have the required knowledge, skills, competencies, attitudes and behaviours to deliver 

Services that can meet and exceed the Assessed Needs, Personalised Goals and Outcomes of 
Service Users whilst safeguarding their health, safety and welfare;

17.1.2 Take appropriate steps including additional staff competencies where required to ensure that at all 
times there are sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, skilled and experienced Staff to deliver the 
Services;

17.1.3 Accurate and up to date records of staff training and attendance for training are maintained;
17.1.4 All new Staff complete induction training and assessment in line with the standards outlined in the 

Care Certificate framework within 20 (twenty) weeks of a start date;
17.1.5 Staff who have satisfactorily completed the Care Certificate Framework shall have access to 

ongoing training and assessment in line with national occupational standards;
17.1.6 The provider must refer to the Skills for Care guidance document ‘Ongoing learning and 

Development in Adult Social Care’ in support of continual professional development
17.1.7 Further ongoing learning and development training is refreshed and maintained in respect of the 

following by way of example but not limited to:
17.1.7.1 Gold Standard Framework for End of Life Care;
17.1.7.2 An introduction to the principles, nature and quality standards of the Services;
17.1.7.3 An introduction to the policies, procedures and codes of practice of the Provider;
17.1.7.4 Tissue viability.
17.1.7.5 Safe use of equipment and moving and handling techniques quality

Page 96



 

33

17.1.7.6 General care of the elderly, health impact of growing old 
17.1.7.7 Management and Leadership training
17.1.7.8 Managing Behaviour that Challenges/Challenging Behaviour
17.1.7.9 Confidentiality and information governance 
17.1.7.10 Enablement
17.1.7.11 Community assets – local knowledge of groups, activities, places of interest or where to 

signpost too
17.1.8 Training is provided to all Staff required to operate equipment and/or carry out medication tasks as 

set out in any Support Plan.
17.1.9 A workforce development plan is in place and maintained to support the continuous development 

of Staff.
17.1.10 The Provider will be compliant with the requirements of and contribute to the National Minimum 

Data Set for Social Care (NMDS-SC).

18 Other Important Information
18.1 The Provider will notify the Authority and where appropriate close family and friends as identified by 

the Service User and/or the Council’s Emergency Duty Team and/or the out of hours GP service 
and/or the out of hours District Nursing service and/or any other statutory services involved with the 
person’s care and support without delay when the Provider or Staff become aware of:

18.1.1 The death of a Service User;
18.1.2 The unexplained absence of the Service User from their Extra Care Apartment/Flat. The Provider 

should also consider contacting the Police as a missing person;
18.1.3 Emergencies in the Service User’s Extra Care Apartment/Flat where the emergency services have 

been summoned;
18.1.4 Any significant deterioration in the Service User’s health or condition;
18.1.5 Any significant improvement in a Service User’s health or condition;
18.1.6 Any circumstances where the Provider is refused access to a Service User’s Extra Care 

Apartment/Flat or where the Service User refuses provision of the services.

19 Provider Records and Confidentiality
19.1 The Provider shall maintain and keep safe and secure a Personal File/all personal information for 

each Service User in line with information governance standards. The Personal File will include the 
provider support plan, risk assessments, medication paperwork, a record of care and support 
provided, and advance care plan (if appropriate), a profile of any care worker involved, information 
on the provider including how to contact them and how to make a complaint.

19.2 The Personal File shall be located at each Service User’s home in a place that is agreed by and 
accessible to the Service Users, Service User representatives and the care workers; the Service 
User shall be made aware of the Personal File and its contents and their consent to this record shall 
be obtained, recorded and shared.

19.3 The Provider shall take all reasonable measures ensure that access to the Personal File is 
restricted to the Service User, their appointed representative, those Staff with responsibility for the 
delivery of Services, to the Service User, to relevant service delivery partner organisations and the 

Page 97



 

34

Authority.
19.4 The Personal File shall include but not be limited to:
19.4.1 The Care Plan and personal information provided by the Authority which shall not be removed 

without the written agreement of the Service User and Authority;
19.4.2 The Support Plan;
19.4.3 All activities that relate to the Service User’s Support Plan;
19.4.4 Notes on tasks carried out during each Service Visit which shall include the date, the Start Time, 

departure time and the signature of each member of Staff present.
19.4.5 A timetable showing details of when the Service User’s Service Visits will take place with Start 

Times and Duration of Service Visits clearly stated and regularly maintained;
19.4.6 Emergency arrangements and on-call contact numbers which Service Users may use in the event of 

an emergency, late or missed calls; and
19.4.7 A Service User guide in respect of the Provider, including the name of the care co-ordinator.

Page 98



Schedule One of the Specification  - Standards

A. Purpose

A1 This Annex details the range of standards to which the Provider shall necessarily comply with in the 
delivery of the Services. For ease of understanding and to standardise and maximise efficiency for 
providers, they have been arranged into the broad headings referenced in the CQC Fundamental 
Standards of Quality and Safety but should be read in conjunction with but separate to those regulatory 
requirements:

 Safe - that people are protected from abuse and avoidable harm;

 Effective - that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good outcomes, promotes a good 
quality of life and is evidence-based where possible;

 Caring - that Staff involve and treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect;

 Responsive - that services are organised so that they meet people’s needs;

 Well-led - that the leadership, management and governance of the organisation assures the 
delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and promotes an 
open and fair culture.

A2 The inclusion or exclusion within this Annex of any standards already referred to elsewhere within 
this Agreement shall not be interpreted as a diminishing of their importance.

A3 The Provider shall operate systems and processes that evaluate, monitor and seek continual 
improvements to the values and standards of care provided to the Service User through the delivery of the 
Services.

A4 The Provider shall evidence that Service User’s wishes regarding their personal care are respected, 
and risks relating to the provision of care shall be managed subject to the consent of the Service User, 
where possible in regard to the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards.

A5 Where the term ‘Service User’ is referred to throughout this Agreement, this shall also refer to the 
Service User’s representative and/or family members as appropriate having regard to the Service User’s 
preferences, consent and capacity.

A6 Where the Service User is determined not to have Capacity to manage one or more aspects of their 
life the Provider shall make all appropriate arrangements to ensure that the Responsible Person or other 
nominated individual(s) is involved in such decisions on behalf of the Service User.

B. Performance

B1 In defining these standards, a measure of the quality of the Services to be delivered is agreed 
between the parties providing a clear focus for reviewing the performance of the Provider.

B2 The Provider shall meet the standards set out in this Agreement and the Commissioner shall at all 
times reserve the right to exercise its powers within this Agreement in the event of the Provider breaching 
such standards.

B3 Quality assurance – The Provider shall maintain a robust quality system to assure the satisfactory 
quality of the Services.

Page 99



 

36

B4 Quality audits – The Provider shall maintain a regular and consistent audit of the quality of care 
provided through the delivery of the Services (including for example, admission to hospital, falls, accidents, 
incidents, medicine administration, compliance with regulatory requirements, Support Plans, etc.).

B5 Enforcement proceedings – whether instigated by the Regulator or any public sector 
Commissioning Authority, the Provider shall supply a copy of the proceedings to the Commissioner within 5 
(five) working days including an action plan to detail remedial actions and associated timescales.

B6 Providers shall deliver:

a) The best support service possible.
b) Support that improves the lives of Service Users’.
c) Services that ensure Service Users can make their own choices about their support.
d) Services that ensure that Service Users are listened to.
e) Support that allows a Service User to die in a setting of their choosing.

B7 Following their Assessment, Service Users shall be supported to make their own choices to receive 
support in a way and at a time of their choosing and to achieve agreed outcomes. Providers shall work with 
Service Users and the Commissioners to deliver Support Plans that are:

a) Personalised
b) Asset based
c) Clear
d) Set goals
e) Enabling
f) Outcome focused
g) Measurable
h) Service User driven
i) Flexible
j) Timely
k) Achievable

B8 Staff shall:

a) Respect the Service User's Extra Care home environment;
b) Not consume alcohol prior to or during the delivery of Services;
c) Not smoke (including using e-cigarettes) on the premises of a Service User;

Page 100



C. Standards and Outcomes

Safe

By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse and avoidable harm. 

In community care this means that people are supported to make choices and take risks and are 
protected from physical, psychological and emotional harm, abuse, discrimination and neglect.

S1 I am protected from bullying, harassment, avoidable harm and abuse that may breach my 
human rights

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
People are protected from abuse 
and avoidable harm, including 
breaches of their dignity and 
respect, which can result in 
psychological harm.

People are protected from 
discrimination, which might 
amount to discriminatory abuse or 
cause psychological harm. This 
includes discrimination on the 
grounds of age, disability, gender, 
gender identity, race, religion, 
belief or sexual orientation.

People are supported to 
understand what keeping safe 
means, and how are they 
encouraged to raise any concerns 
they may have about this.

Planning: Review the details of statutory notifications for safeguarding, 
incidents and concerns/complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From Healthwatch, nursing staff, social workers or 
the local safeguarding team. 

Talking to people: Ask if they feel safe and if they feel they are 
discriminated against. Explore whether they know what keeping safe 
means and whether they are encouraged to raise concerns. 

Observation: During home visits, if possible and appropriate, observe how 
staff interact with people, including using non-verbal feedback. Consider 
overt discrimination and people’s dignity, identity etc. and how this may be 
compromised. How do staff support people whose behaviour challenges, 
for example, people living with dementia? This could be staff not taking a 
person-centred approach to people’s individual behaviour pattern to them 
demonstrating and putting into practice positive actions when dealing with 
difficult situations that could potentially cause harm or compromise people’s 
safety.

Talking to staff: Ask how they keep people safe and avoid discrimination. 
Find out whether they have had training on equality and diversity, and if 
they understood it and know how to put it into practice. Do they understand 
and use policies and procedures or professional guidance? Talking to staff 
can also help to provide evidence about safeguarding and discrimination. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you can look at people’s 
risk assessments and individual care records, including safeguarding 
records, accident and incident reports, staff handover records, quality 
assurance audits for safety and, where appropriate, any regional or national 
risk management reports and action plans. If you need to corroborate your 
evidence further, you could review a range of policies and procedures.

Page 101



S2 How are risks to individuals and the service managed so that people are protected and their freedom 
is supported and respected? 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
What arrangements are there for 
managing risk appropriately, and 
to make sure that people are 
involved in decisions about any 
risks they may take? 

Are risk management policies and 
procedures followed to minimise 
restrictions on people’s freedom, 
choice and control? 

Are formal and informal methods 
used to share information on risks 
to people’s care, treatment and 
support? 

Are there plans for responding to 
any emergencies or untoward 
events, and are these understood 
by all staff? 

How are risks at service level 
identified and managed? And, 
where appropriate, how are risks 
to the structure of a service 
regional and national level 
anticipated? 

Are investigations into 
whistleblowing or staff concerns, 
safeguarding, and accidents or 
incidents thorough, questioning 
and objective? Are action plans 
developed, and are they 
monitored to make sure they are 
delivered? 

What arrangements are there for 
continually reviewing 
safeguarding concerns, accidents, 
incidents and pressure ulcers, to 
make sure that themes are 
identified and any necessary 
action taken? 

Where the service is responsible, 
how is equipment managed to 
keep people safe? 

What arrangements are there to 
assess and manage risks 
associated with the environment? 

Planning: Review the details of accidents and incidents, statutory 
notifications and, if appropriate, any concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: District nurses, specialist learning disability teams, 
community psychiatric nurses, social workers and falls prevention teams 
may be able to provide evidence. 

Talking to people: People feel that the risks associated with their care and 
support are managed positively and appropriately and they can make 
choices and feel in control. We should also explore whether they feel their 
freedom is unnecessarily restricted and whether they have the freedom to 
make mistakes, based on informed choice. This may also include talking to 
their relatives, friends or advocates. Ask people their views about their 
security, safety of possessions and any equipment in relation to safety. 
Relatives and friends may also provide evidence. 

Observation: Through spending time with people in their own homes, you 
may be able to observe evidence during your discussions with people on 
how well risks are managed. Look around for hazard prevention and 
security, taking into account the specialist needs of the person living there. 
Is all the equipment suitable for its purpose? Also, where possible, observe 
the way staff work with people, for example, when moving them with the aid 
of a hoist. 

Talking to staff: Ask staff about their understanding of risk management, 
how they identify hazards and deal with emergencies, including how they 
support people to stay safe in their own homes, while minimising 
restrictions on their freedom. What do they understand about people being 
able to make decisions in some areas of their lives but not others, and what 
is their approach to assuming people have the ability to retain control of 
their lives. Also, ask staff how they communicate and manage risks to 
enable people to be involved safely in the local community and whether 
they have had training in the use of equipment and risk assessment 
systems. 

Where appropriate, you can discuss any investigations following 
whistleblowing or when staff have raised concerns. Also discuss how the 
service learns from accidents and incidents etc. and how they monitor 
these on an ongoing basis and use the data to inform practice. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence you may look at people’s 
risk assessments/individual care files, accident and incident reports, 
including ongoing monitoring and records of investigations into 
safeguarding or accidents and incidents. Quality assurance audits, 
environmental risk assessments and where appropriate any regional or 
national risk management reports and action plans may also be of value. If 
you wish to corroborate your evidence further, you could review any 
maintenance certificates for equipment the service is responsible for and a 
range of policies and procedures. 

Page 102



 

39

S3 How does the service make sure that there are sufficient numbers of suitable staff to keep people 
safe and meet their needs? 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
How are staffing levels assessed 
and monitored to make sure they 
are flexible and sufficient to meet 
people’s individual needs and to 
keep them safe? 

What arrangements are there for 
making sure that staff have the 
right mix of skills, competencies, 
qualifications, experience and 
knowledge, to meet people’s 
individual needs? 

How does the service make sure 
safe recruitment practices are 
followed? 

Does the service follow clear staff 
disciplinary procedures when it 
identifies that staff are responsible 
for unsafe practice? 

How does the service make sure 
that there are enough staff 
working in the right place, at the 
right time? 

Planning: Review the details of enquiries, including compliments, concerns 
and complaints, and if available, share your experience forms. 

Gathering feedback: From any visiting nursing staff, doctors, social 
workers, the local safeguarding team, commissioners, Healthwatch or 
people and their relatives or friends who have already commented. 

Talking to people: Ask how staffing affects their day-to-day lives – for 
example, their safety and care management in both a positive or negative 
way, including late and missed calls. This may also include talking to their 
relatives and/or friends, advocates and any visiting professionals on the 
day of the home visit. 

Talking to staff: Talk to a range of staff to hear their views on the staffing 
at the service, including how shifts are covered, particularly at weekends 
and night time. How are staffing levels maintained or increased at busy 
times, covering sickness, different areas of the service and the different 
needs of the people they care and support? How are agencies used? What 
recruitment processes were followed? 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, if you have concerns that 
there may be breach of regulations, you may also wish to look at people’s 
risk assessments/individual care files, staffing level assessment systems, 
staff rotas over time, agency records, minutes of meetings, internal quality 
assurance feedback, quality assurance records on patterns/timings of late 
and missed calls. Staff files for recruitment and staff disciplinary procedures 
and should you need to corroborate evidence, policies and procedures.

Page 103



 

40

S4 My medicines are managed so that I receive them safely 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
current and relevant professional 
guidance about the management 
and review of medicines is 
followed

people receive their medicines as 
prescribed (including controlled 
drugs)

medicines are stored, given to 
people and disposed of safely, in 
line with current and relevant 
regulations and guidance 

there are clear procedures for 
giving medicines, in line with the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 

service make sure that people’s 
behaviour is not controlled by 
excessive or inappropriate use of 
medicines

people are supported to take their 
own medicines safely 

guidance is given to staff about 
unlicensed medicines that people 
may choose to use 

Planning: Review the details of statutory notifications of incidents, 
concerns and complaints. Share your experience forms may also provide 
evidence. 

Gathering feedback: Community nursing staff may be able to provide 
evidence on how well services manage medicines. 

Talking to people: Where the service supports them, ask people if they 
are satisfied that their medicines are managed correctly. Do they get them 
on time, understand what they are for and have access to pain relieving 
medicines when needed? Where possible, talk to people about taking their 
own medicines. 

Observation: During home visits, where possible, check to see people 
receive their medicines safely and at the time they should. Are they able to 
take them easily, and are they supported appropriately? Where the service 
is responsible, also look proportionately whether medicines are stored, 
administered and disposed of safely and, if there are concerns of a breach 
of regulations, you may wish to explore this further. 

Talking to staff: Ask staff what they understand about the safe storage, 
administration and management of medicines, and their side effects. 
Discuss their training/competencies and the use of their own policies and 
procedures. Discuss individuals’ needs with regard to medicines, self-
medication, risk and how they address people’s complex needs.

Reviewing records: To support the evidence you may also wish to look at 
people’s risk assessments/support plans, medication reviews/records, best 
interest decisions and staff competency records. Quality audits of 
medication and checks both internal and external, and action plans can 
also be of value. 

If you need to corroborate your evidence further, you could review a range 
of policies and procedures, including administration of specialist medicines, 
covert medicines and homely remedies. 

Page 104



 

41

S5 I am protected through the prevention and control of infection 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
arrangements are in place for 
making sure that people are 
protected from acquired infections

staff understand their roles and 
responsibilities in relation to 
infection control and hygiene

the service maintains and follows 
policies and procedures in line 
with current relevant national 
guidance

where it is part of their role, the 
service makes sure they alert the 
right external agencies to 
concerns that affect people’s 
health and wellbeing

Planning: Review the details of statutory notifications of incidents and any 
concerns and complaints. 

Gathering feedback: Community infection control nurses may provide 
evidence of good practice and appropriate contact from the service. 

Talking to people: Where appropriate, ask people if staff support them 
properly and as they wish with hygiene and cleanliness, and find out 
whether staff use the right protective clothing. Also ask relatives and friends 
who may have views. 

Talking to staff: What do they understand about their role in relation to the 
prevention and control of infection and the use of associated policies and 
procedures. Discuss communication between staff on infection risks.

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, if you have concerns that 
there is a breach of the regulations, you may also wish to look at people’s 
risk assessments/care plans and any quality assurance audits/action plans 
in place. To corroborate your evidence you may wish to review policies and 
procedures. 

Page 105



 

42

Effective

By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieve good outcomes, promote a good 
quality of life and are evidence-based where possible 

In community care, this means that people are supported to live their lives in the way that they choose 
and experience the best possible health and quality of life outcomes. 

E1 I receive effective care, which is based on best practice, from staff who have the 
knowledge and skills they need to carry out their roles and responsibilities

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people are supported to have 
their assessed needs, 
preferences and choices met by 
staff with the right skills and 
knowledge

the service makes sure that 
people are well matched with 
staff, to make sure they are 
compatible

staff have effective support, 
induction, supervision, appraisal 
and training

the service has links with 
organisations that provide sector-
specific guidance and training 
linked to best practice in 
leadership and the delivery of 
care

staff have the skills to 
communicate effectively so that 
they can carry out their roles and 
responsibilities

there are up-to-date plans to 
develop staff knowledge and skills

Planning: If available, review the details of any share your experience 
forms, compliments and complaints. Review the statement of purpose to 
see if specialist training for staff is needed. 

Gathering feedback: From visiting healthcare professionals, including 
nurses, doctors and dieticians, commissioning bodies, training 
consortiums and organisations such as Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives about their 
experiences and views on whether staff are sufficiently skilled and 
experienced to care and support them to have a good quality of life. Also 
discuss whether people feel that they are well matched with the staff that 
care for them. 

Observation: Where possible on home visits, look for practice that 
indicates staff have the skills to meet people’s individual needs, or any 
areas for improvement/staff development. 

Talking to staff: Discuss their induction, support and training and 
whether they feel this enabled them to care and support people effectively 
when they started work and on an ongoing basis. Discuss any links they 
have with other providers or organisations to learn about and implement 
current best practice. 

Explore with staff how they are supported to receive additional training to 
meet the specific needs of people they care for, such as those living with 
dementia, Parkinson’s disease or diabetes. Also speak to volunteers 
where appropriate. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may wish to review 
staff training and development plans, induction and training 
records/certificates and staff files. 

Page 106



 

43

E2 My consent to care and treatment is always sought in line with legislation and guidance
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
staff understand the relevant 
requirements of the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005

staff understand how and when a 
person’s mental capacity to consent 
to care or treatment is assessed and, 
where appropriate, recorded

When people lack the mental 
capacity to make decisions, staff 
make best interest decisions in line 
with legislation

Planning: Review the details of statutory notifications for safeguarding, 
deprivation of liberty and incidents of restraint and concerns/complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From Court of Protection, specialist nursing staff 
or the local safeguarding team. 

Talking to people: Ask people how and when the staff seek their 
consent and involve them in decisions about their mental capacity. Do 
people understand why decisions have been made and that they should 
be involved, as far as they are able? For example, find out about any 
decisions about how any behaviour that challenges is managed and the 
use of restraint. 

Observation: If possible, see how people are supported to make 
decisions (e.g., through picture cards or easy read information). Spend 
time observing how staff interact with people, and take account of their 
mental capacity and 

their ability to consent. This could cover placing restrictions on people 
(for example people living with dementia), to staff dealing positively with 
people when dealing with difficult situations that could potentially cause 
harm. You may need to explore behaviours or interactions you observe 
(such as staff supporting people whose behaviour challenges) in order to 
understand them and make a decision about whether they are 
appropriate. 

Talking to staff: About whether they have had training on the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 and associated codes of practice and the safe use of 
restraint. Ask if they can give examples of putting this into practice and 
whether they understand what appropriate methods of restraint are and 
if they use policies and procedures or professional guidance. Explore 
with staff how they help people make decisions before they lose 
capacity, for example if they are living with dementia. When discussing 
the use of restraint, remember that it does not only relate to people with 
a learning disability. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you can look at people’s 
risk assessments and individual care records, including safeguarding 
records, assessments of behaviour, accident and incident reports and 
the management of ‘Do not attempt resuscitation’ orders. Care 
management audits and, where appropriate, any regional or national 
reports and action plans may also be of value. If you need to corroborate 
your evidence further you could review a range of policies and 
procedures.

Page 107



 

44

E3 I am supported to eat and drink enough and maintain a balanced diet 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people supported to have enough 
to eat and drink

meals are appropriately spaced 
and flexible to meet people’s 
needs

people are supported to have a 
balanced diet that promotes 
healthy eating

people are involved in decisions 
about what they eat and drink

the service identifies risks to 
people with complex needs in 
relation to their eating and 
drinking

people’s nutritional needs, 
including those relating to culture 
and religion are identified, 
monitored and managed

arrangements are in place for 
people to have access to dietary 
and nutritional specialists to help 
meet their assessed needs

food is served at the correct 
temperature and do people enjoy 
mealtimes and not feel rushed 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From community dieticians and nursing staff, GPs, 
commissioning bodies and organisations such as Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Where appropriate, ask people and/or their relatives 
and friends for their views and experiences of the food and mealtimes. This 
should include whether the staff support them effectively, and whether their 
needs and preferences are met throughout the day and night. 

Talking to staff: Ask them about their understanding of the care and 
support people need in their own homes, to make sure they have enough to 
eat and drink. Discuss specialist diets and people at risk, including those 
living with dementia, and how risks are communicated. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may wish to review 
people’s individual care records, food and fluid intake charts, nutrition, 
hydration and swallowing assessments, risk assessments and, where 
appropriate, weight management records.

Page 108



 

45

E4 I am supported to maintain good health, have access to healthcare services and receive 
ongoing healthcare support 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people’s day-to-day health needs 
are met

the service makes sure that 
people have information and 
explanations that they understand 
about their healthcare and 
treatment options and their likely 
outcomes

people are involved in regularly 
monitoring their health. Any 
changes that may require 
additional support or intervention 
are discussed with them?

referrals are made quickly to 
relevant health services when 
people’s needs change 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms and 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From community/specialist-nursing, including tissue 
viability nurses, and healthcare staff, GPs, commissioning bodies and 
organisations such as Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives their views and 
experiences about how well staff support them with any healthcare support 
they need. This should include whether they get to see the nurse, doctor or 
other healthcare professional quickly, if the service is involved. 

Talking to staff: What do they understand about the individual care and 
support people living at home need in relation to their health. Discuss their 
observations and understanding on how changes in behaviour may indicate 
changes in people’s health and wellbeing. Discuss, where appropriate, how 
often people get urinary tract infections, how pressure ulcers are prevented 
and how wounds are managed. Also, find out how any concerns about 
people’s health are communicated to other professionals. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, review people’s individual 
care records, including, health appointments, related staff handover 
records, and where appropriate, tissue viability/wound management plans, 
health action plans and look at any information available to people on 
matters affecting their health.

Page 109



 

46

Caring 

By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect. 

In community care, this means that people, their families and carers experience care that is empowering 
and provided by staff who treat people with dignity, respect and compassion. 

C1 I have positive caring relationships with services 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people are treated with kindness 
and compassion in their day-to-
day care

people’s needs in respect of their 
age, disability, gender, gender 
identity, race, religion or belief 
and sexual orientation are 
understood by the staff and met in 
a caring way

the service makes sure that 
people feel they matter, and that 
staff listen to them and talk to 
them appropriately and in a way 
they can understand

staff know the people they are 
caring for and supporting, 
including their preferences and 
personal histories

staff show concern for people’s 
wellbeing in a caring and 
meaningful way, and do they 
respond to their needs quickly 
enough

practical action is taken to relieve 
people’s distress or discomfort 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms and 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives and any visiting professionals, 
including Healthwatch and commissioners. 

Talking to people: Ask people and their relatives how they feel about the 
caring approach of staff. This should include whether people’s diversity, 
staff’s speed of response, staffing availability or consistency of staff affects 
this. 

Observation: Where possible, spend time to see and hear how people and 
staff interact with each other and whether this is meaningful or just task-led. 

Talking to staff: Discuss how well they know the people they support to 
see whether they have a caring, person-centred approach, or one that is 
primarily task-led. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, you may wish to look at 
people’s individual care files to see if the approach is caring and person-
centred and how staff deal with the things that matter to people, however 
small.

Page 110



 

47

C2 I am supported to express my views and I am actively involved in making decisions about 
my care, treatment and support 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
arrangements are in place to 
make sure that, where they are 
able to, people are involved in 
making decisions and planning 
their own care, that they feel 
listened to, respected and have 
their views are acted upon 

people are given information and 
explanations they need, at the 
time they need them

people told about advocacy 
services that are able to speak up 
on their behalf and are supported 
to access these services 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: Advocacy staff and relatives may provide a valuable 
insight. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends for their 
views and experience on how they have been involved and supported in 
planning and making decisions about their care and treatment. Find out 
whether they are given explanations when they need them and in a way 
that they understand. Ask people and/or their relatives for their views and 
experience of communication from the service. This should include 
specialist methods of communication, for example, for people with a 
learning disability, a sensory impairment or dementia. 

Observation: Where possible, observe how staff and people interact with 
each other, and listen to the decision-making process to see if people are 
actively involved and given choice and independence. This can be simple 
day-to-day decisions, like when a person may wish to go to the toilet, or 
how, where appropriate, they are involved in day-to-day chores. 

Talking to staff: To determine whether they understand and put into 
practice effective ways of supporting people to exercise choice, 
independence and control, wherever possible. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may wish to review 
people’s individual care files, including records of advocacy visits and 
quality assurance feedback results. Review the use of communication 
passports, PECs (Picture exchange communication systems), objects of 
reference, talking mats, pictures, and electronic communicators. 

Page 111



 

48

C3 My privacy and dignity is respected and promoted 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people are assured that 
information about them is treated 
confidentially and respected by 
staff

people have the privacy they 
need

people are treated with dignity 
and respect at all times

people can be as independent as 
they want to be

staff understand and promote 
respectful and compassionate 
behaviour within the staff team

people’s relatives and friends able 
to visit without being 
unnecessarily restricted

the service makes sure that staff 
understand how to respect 
people’s privacy, dignity and 
human rights

arrangements are in place for 
making sure that the body of a 
person who has died is cared for 
in a culturally sensitive and 
dignified way

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives, commissioners and Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives for their views and 
experiences on how privacy and dignity is maintained and how their 
possessions are kept secure when being supported by the service. Also 
ask them how they are supported to stay independent. 

Observation: Observe, where appropriate, to see if staff offer people 
privacy, maintain their dignity and promote independence. 

Talking to staff: Discuss how they support people with their privacy, 
dignity and confidentiality. Also explore examples of how they promote 
people’s independence. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, you may wish to review 
people’s individual care files and training records/training content. If you 
need to corroborate your evidence further you can review a range of 
associated policies and procedures and check data management. 

Page 112



 

49

C4 I am supported at the end of my life to have a comfortable, dignified and pain free death 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people’s preferences and choices 
for their end of life care are clearly 
recorded, communicated, kept 
under review and acted on

people, and those that matter to 
them, are involved in the 
planning, decision making and 
management of their end of life 
care

people are supported to make 
advance decisions to refuse 
treatment or appoint someone 
with lasting powers of attorney, if 
they wish to do so

the service makes sure that 
people who have living wills, or 
advanced directives, have these 
taken into account by staff. 

people are supported to access 
specialist palliative care 
professionals

the service makes sure that staff 
know how to manage, respect 
and follow people’s choices and 
wishes for their end of life care as 
their needs change

people have the equipment they 
need to meet their end of life care 
needs 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms and 
compliments and concerns or concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From visiting professional such as GPs, end of life 
nurse specialists, LD teams, mental health teams, district nurses, relatives 
and friends, commissioners and Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends for their 
views and experience of end of life care. This should include good practice, 
decision making, choice and control, access to specialist support and 
where appropriate, equipment and symptom management. 

Talking to staff: To find out their approach to end of life care, their 
understanding of people’s individual needs at this time and any training 
they have attended and how they put this into practice. Where the service 
is responsible, discuss resources and the supply of any specialist 
equipment and the arrangements for reviewing and communicating 
people’s, often rapidly, changing care needs. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, review people’s individual 
care files, including any advanced care plans or directives and training 
records/training content. Also, look at any accreditation schemes that the 
service takes part in and how these are put into practice at the service. 

Should you need to corroborate your evidence, if you have concerns, you 
can review a range of associated policies and procedures.

Page 113



 

50

Responsive

By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s needs. 

In community care this means that people get the care they need, are listened to and have their rights and 
diverse circumstances respected. 

R1 I receive personalised care that is responsive to me needs? 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people or, where appropriate, 
those acting on their behalf, 
contribute to the assessment and 
planning of their care, as much as 
they are able to

the service makes sure people’s 
views about their strengths and 
levels of independence and health 
and what their quality of life 
should be, are taken into account

people are supported to have 
care plans that reflects how they 
would like to receive their care, 
treatment and support? These 
should include their personal 
history, individual preferences, 
interests and aspirations, and 
should make sure they have as 
much choice and control as 
possible

people are supported to follow 
their interests and take part in 
social activities and, where 
appropriate, education and work 
opportunities? 

people are encouraged and 
supported to develop and 
maintain relationships with people 
that matter to them and avoid 
social isolation 

arrangements are in place for 
people to have their individual 
needs regularly assessed, 
recorded and reviewed

people are given the care and 
support they need, in terms of 
their age, disability, gender, 
gender identity, race, religion, 
belief or sexual orientation

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms and 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From visiting professionals, including specialist 
learning disability teams, mental health teams or social care, 
commissioners, Healthwatch, staff, relatives and friends. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives for their views and 
experiences of person-centred care including the choice, with regard to 
gender, of who provides their personal care. This should include how much 
they are asked for their views, given choice and control, get the right care, 
treatment and support when they need it, have their diversity and/or 
disabilities taken into account and have access to information. 

Observation: Where possible, on home visits, see how people are 
provided with person-centred care – whether the routine is person-centred 
or task-led, whether their diversity is understood and managed to suit 
people’s needs and if they get the individual care, treatment and support 
they need when they need it. 

Talking to staff: Find out what they understand about person-centred care 
and how this is put into practice. Discuss person-centred routines and 
social isolation. You should discuss what arrangements there are to meet 
people’s spiritual, religious or ethical requirements. Discuss whether rotas 
are flexible enough to provide person-centred care.

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, review people’s individual 
care files/activity records in detail as this can give evidence across a range 
of KLOEs. Where appropriate, include specialist care and support 
assessments; for example, for people living with dementia or a learning 
disability. Look at any accreditation schemes that the service takes part in 
and how these are actively put into practice. 

Page 114



 

51

the service makes sure that 
people with mental health 
conditions and physical, sensory 
or learning disabilities have 
reasonable adjustments made, 
following the requirements of 
relevant legislation, to make sure 
they receive the support they 
need to stay independent

people’s care plans are used to 
make sure that they receive care 
that is centred on them as an 
individual, and is the planned care 
provided to them when and where 
they need it

the service makes sure that 
people have the time they need to 
receive their care in a person-
centred way? 

Page 115



 

52

R2 My experiences, concerns and complaints are routinely listened to and learned from
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people’s concerns and complaints 
are encouraged, explored and 
responded to in good time

people know how to share their 
experiences or raise a concern or 
complaint, and feel comfortable 
doing so

arrangements are in place to 
encourage relatives and friends to 
provide feedback

arrangements are in place to 
make sure that information and 
concerns received about the 
quality of care are investigated 
thoroughly and recorded. The 
service will show the difference 
this has made to how care, 
treatment and support is delivered

concerns and complaints are 
used as an opportunity for 
learning or improvement

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, and 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From people or relatives and friends who have raised 
concerns, commissioners, and Healthwatch. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends their views 
and experiences on how any concerns and complaints have been 
managed. You should explore whether people feel that they were 
responded to properly and whether anything has changed in light of the 
matter raised. You should check whether people know how to raise a 
concern or complaint and whether they feel comfortable doing this. 

Talking to staff: To determine how they view and manage concerns and 
complaints. Explore with them how improvements have been made or 
changes to practice implemented as a result of complaints or concerns. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, you may wish to review 
concerns/complaints management systems, records of investigations and 
the response provided and associated action plans, minutes of meetings or 
associated quality assurance data. Should you need to corroborate your 
evidence, you could review the complaints procedure and its accessibility.

Page 116



 

53

R3 I will receive consistent coordinated, person-centred care when I use, or move between, 
different services? 

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people’s needs, wishes and 
choices are recognised, 
respected and shared when they 
move between services

people receive consistent, 
planned, coordinated care and 
support when they use or move 
between different services making 
sure that their individual 
preferences and needs continue 
to be met

arrangements are in place for 
making sure that when people 
move between services, or 
receive services from more than 
one provider, they understand 
who to contact about each aspect 
of their care

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives, friends, visiting professionals and 
commissioners. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends their views 
and experiences on how well their care and support is managed, if the 
service is responsible, when they access other services, such as attending 
hospital. This should include choice and control and the consistency of their 
care. Where appropriate, speak to people who have moved from children’s 
into adult services. 

Talking to staff: To understand how they plan and manage the transition 
between services, for example hospital admissions, appointments and 
permanent moves from the service. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may wish to review 
people’s individual care files and transfer information, especially for people 
with a sensory impairment, learning disability or dementia.

Page 117



 

54

Well-led

By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the organisation assure the 
delivery of high-quality, person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and promotes an open and 
fair culture. 

In community care, this means that management and leadership encourage and deliver an open, fair, 
transparent, supporting and challenging culture at all levels. 

W1 I will experience a positive culture that is person-centred, open, inclusive and empowering 
from my service

Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
people and staff are actively 
involved in developing the service

there is an emphasis on support, 
fairness, transparency and an 
open culture

there are strong links with the 
local community

staff are supported to question 
practice

people who raise concerns, 
including whistle-blowers, are 
protected

the service has a clear and up-to-
date vision and a set of values 
that includes involvement, 
compassion, dignity, 
independence, respect, equality 
and safety. And that these are 
understood and promoted by all 
staff

managers are aware of, and keep 
under review, the day-to-day 
culture in the service, including 
the attitudes, values and 
behaviour of staff 

the service enables and 
encourages open communication 
with people who use the service, 
those that matter to them and 
staff

there are accessible, tailored and 
inclusive ways of communicating 
with people, staff and other key 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. Reviewing evidence from other 
KLOEs may provide supporting evidence about the culture of the service. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives, commissioners, Healthwatch, other 
professionals and staff. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends for their 
views and experiences on the culture and communication from the service. 
Discuss involvement, openness and transparency. If they have raised 
safeguarding concerns or have been involved in an accident relating to 
care and support from the service, seek their views on how these matters 
were managed and how involved they were in the investigation. 

Observation: Where possible, spend time to see how people are referred 
to by staff and whether it is appropriate. Observe how staff interact with 
each other, and also how they speak to and involve people. 

Talking to staff: To determine their understanding of the vision and values 
of the service and how these are developed, discussed and put into 
practice. You should also discuss the culture of the service and find out 
whether staff understand how to raise concerns or whistle blow, and feel 
able to do so. 

Include the approach taken to achieve this and explore openness, 
transparency, and any examples given. Explore how communication works 
in the service; whether it is open and transparent and whether feedback is 
constructive and motivating. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may wish to review the 
current vision and values of the service, if the service has them recorded, 
and minutes of meetings. You may also wish to review people’s individual 
care files and staff supervision records, spot checks and appraisal records. 
Should you need to corroborate your evidence, you could review 
associated policies and procedures. 

Page 118



 

55

stakeholders

there is honesty and 
transparency, from all levels of 
staff and management, when 
mistakes occur

staff receive feedback from 
managers in a constructive and 
motivating way that means they 
know what action they need to 
take

Page 119



 

56

W2 My service will be well-led and managed 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
leadership is visible at all levels 
and inspires staff to provide a 
quality service

where required, there is a 
registered manager in post

the registered manager 
understands their responsibilities, 
and are supported, where 
appropriate, by the provider to 
deliver what is required

CQC registration requirements, 
including the submission of 
notifications and any other legal 
obligations, are met

all other conditions of registration 
are met

managers and staff have a shared 
understanding of the key 
challenges, achievements, 
concerns and risks

resources and support are 
available to develop the team and 
drive improvement

he service makes sure that staff 
are supported, have their rights 
and wellbeing protected and are 
motivated, caring and open

the service makes sure that 
responsibility and accountability is 
understood at all levels

staff know and understand what is 
expected of them

there are clear and transparent 
processes in place for staff to 
account for their decisions, 
actions, behaviours and 
performance

where appropriate to the type of 
organisation, the board and 
managers know about, and take 
responsibility for, things that 
happen in the service 

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. Check any registration 
requirements and notifications of accidents/incidents and any associated 
enquires. Review safeguarding enquiries and any action plans held on 
CRM and review whether statutory notifications are being submitted in 
the appropriate way for the type of service you are inspecting. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives, commissioners, Healthwatch and 
visiting professionals. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends for their 
views and experiences about the way the service is managed, whether 
they think sufficient resources are available to help drive improvement, 
and how well staff understand and carry out their responsibilities.

Talking to staff: Ask care staff and managers for their views on the 
management and leadership at the service. This should include key 
challenges, achievements, concerns and risks and the resources 
available to drive improvement. Explore their understanding of their 
individual roles and responsibilities. This should include accountability 
and the processes in place to manage this. With senior staff, discuss 
responsibility and accountability within the service and the systems used 
to manage decision making, behaviours and performance. Where 
required, if there is no registered manager in post, discuss with the 
provider what action has been taken to resolve this. Ask staff whether 
they feel supported in the absence of the registered manager. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, you may wish to review 
minutes of meetings, statutory notification systems, staff supervision, 
disciplinary and appraisal records, and where appropriate, board 
meeting minutes and business plans. Also look at any accreditation 
schemes that the service takes part in and find out how these are put 
into practice. To corroborate your evidence, you may wish to look at 
associated policies and procedures, the vision and values of the service, 
and if appropriate, the staff handbook and job descriptions.

Page 120



 

57

W3 My service will deliver high quality care 
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
the service makes sure that their 
approach to quality is integral and 
all staff are aware of potential 
risks that may compromise quality

quality assurance and (where 
appropriate) governance and 
clinical governance systems are 
effective, and are used to drive 
continuous improvement

the service makes sure they have 
robust records and data 
management systems

innovation is recognised, 
encouraged and implemented in 
order to drive a high quality 
service

information from investigations 
and compliments is used to drive 
quality across the service

the service measures and reviews 
the delivery of care, treatment and 
support against current guidance

Planning: Review the details of any share your experience forms, 
compliments and concerns or complaints. 

Gathering feedback: From relatives, commissioners, Healthwatch and 
other professionals. 

Talking to people: Ask people and/or their relatives and friends what 
involvement they have had in quality assurance feedback and whether 
or not this was used to improve practice and the overall service 
provided. 

Talking to staff: Explore with staff their understanding of how to provide 
a quality service, and how quality assurance helps drive improvement. 
You should also discuss how innovation is encouraged, recognised and 
put into practice. 

Reviewing records: To support the evidence, you may wish to review 
quality assurance systems/audits and any associated action plans, 
minutes of meetings and compliments. Explore any quality based 
accreditation schemes that the service takes part in and how these are 
actively put into practice. Should you need to corroborate your evidence, 
you could review associated policies and procedures and staff reward 
schemes. 

Page 121



 

58

W4 My service works in partnership with other agencies in pursuit of excellence
Prompts Potential Sources of Evidence
the service works in partnership 
with key organisations, including 
the integrated care organisation, 
local authority, safeguarding team 
and the clinical commissioning 
group, to support care provision, 
service development and joined-
up care

Planning: In CRM review the details of concerns or complaints to 
see whether they indicate a breakdown in working relationships. 

Gathering feedback: From commissioners, Healthwatch, training 
consortiums/organisations and other health and social professionals. 

Talking to staff: Explore examples of how they work in partnership 
with other organisations. 

Reviewing records: To support your evidence, you may also wish to 
look at any relevant schemes that the service takes part in and how 
these are actively put into practice. 

Shared Lives: Check how the service and individual Shared Lives 
carers link in and engage with other similar schemes or networks.

Page 122



 

59

Schedule Two of the Specification - Service monitoring and reports Comment [LS5]:  Section needs to be 
worked through by ICO

Page 123



 

60

Schedule Three of the Specification  - Quality Monitoring

 

Comment [LF6]:  ICO to review 

Page 124



 

61

Schedule Four of the Specification - Medication Management Standards

Medicines Management Standards

The provider must have medication policies and procedures in place which adhere to the principles outlined 
by the Salford good practice guidance: The Safe Handling of Medicines in Extra Care, and those that are 
detailed in:

 NICE NG67: Managing medicines for adults receiving social care in the community 
 Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014.

Providers should also be aware to act in accordance with the following guidance and legislation listed 
below:

 Medicines Act 1968
 Misuse of Drugs Act 1971
 Nursing and Midwifery Council Guidelines for the Administration of Medicines
 Mental Capacity Act 2006 and Code of Practice
 Royal Pharmaceutical Society : The Handling of Medicines in Social Care 2007
 The Human Medicines Regulations 2012
 The Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012

Medication Training

Any member of staff administering medication to service users must be deemed competent to do so by 
means of a comprehensive training programme and an annual competency assessment which meets 
standards defined by Salford guidance.

Line managers or authorised trainers must ensure that staff are assessed by direct observation before they 
can administer medication unsupervised.

Training and assessments should be repeated annually or more frequently if any training needs are 
identified or medication – related incidents occur.

The trainer conducting medication training and assessments must show documented evidence that their 
knowledge and expertise in the handling of medication is maintained and up-to-date through annual review.

Medication administration

Wherever possible, the provider is to support the service user in maintaining control over their medication 
and encouraging independence.

If medication issues are identified, appropriate support should be requested from the relevant agencies and 
healthcare professionals (e.g. pharmacist) to ensure that all opportunities are explored for maintaining 
independence.

Multi-compartmental compliance aids (i.e. blister packs, dosette boxes) should not be routinely used and 
should only be initiated following a multidisciplinary review and if it is likely to benefit the service user and 

Page 125



 

62

improve their outcomes. As part of medication handling training, staff must be competent in administering 
medications from the original containers that they have been supplied in from the pharmacy. 

Incident reporting

Allowing staff and service users to raise any concerns about medicines and managing any medicines-
related problems effectively will contribute to having a safer system in Salford. 

Providers must ensure that a robust incident reporting system that meets the requirements of Salford 
guidance is in place to record medication discrepancies, errors and incidents and are encouraged to 
increase reporting in this area.

Incidents reported should be analysed to identify trends and minimise re-occurrence. Evidence to show that 
appropriate action has been taken must be documented. This system should be reported as part of the 
service KPIs. 

Page 126



Schedule Five of the Specification – Extra Care Schemes

Scheme No. 
Units

Scheme 
Type Landlord About Level of 

Need
Desired 
Activity Neighbourhood

High 28

Medium 20Amblecote 
Gardens 66 Purpose 

built City West

1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available.

Communal meals are 
provided by the landlord and 

are a condition of the tenancy. Low 18

Walkden & Little 
Hulton

High 22
Medium 17Astley 

Court 57
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

City West 1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available. Low 17

Eccles & Irlam

High 20

Medium 18Bourke 
Gardens 56 Purpose 

built City West

1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available.

Communal meals are 
provided by the landlord and 
are a condition of the tenancy

Low 18

Walkden &Little 
Hulton

High 19
Medium 14Monica 

Court 47
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

City West

1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available.

Low 14
Eccles & Irlam

High 20
Medium 15Moores 

House 50 Purpose 
built Retail Trust

1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available.

Communal meals are 
provided by the landlord and 
are a condition of the tenancy

Low 15

Ordsall & 
Claremont

High 15
Medium 12Mount 

Carmel 
Court

38
Converted 
Sheltered 
Housing

Mosscare St 
Vincent’s

1 and 2 bedroom flats are 
available.

Low 11

Ordsall & 
Claremont

P
age 127



 

64

P
age 128



 

65

P
age 129



Schedule Six of the Specification – Meal Provision

Meal Provision

The provision of communal meals is an important part of an Extra Care Scheme. The three older converted 
Sheltered Housing Extra Care Schemes, Astley Court, Monica Court and Mount Carmel Court facilities only 
allow for pre-cooked meals to be heated in bulk and served to tenants. The current care and support 
provider is responsible for meal provision in the older schemes. In the three newer schemes, Amblecote 
Gardens, Bourke Gardens and Moores House there are is a purpose built kitchen and the Landlord is 
responsible for meal provision. 

The meals are currently provided by Appetito. Tenants are able to purchase lunch and dinner and this is 
usually agreed before the tenant moves in. This enables the care provider to set up payment details and 
order meals when the tenant has moved in. Tenants choose their meals a weekly for the following week 
and the care staff will manage these orders. Tenants are unable to order meals on a pay as you go basis.

Tasks Associated with Meal Provision and time allocated 

Tasks Time 
Allocated/taken

Number of 
staff 

allocated
Setting tenants up on the meal ordering & payment system
Facilitating and supporting tenants to complete their weekly meal 
choices for the following weekAdmin

Ordering meals

Unknown Unknown

Setting up the dining room
Heating the meals (15 minutes)
Serving meals in the dining room

Meal 
Service 

and prep Clean dining room after meals 

1 hour 2 staff

Accepting delivery of meals and storing meals UnknownOther Deliver meals to tenants flats Unknown Other staff

Meal costs

Tenants pay £3.75 (per meal) for lunch and £3.25 (per meal) for dinner this covers the cost of the meals 
only. 

Page 130



1

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) - Initial Screening

Service/ Programme Area: Integrated Commissioning
Date of assessment: 21/11/19
Lead CIA Officer: Paul Walsh 

The initial screening is a quick and easy process. It should:

 Identify if the proposal requires a CIA
 Provide justification for why a CIA is not going to be completed

The purpose of community impact assessment is to have “due regard” to the equality 
impact of proposals on protected groups, identifying if this impact is disproportionate and 
how it will be reduced, eliminated or mitigated. Community impact assessment, together 
with other sources of evidence, should inform decision-making. 

You must consider the following protected groups and indicate overleaf if a full community 
impact assessment is required:

 Age
 Disability 
 Gender
 Gender reassignment
 Marriage and Civil Partnership
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Race
 Religion and belief
 Sexual orientation

You may also want to consider other groups, including; people on a low income, carers, ex-
offenders, veterans, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies and travellers, where 
appropriate.

If you are unsure about any areas, you should undertake more research before you decide 
whether or not a full CIA is required, but this must be done BEFORE a decision is made. 
You should return the screening form as soon as possible indicating that you are 
undertaking more research. 

The findings of the initial screening MUST be included within the report for decision and this 
document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact on communities.

Page 131

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/guidance-all/protected-characteristics


2

 
1. Title(s) of proposal(s) Is a CIA 

required? 

Yes or No

Extra Care – Care Specification No

2. Where you have identified that a CIA is NOT required,  please detail below how 
you arrived at this decision

The Salford pathway into Extra Care is through an Adult Social Care Assessment, where 
the needs of an individual are determined against nationally prescribed eligibility criteria 
(Care Act 2014). The assessment is completed by an Adult Social Work Practitioner. Care 
Act 2014 statutory guidance stipulates that due regard is given to the Equality Act 2010. 
Therefore, prior to accessing and Extra Care service the Council will have carried out work 
in relation to duties under the Equalities Act 2010 and Care Act 2014. 

As part of the Care Act 2014 Statutory guidance states that local authorities must ensure 
their commissioning practices and the services delivered on their behalf comply with the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010, and do not discriminate against people with 
protected characteristics; this should include monitoring delivery against the requirements of 
that Act (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-
support-statutory-guidance). Throughout the Extra Care Service Specification reference has 
been made to the importance of equality of opportunity to all service users, their carers and 
employees in the Extra Care schemes. The provider of care must be regulated by CQC who 
operate under a regulatory framework that promotes the equality duty. Through the 
procurement process Salford Care Organisation will ensure any perspective care providers 
are compliant with the Equality Act 2010 and will continue to monitor the continued 
compliance of the successful provider through the quality assurance process.

The service specification reflects population demographics in Salford and supports the 
strategic direction to broaden the supported accommodation offer to a broad range of 
people. This is because people that can benefit from Extra Care can be adults of any age 
with a wide range of care and support needs including mental health, dementia, learning 

Page 132

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


3

disabilities, autistic spectrum condition, and physical/sensory disability.  

Table 1 shows the current Age and Ethnicity profile in the Extra Care schemes: 

Ethnicity 18-64 65-74 75-84 85+ Total
A - White: British 48 44 68 86 246
B - White: English 6 9 11 25 51
C - White: Welsh  1   1
D - White: Scottish  2  3 5
F - White: Irish   3  3
I - Any Other White Background 1 1 1 2 5
J - Mixed / Multiple: White and Black Caribbean 1 1
Q - Asian / Asian British: Chinese   1  1
S - Black/African/Caribbean/Black British:African  1   1
T -Black/African/Caribbean/Black British:Caribbean 1    1
U -Any Other Black / African / Caribbean 
Backgroud 1    1
W - Any Other Ethnic Group 2    2
Y - Info Not Yet Obtained / Undeclared / Not 
Known 3 4 4 6 17
Grand Total 63 62 88 122 335

Data from Care First as at 09/12/19

Table 2 shows the Primary Support reason of the residents in Extra Care:

Primary Support Reason No. of service users %
Physical Support / Personal Care & Support 175 53
Support with Memory & Cognition 35 11
Physical Support / Access and Mobility Only 34 10
Support for Social Isolation & Other Support 25 8
Mental Health Support 24 7
Not recorded 23 7
Learning Disability Support 10 3
Sensory Support for Visual Impairment 4 1
Social Support for Substance Misuse 3 1
Total 333 100

Data from Care First as at 06/12/19

Table 3 shows the health condition of  the residents in Extra Care:

Health condition No. of service users %
Physical - Other 127 33
Mental Health Condition - Dementia 58 15
Not Known 21 13
Neurological - Stroke 38 10
Mental Health Condition - Other 23 6
Learning Disability 16 4

Page 133



4

Physical - C.O.P.D 14 4
Neurological - Other 11 3
Sensory Visually Impaired 10 3
Neurological - Acquired Brain Injury 9 2
Physical - Acquired Physical Injury 9 2
Sensory Hearing Impairment 6 2
No Relevant Long Term Health Conditions 5 1
Neurological - Parkinson's Disease 3 1
Physical - Cancer 3 1
Autism (excluding Asperger's / High functioning) 1 0
Sensory Impairment - Other 1 0
Total 385 100

Data from Care First as at 06/12/19

Table 4 Shows the religion of the residents in the Extra Care Schemes: 

Religion No. of service users %
Not known 149 45
Church of England 124 37
Roman Catholic 47 14
Other 6 2
None 3 1
Agnostic 2 1
J. Witness 2 1
Total 333 100

Data from Care First as at 06/12/19

The schemes have a mix of single and double units meaning that couples are able to live 
together or people can live on their own.

The commissioner developed specification has been informed through engaging with a 
variety of key stakeholders including people currently living and working in Extra Care. This 
includes commissioning Health Watch to do an Extra Care Housing – Enter and View 
engagement where they spoke to tenants, their carers, the current Care Provider and 
Landlord the report can be found here. The Care Provider recommendations have been 
reflected in the service specification. 

The intention is that the Extra Care Schemes become part of the neighbourhood community 
assets by providing additional social value to the wider community.

Salford’s strategic intentions are to deliver more Extra Care Schemes in Salford this will 
broaden the range of choice to individuals that will benefit from the service offer.

3. Once form is completed, please sign and date below

Page 134

https://healthwatchsalford.co.uk/extra-care-housing-enter-and-view/


5

Name Lauren Fairey Signature Lauren Fairey Date 12/12/19

All initial screenings and CIAs are reported to Corporate Management Team. Please 
forward your completed form to Equalities&Cohesion Team in Policy and Strategy as soon 
as possible. It will then be confirmed (with Legal Services) that either a full CIA or no further 
actions are required. 

Page 135

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

Adult Social Care Commissioning Strategy Group 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 8(a) ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

20 December 2019

Report of: Service and Finance Group

Date of Paper: 08/01/2020

Subject: Extra Care Strategy and Arrow Street 
Financial Appraisal

In case of query 
Please contact:

Paul Walsh

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   

To provide Committee with a financial appraisal of the proposed Arrow Street Extra Care 
Scheme (section 21 of this report) within the strategic context for the development of Extra 
Care in Salford.

To ask Committee to approve the development of the Arrow Street Extra Care scheme on 
the basis that it:

a) Meets our strategic system objectives of better quality and lower cost
b) Meets our Care Act obligations – promoting choice, controls and independence for 

local people
c) Will deliver better outcomes for people, improving health and wellbeing

Page 137

Agenda Item 8a



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Improve outcomes – cost containment – future 
proofed service model

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Potential changes to service pathways – 
managed by SCO

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Improvements in care service offer for 
vulnerable people

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

Potential cost savings linked to adult social care 
services

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

None

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 138



 

                                                          Page 139



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

Y Initial public consultation has taken 
place about the Arrow Street proposal 
with positive feedback

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

N

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?

Y Reflected in the new Service 
Specification

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

Y As part of the development of the new 
Service Specification

Legal Advice Sought N

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

Y

Service and Finance 7 Jan 20

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 140



Salford Carers Strategy – Service and Financial Appraisal

1. Executive Summary

Extra Care is recognised as a good care option for vulnerable people and an alternative to 
Residential Care. There is a developing and strong evidence base for the benefits of Extra 
Care.

There is a national, Greater Manchester and local strategic drive to consider an expansion 
of Extra Care.

Salford currently has 311 units of Extra Care with approximately half being converted 
sheltered housing and half being purpose built Extra Care.

An economic appraisal indicates a positive cost benefit for Extra Care when compared with 
Residential Care.

Salford has recent experience of delivering new Extra Care schemes – Amblecote Gardens 
and Bourke Gardens and has good level of knowledge and expertise on Extra Care 
development.

Population pressures and care service remodelling (including a reduction in Residential 
Care beds) suggests that Salford could benefit from an additional 1000 extra care units 
over the next 10-15 years.

Commissioners have started to scope out the next strategic steps for the development of 
an Extra Care ‘scale-up’ programme in Salford.

The steps include matters relating to land/site identification, capital development, 
pathways/service models, activity/funding modelling.

The report provides an up to date position together with a risk analysis of the key areas for 
Extra Care scale-up.

The report provides a financial appraisal of the proposed Extra Care scheme at Arrow 
Street in Lower Broughton.
 

2. Background

2.01 The purpose of the paper is to set out the strategic and economic case for Extra Care 
within the context of our approach to new models of care now and in the future.

Page 141



2.02 The paper describes Extra Care on the continuum of care services, and provides a 
local and national context, drawing on best available evidence to describe the current 
position of Extra Care in Salford.

2.03 The paper goes on the look forward at projected population changes and the 
implications of these changes on the care market, including consideration for a new 
approach to Extra Care.

2.04 A financial appraisal of Extra Care identifies the cost components of the provision of 
care services, rental costs and building costs. A comparison is made between the cost of 
Extra Care and the Cost of Residential Care.

2.05 A partnership approach to developing Extra Care is described that draws upon recent 
successful building projects in Salford.

2.06 The paper outlines a potential scale development of Extra Care.

3. What is Extra Care?

3.01 Extra Care Housing (Schemes) provides self-contained accommodation with Care 
Quality Commissioning (CQC) regulated care and support available on site. Extra Care 
works by combining effective accommodation solutions for vulnerable people that aims to 
provide a ‘home for life’ with on-site care services that are design to ensure the people who 
live in Extra Care have their independence needs met. The combination and coalescence of 
‘Housing’ and ‘Care’ solutions means people who live in Extra Care have the benefit of a 
manage community of care, with modern accommodation, onsite activities and care and 
support services that focus on the maintenance and improvement of daily living skills – also 
known as ‘reablement’.

Figure 1 – Extra Care on the continuum of care

3.02 Extra Care sits on a nationally recognised care pathway. People who benefit from 
Extra Care can be adults of any age but generally speaking the starting age for someone 
living in Extra Care is around 50 years old. People who benefit from living in Extra Care can 
also have a range of needs, including mental health, learning disability and physical/sensory 
disability. Extra Care schemes can accommodate a wide range of needs and most schemes 
operate to the nationally suggested model of 1/3 High, 1/3 Medium and 1/3 Low need. This 

Page 142



model means people are able to support and sustain a cooperative culture within the 
schemes that draws upon the assets of everyone living in the community.

3.03 Best practice schemes have communal areas for socialising, wellbeing activities, 
dining and often include accommodation for health related activity, for example, space for 
therapy or room for clinic appointments. Schemes also provide accommodation for on-site 
staff. Some Extra Care schemes are based on community hub models, where members of 
the local community can also access services or activities. Crucially schemes are designed 
to enable adults with independence needs to live in the least restrictive environment as a 
tenant in their own home, whilst receiving the care and support they need, avoiding the need 
to move into a more restrictive residential care setting. Extra Care delivers a number of 
benefits to tenants including:

 Maintaining/improving health and wellbeing – schemes enable people to be active 
and to maintain a good diet. They are able to offer on-site clinic space for health 
practitioners. Schemes have both internal and external space circulation space as 
well a rest areas - which means people are encourage to move about.

 Quality of life – the communal nature of schemes mean people socialise and make 
friends. Schemes also have on-site facilities for social activities and scheme landlords 
provide support to run a range of groups, activities and events for people. Dining and 
seating areas in schemes create opportunities for socialising allowing people to 
spend time with each other.

 Allowing the continued involvement of family carers – Extra Care schemes are 
designed to be part of and add value to the communities they are built in. On average 
people who move into Extra Care lived less than 4 miles from the scheme (Salford 
data). This means schemes are often close to family and friends. They are generally 
built on or near to transport routes and have on-site car parking. Family and friends 
can visit the scheme whenever they like during the day (and at night with 
arrangement). Visitors can spend time in the scheme apartments, in the communal 
areas or take trips out.

4. Extra Care and Physical Health evidence

4.01 Studies that have examined health within age-segregated developments have 
highlighted that relative to the general population, those in age-segregated developments 
report higher levels of quality of life, physical health, and lower levels of mental health 
problems compared to the general population (Kingston et al 2001; Walker et al., 1998; Van 
Bilsen et al., 2008). Some studies identified the mechanisms underlying these positive 
results as stemming from an ethos of “autonomy with inclusion” together with community 
fostered peer support (Kingston et al 2001). Looking specifically at the case for Extra Care 
housing, Garwood (2008a) concluded that residence in one scheme was associated with an 
improvement in the social care residents needed, more so than might be expected from a 
traditional care home setting. Residents in this study also judged that the quality of care was 
higher than in a residential home setting (Garwood 2008).

4.02 Research by the International Longevity Centre-UK found that around a quarter of 
people who moved into Extra Care housing with social care needs (or went on to develop 
them) experienced an improvement within five years, were less likely to be admitted to 
hospital overnight and had fewer falls.1 Subsequent research found that, in comparison to 

Page 143



older people in the general community, Extra Care residents reported having a higher quality 
of life, a higher sense of control and lower levels of loneliness. While at Aston University, 
Professor Holland led a three-year study2 on the impact on older people’s health of living in 
the Extra Care Charitable Trust’s Extra Care schemes. The study found a significant 
reduction from a median of five to seven days to a median of about one to two days for 
unplanned hospital visits. A number of reason for this impact were noted including: on site a 
wellbeing adviser; access to nursing; a drop-in advice clinic where people can get advice on 
health issues; the physical access issues; wet room showers; no steps or stairs.

5. Extra Care and Mental Health evidence

5.01 In terms of mental health and wellbeing, a number of reviews suggest that the 
majority of Extra Care housing residents report good quality of life and social wellbeing 
(Dutton 2009, Croucher et al 2006, Callaghan et al 2009, Housing LIN 2004, Bäumker et al 
2008). A number of studies cite the design of the Extra Care housing model as being 
conducive to a reduction in social isolation and loneliness through offering greater 
opportunities for social contact, neighbourliness and mutual support (Institute of Public Care 
2007), with some studies quantifying a positive effect. For example, Callaghan and 
colleagues (2009) find that two-thirds of residents reported good quality of life 3.

5.02 Extra Care housing is considered a particularly favourable option among older people 
with mild to moderate dementia and their families and carers, who are still able to maintain 
involvement in the delivery of care, although, are removed of the main burden (Riseborough 
& Fletcher, 2008). Residents with dementia in other studies have also been shown to enjoy 
good quality of life through the provision of individualised activities, maximisation of dignity 
and independence, and meaningful social interactions in the Extra Care setting (Dutton 
2009). In another study, residents with dementia were found to maintain their quality of life 
and stayed almost as long those with general needs before exiting Extra Care housing 
(Vallelly et al 2006)3.

5.03 Extra Care can also benefit residents with mild to moderate dementia with research 
demonstrating they maintain quality of life as long as residents without dementia4. Extra Care 
has also been the source of some of the more innovative approaches to dementia care.

6. Extra Care and Cost Benefit evidence

6.01 Extra Care also offers cost savings to local authorities as people maintain 
independence and do not require residential care. These cost savings are derived from 
provision of flexible care and procurement efficiencies (providing care on one site rather than 
multiple sites) amongst other factors5. Research shows that each year a resident postpones 
moving into residential care, the State saves on average £28,0806 

6.02 A longitudinal study3 from 2002 to 2010 and covering 1400 to 1600 Extra Care 
properties found that Extra Care tenants were less likely to be admitted to hospital initially 
than those in unsupported housing in the community and were more likely to be admitted 
only once a serious condition had developed. The research did find Extra Care tenants were 
more likely to stay longer in hospital if they were admitted – which indicates schemes are 
able to support tenants to a higher level of need with hospital admission occurring at point of 

Page 144



higher acuity. The study estimated a potential cost saving to the NHS from a reduction in 
hospital admissions of up to £512 per person per year.

6.03 Professor Holland’s study found that the NHS costs for those in the study sample 
were reduced by 38% and that the costs for frail residents had reduced by 51%.2 In addition, 
local authority costs of providing lower and higher level social care were 17.8% (£1,222) and 
26% (£4,556) lower respectively on average per person per year.

7. Extra Care – Policy

7.01 In the recent Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation paper 
(Oct 2017) published by the Department for Communities and Local Government and the 
Department for Work and Pensions, the government sets out a renew commitment to 
support the provision of Extra Care. The report recognises that Extra Care housing is a home 
to hundreds of thousands of vulnerable people across the country and that their safety and 
quality of life is paramount. The report confirms that Extra Care supports people to live 
independently for longer, ensuring more fulfilling lives for their residents, and brings wider 
savings to other public services, in particular to NHS and social care budgets. Reports have 
suggested that the net benefit of providing capital investment in supported housing for older 
people is £219 million, with most of the benefits coming from preventing costly hospital stays 
or residential care.7 

7.02 Seventy one percent of all supported housing is sheltered and Extra Care housing 
units, and the majority of tenants are older people.8 Projections suggest the numbers of 
supported homes for older people may need to increase from 460,000 to 625,000 by 2030 (a 
35% increase).9 It is therefore vital that the future supply of Extra Care housing is secure to 
continue protecting these groups of people. 

7.03 The Funding Supported Housing: Policy Statement and Consultation paper also sets 
out a requirement for local authorities to work with other local partners (including tenants or 
representatives) to produce a local strategic plan for supported housing, and to undertake an 
assessment of provision and need for all supported housing groups. 

7.04 The recently publish paper (February 2018) Housing For Older People commissioned 
by the Communities and Local Government Committee recognises that “Accessible and 
specialist homes are a key to housing an ageing population. Specialist housing, particularly 
Extra Care housing, can promote the health and well-being of older people and their carers”.

7.05 The report also referenced ministerial comment about the proposed Sheltered Rent 
(for supported housing) with the Minister stating that he was “confident” that the sheltered 
rent would “reflect the true cost of providing sheltered and Extra Care housing across the 
country but also looks to reflect what the future cost will be”. 

7.06 The report cites projections for a future shortfall of Extra Care housing calculated by 
the Housing LIN reaching 75,000 extra units by 2035 in England which equates to shortfall of 
245 units for Salford. Note – the Housing LIN calculation also assumes a net increase in the 
supply of care home beds across England of 200,000 beds or 700 for Salford. 

Page 145



7.07 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership has recognised Extra 
Care as being a strategic driver for developing new models of care. Extra Care development 
has been agreed as a strategic priority for Greater Manchester Directors of Adult Social 
Services. A strategic approach and a working group to support the development of Extra 
Care across localities has been established and Salford is part of this working group.

8. Extra Care - Local Strategy

8.01 Salford City Council’s Housing Strategy 
(https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-
strategy-for-salford.pdf) recognises the need to develop housing solutions for vulnerable 
people who have additional needs living in Salford. The strategy states:

“Salford has an increasing ageing population therefore more people will need to 
be supported to live independently for as long as possible. As well as promoting 
independent living there is also a recognised need for specialised housing that 
has both design and support features that are able to flexibly meet the very 
specific needs of an increasingly frail population in Salford.”

8.02 Extra Care Housing is an excellent example of specialised housing for particularly 
frail people or people as they age. New build schemes in particular can be designed and 
planned in a way that contributes to the provision of a good quality of life for older/vulnerable 
people, particularly those who require elements of social and nursing care. The standard and 
management of Extra Care schemes can help to ensure that as people age they continue to 
live dignified lives, remain independent, are socially included and receive the care and 
support they need in their own homes, helping to promote continued health and prevent 
deterioration in existing conditions.

8.03 In order to meet the forecast demand for housing, care and support for Salford’s 
ageing population, Salford acknowledges that it will need to develop more Extra Care 
schemes. Salford has a number of planned Extra Care housing developments which 
incorporate a partnership approach across health, social care, housing providers, developers 
and support/care providers. This collaborative approach will ensure that the Extra Care 
models developed will meet the health and social care objectives of the city. However, 
options will need to be explored which help to further enhance the supply of this provision.”

8.04 Salford City Council is in the process of updating the Housing Strategy and the new 
strategy will have a specific section to cover Supported Housing for vulnerable people. This 
will include Extra Care

9. Extra Care – Local Supply and service model

9.01 Salford’s Extra Care Housing supply has grown steadily over the last 20 years. Initial 
developments focussed on converting traditional sheltered housing stock into Extra Care – 
Ninian Gardens (Walkden), Monica Court (Monton) and Astley Court (Irlam) and Mount 
Carmel Court (Ordsall). These conversions created an Extra Care supply of 193 units for the 
people of Salford. In 2009 Moores House (Claremont) opened as Salford’s first purpose-built 
Extra Care scheme and this was followed by Amblecote Gardens (Little Hulton) in 2015. 

Page 146

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388491/shaping-housing-in-salford-2020-a-housing-strategy-for-salford.pdf


Soon after Ninian Garden was demolished and replaced in 2016 by Bourke Gardens 
(Walden). These additions brought Salford’s Extra Care supply to 311 units.

Table 1 - Current Extra Care Schemes In Salford
Scheme Model Landlord Care Provider Units
Monica Court Sheltered conversion to 

Extra Care
City West Comfort Call 47

Astley Court Sheltered conversion to 
Extra Care

City West Comfort Call 56

Mount Carmel Sheltered conversion to 
Extra Care

St Vincent’s Comfort Call 36

Moores 
House

Purpose built Extra Care Retail Trust Comfort Call 50

Amblecote Purpose built Extra Care City West Comfort Call 66
Bourke 
Gardens

Purpose built Extra Care City West Care Watch 56

Total 311

9.02 In comparing the supply of Extra Care with other care services that sit on the 
continuum of care (Figure 1) it is evident that the current supply of sheltered housing of 
approximately 3500 is significantly higher than that of Extra Care. However, the combined 
supply of Residential and Nursing Care beds in Salford is over 1500, so Salford has 5 times 
as many Care Home beds as it does Extra Care units. This suggests an imbalance in the 
levels of Extra Care as it could be expected that a service supporting higher needs would 
have a smaller supply than that of a service that supports a lower but broader range of need.

Figure 2 – Representative service supply on the continuum of care

9.03 Under current Housing LIN standards for the provision of Extra Care accommodation 
it is reasonable to assert that only the newer Extra Care schemes of Moores House, 
Amblecote Gardens and Bourke Gardens would meet all the current building standards for 
Extra Care. It should therefore be noted that a strategy including  replacing the converted 
sheltered housing Extra Care schemes would have net zero impact on the supply of Extra 
Care units but would have a significant investment implication.

9.04 The provision of Extra Care to local people is managed through Adults Social Care 
assessment and care planning, via the ICO. This means that people who live in Extra Care 
schemes in Salford will be allocated their place through Care Act processes. This allows the 
ICO to control admissions into the schemes and ensure the national prescribed and locally 
adopted model of 1/3 High:Medium:Low need is maintained.

Page 147



9.05 The Council maintains responsibility for commissioning the regulated care service at 
each of the schemes and also for commissioning any housing management support 
delivered by the Landlord at the scheme. These commissions are managed through the 
ICO’s supply chain functions under the terms of their contract with the Council.

10. Population level analysis

10.01 There is limited local and national information available to guide Local Authorities in 
determining the number of Extra Care units needed to meet the demands of the local 
population. However, the Care Services Improvement Partnership (CSIP) document entitled 
More Choice, Greater Voice: A Toolkit for Producing a Strategy for Accommodation with 
Care for Older People, recommends that there should be around 25 Extra Care units per 
1000 over 75 population.  

10.02 Using this figure along with current and projected population figures for Salford 
(source POPPI website) it would suggest that in order to meet demand, Salford needs 408 
units of Extra Care housing in 2017, which is a current shortfall of 97 units and 605 units of 
Extra Care housing by 2035, which would be a projected shortfall of 294 units.

Table 2 – Salford Population and Extra Care Supply
2017 2020 2025 2030 2035

75+ population 16,300 17,100 19,900 21,500 24,200
Supply per 25 1000 >75yrs 408 428 498 538 605
Current Extra Care supply 311 311 311 311 311
Difference -97 -117 -187 -227 -294

11. Extra Care - Local Demand Patterns

11.01 In general demand data indicates a consistent level of both admission (5.6 per 
month) and departures (4 per month) to Extra Care since 2003. The difference in admissions 
and departure rates is explained by the opening of the 4 schemes noted on the chart. This 
data also suggests that the allocation process applied to manage demand (placement via 
ASC assessment) enables Extra Care to operate within a level of demand certainty, which 
generally results in market stability.

Chart 1 – Extra Care Admission and Departures

Page 148



A. Opening of Astley Court & Ninian 
Gardens
B. Admissions to Shelmerdine 
Gardens
C. Admissions to Amblecote
D. Opening of Bourke Gardens

11.02 Admission data since 2015 indicates that 44% of those new tenants of Extra Care 
had an informal carer - which might have been a spouse or a close relative - and we also 
know that 75% of those admitted in this time lived alone. This suggests that a significant 
factor in the allocation of Extra Care for an individually is the loss of their informal carer and 
that Extra Care is a preferred choice for people in those circumstances.

11.03 Adults Social Care assessment information over 2016/17 (Chart 2 below) indicated 
that people who are assessed prior to admission to an Extra Care scheme tended to have 
less dependency compared to the cohort of people who were places into residential care. 
For example 73% of people admitted into Extra Care were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of 
‘managing a habitable home’, whereas 95% of people admitted to a residential home were 
‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘managing a habitable home’. Also, 54% of people admitted 
into Extra Care were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining nutrition’, whereas 96% of 
people admitted into residential care were ‘unable to achieve’ the task of ‘maintaining 
nutrition’.

11.04 It is also evident that while the level of need on entering residential care in on 
average higher, there is a cohort of people who are being placed into residential care at a 
comparable dependency level to those people who are place into Extra Care. Chart 2 below 
implies a dependency relationship for the ‘unable to achieve the outcome’ category between 
the Extra Care and Residential Care cohort. This further suggests that the availability of 
Extra Care places in the local market (4 departures per month as noted about) places limits 
on the care choices for people through the ASC assessment and care planning process. It is 
plausible to suggest that a significant proportion of people being placed in Residential Care 
could be supported in Extra Case based on the assumptions of dependency level match 
across the two cohorts.

Chart 2 – Extra Care Vs Residential Care, Need on Admission

Page 149



11.05  The age profile and need profile for people entering Extra Care is consistent with 
national modelling for Extra Care. Chart 3 below shows the mean entry into Extra Care is 81 
with a wide range of aged and dependencies. The majority of people who live in Extra Care 
are aged 75-94, but within this age band there is a wide range of assessed need.

Chart 3 – Extra Care Age on Entry

Page 150



11.06 The majority of people who enter Extra Care do so with a physical health need 
(recorded on Care First) followed by Dementia and Stroke. This indicates that a significant 
proportion of people living in Extra Care will have moderate to high levels of health needs as 
well we social care needs. This factor is important when considering the health needs 
provision for future models of Extra Care, particularly in the commissioning arrangements for 
the regulated Care service and potential impact of new Extra Care scheme on the 
developing new models of neighbourhood care.

Chart 4 – Extra Care and Recorded Health Condition on Admission

11.07 The Housing LIN suggests models of Extra Care should provide 2/3 of tenants with 
‘homes for life’. Salford data for the last 3 years indicates that only 54% of people died while 
being a tenant in their Extra Care scheme (Chart 5). However only 18% went on to be 
admitted to a care home which suggests our local position might be closer to the expected 
national profile, with further analysis of the ‘other reason’ coding necessary to create a 
clearer understanding of departures from the schemes.

Chart 5 – Reason for Leaving Extra Care

Page 151



11.08 Chart 6 below shows the demand for the provision of Extra Care is equitable across 
the communities of Salford. Further demand analysis shows that people tend to access the 
Extra Care schemes near to where they lived, for example, 58% of people living in 
Amblecote Gardens in Little Hulton previously lived in either Little Hulton, Walkden South or 
Walkden North and 50% of people living in Astley Court previously lived in either Irlam or 
Cadishead. This is consistent with Housing LIN national analysis that shows people move 
less than 4 miles to live in an Extra Care scheme. This suggests that the local connection 
between people and their preferred Extra Care scheme is important when making a choice 
about entering an Extra Care scheme. It also suggest that the demands that any new 
scheme might place on existing neighbourhood infrastructure, for example, GP, pharmacy, 
dental, VCSE sector will be minimal.

Page 152



Chart 6 – Address Location Immediately Prior to Entering Extra Care

12. Relationship between Residential Care placement and Extra Care

“The right kind of housing can keep people healthy, support them to live 
independently and reduce the need for home care or residential care. The social 
care green paper, planned for publication in summer 2018, must consider the 
range of housing for older people, from mainstream and accessible homes to 
Supported and Extra Care housing, as well as access to adaptations and repairs. 
In particular, the social care green paper should consider the role of Extra Care 
housing in the provision of social care alongside domiciliary and residential care.”

Communities and Local Government Committee report, Housing and Older People, February 
2018.

12.01 The relationship and interplay between Extra Care and Residential Care has gained 
significant recognition within national policy over recent years. Housing LIN continues to 
promote the benefits of Extra Care as a better alternative to residential care and academic 
research is drawing new conclusions about the positive impact of Extra Care on the care 
system on for people who live in Extra Care.

12.02 A. Kerslake and P. Stilwell, (2004) ‘What makes older people choose residential care, 
and are there alternatives?’ Institute of Public Care, a centre of Oxford Brookes University, 
suggested that 30% of people they surveyed could have entered Extra Care rather than 

Page 153



residential care. Whilst this research was limited (small study cohort) it does support a view 
that more people could be placed in Extra Care.

12.03 The recently published North West ASC Market Sustainability assessment 
undertaken by Alder Advice suggests that a 20% reduction in the demand for care home 
places by 2021 would be necessary to manage within planned budget projection. 

12.04 An analysis of local demand data in Salford suggests there is relationship (overlap) 
between the assessed needs of people entering residential care and Extra Care. If we 
consider the current demand for residential care and match this demand against that of Extra 
Care it is possible to make an estimate of the likely demand for Extra Care through 
displacing residential care demand – that being placing people into Extra Care rather than 
residential care.

12.05 Salford data (Care First) indicates approximately 350 people per year are placed into 
a care home following an assessment. Assuming a range of 20-30% of this cohort could 
have been placed in an Extra Care scheme as a more suitable choice of service it would 
indicate that between 70 and 105 people per year could be deflected from residential care 
into Extra Care should the supply of Extra Care be sufficient.

12.06 Local data indicates a departure rate of 4 people per month (48 per year) from 
Salford’s 311 Extra Care units. As a ratio of the supply of Extra Care Units this is equal to 
0.15 of the total capacity.

12.07 In order to meet an enhanced demand figure of 20% of people who are currently 
placed in residential care (70 people) the Extra Care supply of 311 units would need to be 
increase by 476 to 787 units.

12.08 Based on the largest Extra Care schemes in Salford this increase in units would 
require an additional 7 Extra Care schemes to be developed across the city. Since 2003 
Salford has delivered 5 Extra Care Schemes of an average size of 55 units. Given this 
historical development pattern it could take Salford up to 2030 to develop the Extra Care 
schemes to replace the need for lower dependency residential care. Consideration should 
therefore be given to the development of larger Extra Care Scheme across the city. The 
Housing LIN cites best practice examples of Extra Care scheme elsewhere in the UK that 
are in excess of 100 units in size so it is not uncommon for such schemes to be developed 
and operate successfully.

13. Extra Care Expansion to Meet Population Changes

13.01 Section 9 indicates that Salford needs 408 units of Extra Care housing in 2017, which 
is a current shortfall of 97 units and 605 units of Extra Care housing by 2035, which would be 
a projected shortfall of 294 units. This figure could be seen as the minimum expected level of 
provision of Extra Care for Salford.

13.02 In order to meet minimum expected level now an additional 100 unit Extra Care 
scheme would need to be built within the next two years, with a further two 100 unit Extra 
Care schemes by 2035.

Page 154



13.03 Clearly adopting this approach would not respond to the demand displacement 
potential from Residential Care and would likely result in the need to expand the supply of 
Residential Care in Salford. Section 6.6 proposes an additional 700 care home beds might 
be needed in Salford by 2035 to meet population demands. Salford’s average care home 
size is approximately 50 beds with the largest being 121, this suggests 8-10 care homes 
might need to be developed by 2035.

14. Financial Assessment of Extra Care and a comparison to Residential Care

14.01 Current model of Extra Care - Care Costs

14.02 Based upon the current model of Extra Care a “typical” scheme could be described 
as a 60 bed unit providing support to people of high, medium and low need on an equal ratio. 
The level of support required based upon this assessment of need is deemed to be 9 hours 
per week for service user with high need, 5.25 hours per week for service users with medium 
need and 1.5 hours per week for service users with low need.  

14.03 The costs of care in relation to the Extra Care model described above are as follows:
Table 3 – current Extra Care ‘care’ costs

Level of Support
No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week

Hourly Cost (per 
service user)

Weekly Cost (per 
service user)

Annual Cost (per 
service user) Total Annual Cost

High 20 9 £13.62 £122.58 £6,391.67 £127,833
Medium 20 5.25 £13.62 £71.51 £3,728.48 £74,570
Low 20 1.5 £13.62 £20.43 £1,065.28 £21,306
Total 60 £223,709

14.04 This model assumes all care costs are met by Adult Social Care budgets and does 
not take into account any client contributions which are considered below.

14.05 Current model of Extra Care - Other Costs

14.06 In addition to the costs of care, payments are due to Extra Care landlords for Rent, 
Service Charges and Catering Provision and these costs are met either directly by the 
service user or through Housing Benefits. Charges for rent and the service charge element 
are divided into Housing Benefit eligible and Housing Benefit ineligible charges.  Eligible 
charges are recovered from Central Government by Salford City Council and ineligible 
charges are paid directly by the tenant. 

14.07 A typical breakdown of rent and service charges are shown below:

Table 4 – current Extra Care ‘non-care’ costs

Page 155



Description
Weekly Cost - 
1 bed unit

Weekly Cost - 
2 bed unit

LAHRA Basic Rent £114.18 £135.70
LAHRA Heating Charge £0.60 £0.60
LAHRA Service Charge £38.02 £38.02
Management Charge £3.65 £3.65
Additional Housing Element £13.96 £13.96
AHM Management Charge £1.92 £1.92
Total - Eligible Charges £172.33 £193.85
Management Charge £0.09 £0.09
Additional Housing Element £6.60 £6.60
AHM Management Charge £0.99 £0.99
Total - Ineligible Charges £7.68 £7.68
Total Charges £180.01 £201.53

14.08 This model assumes the landlord is a housing association and the rent and service 
charges have been assessed by Salford City Council Housing Benefit team and are 
considered to be reasonable. If the landlord is a private landlord or the proposed rent charge 
is deemed excessive it is likely the level of rent that Salford City Council would be able to 
recover would be determined by referral to the rent office and any rent charged by the 
landlord in excess of this amount would represent a cost to the Council as we would not be 
able to recover from Central Government.   

14.09 Client Contributions

14.10 The table below considers the financial contribution that a service user might make 
towards the cost of their care. 

Table 5 – Service user financial contributions - Extra Care Vs Residential Care

Residential Care
Non Residential 
Care (ECSH) Comments

Client income £159.35 £277.45
less: Personal Allowance / Protected Income -£24.90 -£189.00
Maximum Client Contribution £134.45 £88.45
less: Disability Related Spending £0.00 -£20.00
Average client contribution £134.45 £61.00 90% rounded to nearest £ for ECSH

14.11 Contributions have been modelled based upon the service user being a single person 
whose income is at pension credit level who has been assessed as having high dependency. 
This can be considered typical but the contribution is means tested based on an individual’s 
circumstances so does vary and would alter any financial comparison between residential 
and non-residential care settings. It is also assumed that service users living in a non-
residential setting would have additional income from disability benefits or would be 
supported by Salford City Council’s charging assessment team to claim them. The maximum 
contribution for non-residential care is reduced by any disability related spending incurred by 
a service user which is difficult to quantify and on average is in the region of £20 per week.

14.12 It should be noted for Extra Care, maximum service user contributions are capped at 
the following levels:

High Dependency £106.14
Medium Dependency £15.92
Low Dependency £0.00

Page 156



14.13 Please also note that for non-residential care there is no upper capital limit whereby a 
client is considered able to fund the full cost of their care as is the case in residential 
settings. People in residential care with savings in excess of £23,250 who currently fund the 
full cost of their place may, if transferred to a non-residential setting, qualify for a subsidy.   

14.14 Comparison of Extra Care to Residential Care

14.15 As detailed in this report it is suggested that there are a cohort of people who would 
benefit from their care needs being met through Extra Care rather than through residential 
care. The costs comparison  between Extra Care schemes and residential care is difficult for 
a number of reasons including differences between where costs are picked up within the 
system i.e. in adults social care budget or by central government budgets or directly by the 
service users. It is also difficult to model the financial contribution that a service user might 
be asked to make towards their package of care.

14.16 The table below sets out a comparison of 2017/18 rates for Extra Care and Salford’s 
standard rate for older people in Residential Care regardless of how / where the costs is met 
within the system.

Table 6 – Service costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £180.01
Food Costs £23.50 £51.33
Gross Total £442.07 £353.92
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £292.92

14.17 The £307.62 net cost of residential care is a cost to the adult social care system, 
however for Extra Care only the care component is met through adult social care budget. 
The hotel costs and food costs are either paid directly by the service user or met through 
housing benefits which is recoverable from central government. 

14.18 A revised cost comparison showing costs that are met within adult social care 
budgets is set out below.

Table 7 – Adult Social Care budget costs - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
Description Residential Care ECSH (High - 9 Hours)
Care Costs £278.04 £122.58
Hotel Costs £140.53 £0.00
Food Costs £23.50 £0.00
Gross Total £442.07 £122.58
less: Client Contribution -£134.45 -£61.00
Net Total £307.62 £61.58

14.19 This would suggest that costs in the region of £246 p/w per service user could be 
avoided through care needs being met through Extra Care rather than by residential care. 

Page 157



14.20 A model for Extra Care in the future?

14.21 It is likely that service users who could be supported by Extra Care rather than in a 
residential setting would have a higher level of need and might require more than the 9 hours 
support than in the current model. A revised model of care could be developed to allow 
service users who are currently or would have been supported in a residential setting to be 
supported in Extra Care. For illustrative purposes only the model below shows a revised 
Extra Care scheme where 40 service users who would have been supported in residential 
care are supported through Extra Care, being assessed as high dependency, receiving 19.4 
hours of care (the average hours of care per week per service users assumed in the 
Salford’s standard rate for older people in Residential Care), this is then compared to the 
cost of supporting these service users in residential care. If this principle is to be taken 
forward the actual model would need to be developed to determine the offer that would be 
required to enable service users to transition from being supported in residential care setting 
to an Extra Care setting.

Table 8 – 60 Bed model cost comparison - Extra Care Vs Residential Care
No of Service 
Users

Hours per Service 
User per Week Level of Support

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

Hourly (per 
service user)

Weekly (per 
service user)

Annual (per 
service user) Total Annual

40 19.4 High £13.62 £264.23 £13,778 £551,104 £22.79 £442.07 £23,051 £922,032
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Gross Cost £572,410 £922,032

40 19.4 High -£3.14 -£61.00 -£3,181 -£127,229 -£6.93 -£134.45 -£7,011 -£280,424
20 1.5 Low £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Client Contribution -£127,229 -£280,424

40 19.4 High £10.48 £203.23 £10,597 £423,876 £15.86 £307.62 £16,040 £641,607
20 1.5 Low £13.62 £20.43 £1,065 £21,306 £0.00 £0.00 £0 £0
60 Total Net Cost £445,181 £641,607

Client Contribution

Net Cost

Residential CareECSH

Gross Cost

14.22 The model again illustrates the potential cost avoidance of this approach with net 
costs avoided in the region of £196K, however it should be noted that actual costs avoided 
will be different as client income will vary from the amounts included for both Residential and 
Extra Care, the level of costs avoided will also be dependent on the makeup of the offer for 
Extra Care. Client contributions for Extra Care have also been modelled based on the 40 
user being assessed as high dependency, if any of these service users were classed as 
medium dependency the maximum client contribution would be capped at £15.92 per week 
increasing the net cost of the scheme.

14.23 The government has recently consulted on funding for supported housing. The 
extract below from the consultation documentation summarises the proposal in relation to 
Extra Care Housing

14.24 A ‘Sheltered Rent’ – for those in sheltered and Extra Care housing
 For sheltered and Extra Care housing, often for older people but also including 

working-age tenants.
 Introducing a ‘Sheltered Rent’, a type of social rent, which keeps funding for sheltered 

and Extra Care housing in the welfare system.
 Better cost control, as the social housing regulator will use existing powers to 

regulate gross eligible rent (rent inclusive of eligible service charges) charged by 
registered providers. We are seeking views on the appropriate level to set gross 
eligible rent at through our consultation.

Page 158



 This model will come in to effect from 2020.
 This will provide the certainty providers need in order to invest in future supply, whilst 

providing enhanced cost controls and ensuring value for money for the taxpayer, and 
good outcomes for tenants

14.25 Full details can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Fundi
ng_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf 

14.26 The full impact of any changes as a result of this consultation will need to be 
reviewed when confirmed as they could potentially impact on the assumptions used in the 
modelling around the rent and services charges and the amount recoverable through 
housing benefit subsidy.  

15. Building Extra Care

15.01 Extra Care developments are generally brokered through a partnership arrangements 
between a commissioner (often a Local Authority) and a Registered Social Landlord (RSL). 
Some developments are undertaken independently by private housing developers for direct 
sale, but these tend to be in more affluent areas.

15.02 The scale of capital investment to develop Extra Care Housing has been set out by 
the Housing LIN. They have developed an indicative cost model for the development of a 
modern Extra Care scheme based on a typical three-storey, traditional construction, Extra 
Care facility in the north of England. The development comprises 77 one and two bedroom 
apartments covering a gross internal area (GIA) of 6,855 m2. Costs exclude site works and 
relate to 1st quarter 2015. This model suggest a development cost of £7.85m or £1,145 per 
square meter.

15.03 Extra Care capital builds are generally funded by the RSL under a mortgage 
arrangement and often with the support of a Government Grant, for example, the Homes and 
Communities Agency: Care and Support Specialised Housing Fund 2015 – these grant fund 
approximately 20-30% of the development cost. The Local Authority will often support 
developments through site assembly and in the planning application process. 

15.04 The RSL would then seek to make a return on the revenue (rental) income of the 
property to fund the mortgage repayments. Under this mechanism it is important that the 
Local Authority and the RSL understands the financial arrangements, the level of risk and the 
mechanism through which the financial risk is managed.

15.05 In areas where the Local Authority will be the sole purchaser of Extra Care places (as 
in Salford), the Local Authority will need to understand the impact of any scheme 
development on Housing Benefit payments and budgets (see Section 13).

15.06 Salford City Council has had recent successes in developing two bespoke Extra Care 
schemes in partnership with City West Housing, which shows the potential to development 
modern, affordable Extra Care. These scheme were developed under the approach outlined 
above.

Page 159

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf


15.07 Salford City Council has the potential to develop further partnerships across Strategic 
Spatial Planning, Strategic Housing, ASC Strategic Commissioning, Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the Integrated Care Organisation, Registered Social Landlords and 
Care Providers to develop a growth strategy for Extra Care in Salford.

16. Development Planning 

16.01 The timescales associated with a scale-up programme of Extra Care will run over a 
number of years. It takes at least one year to plan an Extra Care building, which includes 
securing the site, securing the developer, agreeing the finances, concluding planning 
permissions and establishing the build programme including contracts. It takes at least two 
years to build and establish an Extra Care service and this includes the process for securing 
the Extra Care regulated care provider and the move-in process for tenants. At present that 
are no pipeline Extra Care schemes in Salford so we are at least 3 years from delivering any 
new operational Extra Care scheme.

16.02 Work has started with Urban Vision to identify potential sites (see Appendix 1), based 
on the Housing LIN criteria for Extra Care. There are areas of the city well-served with 
purpose built Extra Care schemes in Little Hulton, Walkden and Claremont (Irlams o’ the 
Height) and some areas that are supported with Extra Care converted from Sheltered 
accommodation in Irlam/Cadishead*, Ordsall and  Monton/Winton. There are areas of 
Salford that are not in close proximity or close in terms of community boundaries to Extra 
Care – those being:

 Lower/Higher/Broughton
 Kersal
 Swinton/Pendlebury
 Worsley/Winton
 Barton/Patricroft
 Boothstown/Ellenbrook
 Landworthy/Seedley/Salford Precinct
 Kersal
 Irwell Riverside
 *Irlam/Cadishead – included as the size of the current Extra Care scheme at 

Astley Court is small for the combined populations of Irlam and Cadishead

These areas have been grouped into 6 Extra Care development zones in Appendix 1.

16.03 There are a number of current risks and opportunities for consideration that will 
influence the approach to the development of Extra Care.

16.04 Salix Homes has adopted a strategic development approach to Extra Care and 
following recent discussions through the Strategic Housing Partnership have engaged in 
exploratory conversations with Commissioners on two potential development opportunities.

Page 160



16.05 Arrow Street in Lower Broughton (see Appendix 1 reference ii) is a vacant site owned 
by Salix Homes. They have undertaken a desk-top appraisal of this site and have shared 
initial proposals to Commissioners for a 70 bedded Extra Care scheme. They have 
approached Homes England who have indicated support in principal to this proposal and 
that it would fit their funding criteria. Salix Homes has indicated a grant level of up to 50% 
might be available. The site is situation within the flood zone and therefore ground floor living 
accommodation would cost prohibitive due to additional site or construction measures that 
would be necessary. The Salix proposal does not include ground floor living accommodation 
and consequently they would there need to secure additional usage of this space alongside 
the provision of space for Extra Care services. This scheme proposal it situated within an 
Extra Care Development Zone (as described in Appendix 1)

16.06 Salix Homes are leading a RSL consortium bid for the University of Salford owned 
Castle Irwell site (see Appendix 1 reference i). The proposal is based on an ‘elder-village’ 
model and includes a range of accommodation types including a 120 unit Extra Care 
Scheme. It is anticipated the outcome of the consortium bid will be known around the 
summer of 2019. This scheme proposal is situated within an Extra Care Development Zone 
(as described in Appendix 1)

16.07 City West Housing Trust has recently indicated to SCC of their intention to 
decommissioning Monica Court and Astley Court Extra Care Schemes. A meeting has taken 
place with SCC, SCO and City West. City West provided assurance that their 
decommissioning plans would be development alongside strategic plans to scale-up Extra 
Care in Salford and would not compromise current tenures and regulated care services 
delivered at the schemes. City West expressed a willingness to work with strategic partners 
in developing new Extra Care Schemes.

16.08 The current assessment of supply and potential site development suggests a number 
of communities in Salford could benefit from an Extra Care Scheme development to create a 
more ‘equitable’ offer and choice for people. The model and scale of these potential 
developments would match the Extra Care market assessment for the expansion of Extra 
Care.

16.09 The table below suggests an approach to and scale of Extra Care scheme 
development across Salford:

Table 9 – Extra Care Development Options
Location - 
Zone

Driver Extra 
Care

Risk/Opportunity Status Site 
Consideration

1 – 
Boothstown 
and Ellenbrook

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Limited site availability, costly 
– potential private 
development

Site Scoping TBC

2 – Worsley/ 
Winton

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Limited site availability, costly 
– potential private 
development

Site Scoping TBC

3 – Barton/ 
Patricroft

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential – 
potential SCC led 

Site Scoping Eccles Town 
Centre

Page 161



development
4 – Swinton/ 
Pendlebury

Lack of 
provision

Circa 100 
units

Alternative site potential  – 
potential SCC led 
development

Site Scoping The Limes

5 – 
Langworthy/ 
Seedley/ 
Salford 
Precinct

Lack of 
provision

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential – 
potential SCC led 
development l

Site Scoping Kara Street

6 – Broughton/ 
Kersal

Lack of 
provision

Circa 200 
units

Alternative site potential – 
RLS led development

RSL 
Assessment

Arrow Street 
Castle Irwell

Total 540
Monica Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 60 
units

City West closure intention. 
Alternative site potential

Site Scoping Wentworth 
High

Astley Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 100 
units

City West closure intention. 
Alternative site potential

Site Scoping Council Offices

Mount Carmel 
Court 
replacement

Stock 
upgrade

Circa 60 
units

Alternative site potential  – 
potential SCC led 
development

Site Scoping Robert Hall 
Street/ Phoebe 
Street

Total 760

16.10 Through the Strategic Housing Partnership Group a request has been made by 
commissioners to RSLs to consider the Council’s Extra Care Positions Statement and 
assess/identify whether the RSLs have any suitable sites in Salford that could be assessed 
for Extra Care development. This has led to two potential sites being suggested (15.05 and 
15.06) and initial discussions have taken place. It will be necessary to make further requests 
to RSLs to encourage them to consider Extra Care as a strategic priority/opportunity for 
development. Initial progress is encouraging but further relationship management is needed 
to understand what sites might available/suitable.

16.11 Place based development through strategic regeneration is progressing via the 
development of the new Housing Strategy. The scale-up of Extra Care is included in the draft 
Housing Strategy. Initial discussions about options for aligning Extra Care Scheme 
development with Town Centre planning have taken place and these development zones are 
included in Appendix 1.

16.12 Commissioners are continually assessing opportunities to secure pipeline 
development sites resulting from service redesign/market shaping processes. This includes 
the opportunity arising from development of the new Intermediate Care Unit and the 
subsequent release of The Limes site.

16.13 Recent communication from Homes England (via their regional office) indicates that 
Extra Care developments will be viewed favourably for grant applications by developers. A 
local RSL has reported that for one of their early pipeline schemes a 50% grant level has 
been indicated. This makes it financially attractive for developers through this round of 

Page 162



Homes England funding. It is also likely that the bidding process will become competitive at 
grant levels of 50%.

16.14 The Head of Housing Strategy, SCC has confirmed that this team will provide support 
the strategic relationship management with Homes England.

16.15 There is an emerging opportunity to work alongside Salix Homes through their outline 
proposal for the Arrow Street Development. An initial meeting with Salix, Salford Care 
Organisation and the Council has taken place to set out the requirements and scope of a 
financial appraisal of the proposal. This includes:

 Development Costs - Salix
 Income – rental and other – SCC and Salix
 Care Cost – SCO and SCC

The Care Cost analysis will be linked to a Best Value programme with Salford CCG and 
expand upon the desk top ‘cost benefit’ appraisal undertaken in the Extra Care Position 
Statement

16.16 There are two principles (likely) routes for development of an Extra Care building. 
Firstly, a non-statutory agency (generally a Registered Social Landlord - RSL) will identify a 
development opportunity on land that it owns/leases and will take the lead role in delivering 
the capital scheme. SCC Housing Strategy will provide strategic relationship management 
with the RSL sector to identify development potential/opportunities, including a specific 
assessment of sheltered accommodation.

16.17 Secondly, a statutory partner (generally the LA) will identify land that it owns and offer 
this up for development. Generally in Salford the Council has not routinely undertaken capital 
development, however since the establishment of Dérive the Council has taken a new 
position on the development of housing. As Dérive is relatively new it would be likely that any 
immediate development opportunity would be offered to a RSL through a competitive 
process.

16.18 The Council would remain responsible for the strategic commissioning of any 
regulated care service delivered at an Extra Care scheme. The procurement of any such 
service would be undertaken by Salford Care Organisation. These arrangements are now 
embedded within contractual relationship between the Council/CCG and SRFT. There is a 
current Commissioner-led review of Regulated Care delivered at the Extra Care Schemes in 
Salford that will deliver a new model and service specification.

16.19 Through the provision of Enhanced Housing Benefit the Council funds the RSL to 
provide housing related support to the Extra Care tenants as part of their tenancy 
agreement. This function is undertaken by the Housing Benefit team in the Council and is 
carried out on a scheme by scheme basis

16.20 The process for identifying/matching individuals and their need to Extra Care is 
brokered through an Adult Social Care assessment alongside housing functions to establish 

Page 163



a tenancy. This key aspect of the Extra Care system will be reviewed or order to ensure the 
assessment/tenancy system matches the planned scale-up of Extra Care.

16.21 The table below represents at current assessment of risk for the actions associated 
with Extra Care development. The key areas of increase risk are associated with the capital 
development. Should partners wish to progress a scale-up of Extra Care it is like that 
additional resource, to that with is currently available to strategic commissioners, is made 
available for this purpose.

Table 10 – 60 Extra Care Development – Planning Risk Rating

 

Aspect Knowledge Expertise Capacity Progress Overall
Strategy
Site Identification
Capital Funding
Revenue Funding
Capital Development RSL
Capital Development SCC
Regulated Care
Housing
Pathways
Monitoring/Quality

17. Key Partners

 Salford City Council
 Salford CCG
 Registered Social Landlords
 Urban Vision
 Housing Strategy/Regeneration
 Finance GM H&SC Partnership
 NW ADASS
 Homes England
 Salford Care Organisation

18. Resource implications

18.01 Capital: There are significant capital resources to deliver and Extra Care building, 
typically £10m for an 80-100 bedded unit.

18.02 Rental Revenue: An increase in Extra Care will result in additional rental costs. 
Housing Benefit regulation means Council are about to draw down additional funding for 
each new tenancy that requires Housing Benefit

Page 164



18.03 Care Revenue: There will be an increase in the Extra Care regulated care costs 
through the expanse of Extra Care provision and an association reduction in Residential 
Care costs.

18.04 Development Support Costs: The extent of development support costs is not yet 
know and depends on the nature and time scales for the capital development programme. 
For example, should all developments be delivered by RSL as land owners then the 
development capacity will be provided by the RSL, however, if schemes are developed on 
Council land there would need to be an agreed development process through which sites 
were allocated for development. This approach would require design and implementation 
support and capacity.

19. Risks and mitigation

19.01 Strategic direction: The Extra Care Position Statement has provided strategic 
direction and agreement to progress to development.

19.02 Land: Commissioners have begun to identify potential sites, working with both RSLs 
and Urban Vision (regarding Council land).

19.03 Care Cost Benefit Appraisal: SCC and SCO finance will need to work together to 
create a local Care Cost Benefit Appraisal with the opportunity to do this for the Arrow Street 
proposal.

19.04 Development support: This report his highlighted a potential deficit in the level of 
capital development support required.

19.05 Commissioners and SCO are currently reviewing the Regulated Care Service and 
Housing Management Support Service delivered in Salford Extra Care. This will result in a 
new model with a new service specification that can be applied to future Extra Care 
Schemes.

20. Governance and project management oversight

20.01 The Adult Social Care Commissioning group will hold responsibility for oversight of 
the programme of work.

19.02 A working group has been established to undertake initial scoping. The group will 
need to extend it scope as the work moves into a developmental phase.

20.0 Next steps

20.01 To take this report through Partnership and Commissioning Governance – action 
completed.

Page 165



20.02 To develop the Cost of Care Modelling for the Arrow Street proposal – see section 
21.

20.03 To move into a development programme and to secure additional capacity to support 
this.

21. Arrow Street Extra Care – Financial Appraisal

21.01 This financial appraisal sets out a predictive scenario for the cost and service impact 
of the development of an 80 room Extra Care scheme in Lower Broughton.

21.02 In order to gather some preliminary data relating to the financial feasibility of an Extra 
Care scheme within Broughton, commissioners looked at the care costs of a random sample 
of those people on the Extra Care waiting list and those receiving a support package living in 
Broughton and the immediate surrounding areas.

21.03 The waiting list for existing schemes currently (December 2019) features 92 people. 
Those on the waiting list who are not currently in receipt of formally commissioned services 
(count 28) have been excluded as they are not a current cost impact. Of the remaining 64, 
10 are currently accessing the services of a care home and 8 are accessing services other 
than directly-commissioned homecare. This leaves a population of 46 in receipt of homecare 
on the Extra Care waiting list.

21.04 Other clients in receipt of homecare in the Broughton, Claremont and Ordsall 
neighbourhoods who do not feature on the waiting list were added to the dataset. This 
totalled 161 people who may consider an Extra Care offer closer to their current home. 
Those with packages of care exceeding 20 hours per week (count 20) were excluded from 
the below analysis as this exceeds the level of support expected in a shared 24 hour care 
environment and indicates an unwillingness to relocate.

21.05 For each person within a care home environment on the waiting list, there are four 
others in receipt of a homecare package. With the proposed capacity of 80 units, the 
following parameters were adopted for a theoretical allocation of a new scheme:

Page 166



21.06 For each care home placement, it is estimated that an equivalent of 19.4 hours of 
direct care is provided per resident per week. For homecare clients, the data extract was 
restricted to those receiving less than 20 hours of commissioned support per week.

21.07 The average support provision for each group is currently recorded as follows:

Table 11
Group Population 

Count
Hours per week 
(average)

Selection 
Count

On Waiting List
Care Home resident

10 19.4 8

On Waiting List
10-20 hours homecare

13 13.3 6

On Waiting List
5-10 hours homecare

22 7.3 13

On Waiting List
0-5 hours homecare

10 2.7 13

Not on Waiting List
Care Home resident

162 19.4 8

Not on Waiting List
10-20 hours homecare

29 15.2 5

Not on Waiting List
5-10 hours homecare

57 6.9 14

Not on Waiting List
0-5 hours homecare

55 2.6 13

Page 167



21.08 A manual audit has been undertaken of a sample of homecare clients as follows to 
identify any potential assumptions that could be made on reductions of packages as a result 
of moving into an extra care scheme:

Table 12
Criteria Population Sample size
On EC Waiting List receiving homecare 46 31
Not on waiting list, receiving homecare in 
Broughton, Ordsall or Claremont areas

141 32

21.09 The assumptions made are not designed to be an exact measure of associated 
savings, rather an early indication of potential areas of decreased support.

21.10 Areas of presumed reduction:

 Lunch calls – whilst some people will still require some level of support at lunchtime, 
this could be reduced with the provision of communal lunch facilities and for some 
people this would eradicate the need for support at this time

 Day care – whilst some people would still choose to attend daycare, for others the 
provision of communal facilities will provide the social interaction required and 
support in creating friendships and natural social support

 Respite – Although some carers will continue to feel that they need a set period of 
respite, the 24 hour security of on-site support would offer additional provision and 
the reassurance to carers that enables them to take a break

 Community support – the community support is designed to increase social inclusion 
and there is the possibility that should social interaction be gained from the 
communal facilities, the need for this level of support may decrease. 

21.11 The sample informs an average level funding for other support in addition to the 
homecare package and the subsequent adjustment assumes all this additional/lunchtime 
support can be removed when in an Extra Care facility. 

Table 13
Sample Count Average 

weekly price 
(homecare)

Of which 
lunch visit

Average weekly 
price (other 
services)

Average weekly 
price (total)

Waiting List 31 £99.70 43 mins £25.29 £124.99
Community 32 £100.78 63 mins £48.29 £149.07

21.12 Applying the assumed reductions in support to the projected allocation groups:

Table 14
Group Selection 

Count
Current Service & 
Cost per week

Revised Service & Cost per 
week

On Waiting List
Care Home resident

8 £466.74 19.4 hrs @ £14
= £271.60

On Waiting List 6 13.3 hrs @ £14.40 12.6 hrs @ £14 = £176.21

Page 168



10-20 hours 
homecare

+ £25.29 other
= £216.81

On Waiting List
5-10 hours 
homecare

13 7.3 hrs @ £14.40 + 
£25.29 other
= £130.41

6.6 hrs @ £14
= £92.21

On Waiting List
0-5 hours homecare

13 2.7 hrs @ £14.40 + 
£25.29 other
= £64.17

2.0 hrs @ £14
= £27.81

Not on Waiting List
Care Home resident

8 £466.74 19.4 hrs @ £14
= £271.60

Not on Waiting List
10-20 hours 
homecare

5 15.2 @ £14.40 + 
£48.29 other
= £267.17

14.2 hrs @ £14
= £198.21

Not on Waiting List
5-10 hours 
homecare

14 6.9 @ £14.40 + 
£48.29 other
= £147.65

5.9 hrs @ £14
= £82.01

Not on Waiting List
0-5 hours homecare

13 2.6 @ £14.40 + 
£48.29 other
=£85.73

1.6 hrs @ £14
= £21.81

Total 80 £15,815.68 £9,385.60

21.13 Outcomes of analysis 

21.14 Based on some very high level analysis and some sweeping assumptions, it is 
suggested that an Extra care scheme for 80 people in the Broughton area might achieve an 
efficiency on support costs to the tune of c£6.5k per week or £334k per annum (see also 
Table 15 below).

21.15 This does not account for the provisions that may need to be commissioned in order 
to reduce current needs related to lunchtime support, community activity, carer respite and 
day care services.

21.16 It also assumes the current rates in place with homecare. Care Home and Extra Care 
providers is sustainable – disregarding the pressures expressed by the market in each of 
these cases.

21.17 It disregards to the potential to support clients not currently in receipt of 
commissioned services to avoid presenting for such in the timescales they otherwise might.

21.18 It also assumes the landlord of the scheme is agreeable to the suggested mix of 
support needs proposed in the paper above.

21.19 As detailed in the report a number of assumptions have been made to allow a 
comparison of cost for transitioning service users from being supported in other settings to 
being supported in an Extra Care setting. Whilst the base model indicates a potential annual 
cost reduction in the region of £334K it is important to note the reality of a cost comparison 
based on real world application will look different. To help understand the financial impact of 
changes in some of the key assumptions the following scenarios have also been modelled:

Page 169



 If hours of care for service users moved from residential care to Extra Care are 20% 
higher. This could increase cost by £45K or a £289K cost reduction (see table 16 
below).

 If only 50% of people expected to be diverted from residential care is achieved and 
the remaining space in the scheme is filled with people who were receiving 
Homecare in excess of 10 hours per week. This could increase cost by £59K or a 
£275K cost reduction (see table 17 below).

 If the reduction in hours from those received in Homecare to those received in Extra 
Care through stopping lunch calls is not achieved. This could increase cost by £40K 
or a £294K cost reduction (see table 18 below).

 If “other services” received prior to being supported in Extra Care are still required at 
50% of the original average cost. This could increase cost by £61K or a £273K cost 
reduction (see table 19 below).

 If the rate paid to the Extra Care provider is higher than the amount modelled (£15). 
This could increase cost by £35K or a £299K cost reduction (see table 20 below).

21.20 This analysis does not include an estimate of any cost savings associated with any 
future change/progression on the care pathway (as per figure 1, Section 3) as the primary 
focus of this financial feasibility is on current known cost. However, it is likely in delivering a 
new Extra Care scheme that the risk of progression along a more costly care pathway for 
those people living in this scheme would be mitigated (compared to the scheme not being 
delivered) to a level that would secure commissioning cost avoidance.

21.21 Void Liability

21.22 Salix Homes has confirmed that their business model for the capital programme 
assumes a 4 month period from the opening of the building to reach full occupancy. This 
period is based on Salix experience/assessment and during this time Salix will accept full 
financial liability for any voids. After this time Salix will assess their position and may 
approach commissioners for further discussion about void liabilities.

21.23 During the normal operations of the facility Salix Homes will assume full financial 
liability for any voids in the facility.

21.24 Capital Development Costs

Salix Homes has confirmed to commissioners that the financial cost for the development of 
the facility is contained within their business plan and that Salix Home assumes full financial 
responsibility for funding the facility.

21.25 Rental Charges and Housing Benefit

21.26 Rent and service charges levied by the Extra Care landlord are paid by the service 
user either directly from their own funds or via Housing Benefit. Indicative levels of rent and 
service charges have not yet been confirmed but it is expected that they will be consistent 
with other Extra Care schemes in the city. Once final levels of charges are known this will 

Page 170



need to be reviewed by Salford City Council’s Housing Benefits team to confirm they are at 
an acceptable level, which where charges are met via housing benefit, will allow the Council 
to recovery in full so as not to result in a loss in housing benefit subsidy which would create 
an additional cost pressure. 

21.27 Salix Homes will retain full responsibility for securing the necessary levels of rental 
income to support their business plan for the facility. Salix Homes are currently in discussion 
with the Council’s Housing Benefit team to progress this matter.

21.28 Nomination Rights – Local Housing Allocation Policy

21.29 It is the intension of commissioners to apply the same approach to the Arrow Street 
Extra Care proposal as it does with other Extra Care schemes and assume 100% 
nominations rights to access this accommodation. This will enable commissioners and SCO 
to have control over access to the accommodation through the existing Extra Care Allocation 
Panel meeting.

21.30 Local Authority Charging Policy

21.31 Under the existing local charging policy the Council applies a different approach to 
charging for people in Extra Care compared with Domiciliary Care and Care Home services. 
The general impact on this is that people living in Extra Care who are receiving chargeable 
care services are charged a different rate for this service compared to if they were receiving 
the same level of domiciliary care or if they lived in a care home. Commissioners are aware 
of this matter and are currently reviewing the local charging policy.

21.32 Under the current charging policy if a person moved from a Domiciliary Care service 
being charged, to an Extra Care service being charged it is likely the person would be 
charged at a different level. Further work on this matter is required linked to the review of the 
charging policy.

22. Recommendations

22.01 The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Review the contents of the report with a focus on Section 21 Arrow Street Extra 
Care – Financial Appraisal.

 Determine the financial viability of the Arrow Street Extra Care proposal on the 
basis of this appraisal, that it is likely not to result in additional cost to the care 
budget and may secure cost saving to the Care Budget through a managed 
transition of care pathways for people.

Paul Walsh
Head of Integrated Commissioning

Page 171



Page 172



Table 15 - Financial comparison of transition of service user support to Extra Care

Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 6 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 1,301 67,831 12.6 14 176 9,198 1,058 55,188 0.7 40 2,107 242 12,643
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 6.6 14 92 4,818 1,201 62,634 0.7 38 1,982 494 25,765
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2 14 28 1,460 364 18,980 0.7 36 1,886 470 24,518
Not on Wating List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 5 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 1,336 69,655 14.2 14 199 10,366 994 51,830 1 68 3,565 342 17,825
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 5.9 14 83 4,307 1,156 60,298 1 65 3,392 911 47,487
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 1.6 14 22 1,168 291 15,184 1 63 3,302 823 42,929
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 15,816 824,675 1,144 59,641 9,411 490,706 702 36,584 6,405 333,969

Before EC In EC Change
Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User

Table 16 – Residential care hours 20% higher than table 15

Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 23.28 14 326 16,994 2,607 135,955 -23.28 141 7,343 1,127 58,742
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 6 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 1,301 67,831 12.6 14 176 9,198 1,058 55,188 0.7 40 2,107 242 12,643
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 6.6 14 92 4,818 1,201 62,634 0.7 38 1,982 494 25,765
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2 14 28 1,460 364 18,980 0.7 36 1,886 470 24,518
Not on Wating List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 23.28 14 326 16,994 2,607 135,955 -23.28 141 7,343 1,127 58,742
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 5 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 1,336 69,655 14.2 14 199 10,366 994 51,830 1 68 3,565 342 17,825
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 5.9 14 83 4,307 1,156 60,298 1 65 3,392 911 47,487
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 1.6 14 22 1,168 291 15,184 1 63 3,302 823 42,929
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 15,816 824,675 1,252 65,306 10,280 536,024 593 30,920 5,536 288,650

Before EC In EC Change
Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User

Table 17 - If only 50% of people expected to be diverted from Residential is achieved and 
replaced with Homecare 10+ hrs

Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 4 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 1,867 97,349 19.4 14 272 14,162 1,086 56,648 -19.4 195 10,175 781 40,701
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 10 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 2,168 113,051 12.6 14 176 9,198 1,764 91,980 0.7 40 2,107 404 21,071
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 6.6 14 92 4,818 1,201 62,634 0.7 38 1,982 494 25,765
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2 14 28 1,460 364 18,980 0.7 36 1,886 470 24,518
Not on Wating List Care Home 4 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 1,867 97,349 19.4 14 272 14,162 1,086 56,648 -19.4 195 10,175 781 40,701
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 9 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 2,405 125,379 14.2 14 199 10,366 1,789 93,294 1 68 3,565 615 32,085
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 5.9 14 83 4,307 1,156 60,298 1 65 3,392 911 47,487
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 1.6 14 22 1,168 291 15,184 1 63 3,302 823 42,929
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 14,018 730,922 1,144 59,641 8,739 455,666 702 36,584 5,279 275,256

Before EC In EC Change
Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User

Table 18 - Reduction to hours moving from Domi to EC through stopping lunch calls is not 
achieved

Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 6 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 1,301 67,831 13.3 14 186 9,709 1,117 58,254 0 31 1,596 184 9,577
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 7.3 14 102 5,329 1,329 69,277 0 28 1,471 367 19,122
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2.7 14 38 1,971 491 25,623 0 26 1,375 343 17,875
Not on Wating List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 5 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 1,336 69,655 15.2 14 213 11,096 1,064 55,480 0 54 2,835 272 14,175
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 6.9 14 97 5,037 1,352 70,518 0 51 2,662 715 37,267
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 2.6 14 36 1,898 473 24,674 0 49 2,572 641 33,439
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 15,816 824,675 1,215 63,364 10,172 530,418 630 32,861 5,643 294,257

Before EC In EC Change
Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User

Table 19 - If "other services" received prior to move to EC are still required at 50% of 
average cost

Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 6 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 1,301 67,831 12.6 14 189 9,857 1,134 59,144 0.7 28 1,448 167 8,686
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 6.6 14 105 5,477 1,366 71,206 0.7 25 1,323 330 17,194
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2 14 41 2,119 528 27,552 0.7 24 1,227 306 15,947
Not on Wating List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 14 272 14,162 2,173 113,296 -19.4 195 10,175 1,561 81,401
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 5 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 1,336 69,655 14.2 14 223 11,625 1,115 58,125 1 44 2,306 221 11,530
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 5.9 14 107 5,566 1,494 77,924 1 41 2,133 573 29,861
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 1.6 14 47 2,427 605 31,551 1 39 2,043 509 26,562
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 15,816 824,675 1,254 65,396 10,588 552,093 591 30,829 5,228 272,582

Before EC In EC Change
Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User

Table 20 - If extra care rate paid to care provider is higher - £15

Page 173



Cat 1 Cat 2

No of 
Serv 
Users Ave Hrs Rate Weekly

Other 
Services Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Rate Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Ave Hrs Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Waiting List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 15 291 15,174 2,328 121,389 -19.4 176 9,164 1,406 73,309
Waiting List Homecare 10+ Hrs 6 13.3 14.4 191.52 25.29 217 11,305 1,301 67,831 12.6 15 189 9,855 1,134 59,130 0.7 28 1,450 167 8,701
Waiting List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 13 7.3 14.4 105.12 25.29 130 6,800 1,695 88,399 6.6 15 99 5,162 1,287 67,108 0.7 31 1,638 408 21,291
Waiting List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.7 14.4 38.88 25.29 64 3,346 834 43,498 2 15 30 1,564 390 20,336 0.7 34 1,782 444 23,162
Not on Wating List Care Home 8 466.74 466.74 0 467 24,337 3,734 194,697 19.4 15 291 15,174 2,328 121,389 -19.4 176 9,164 1,406 73,309
Not on Wating List Homecare 10+ Hrs 5 15.2 14.4 218.88 48.29 267 13,931 1,336 69,655 14.2 15 213 11,106 1,065 55,532 1 54 2,825 271 14,123
Not on Wating List HomeCare 5-10 Hrs 14 6.9 14.4 99.36 48.29 148 7,699 2,067 107,785 5.9 15 89 4,615 1,239 64,605 1 59 3,084 828 43,180
Not on Wating List HomeCare <5 Hrs 13 2.6 14.4 37.44 48.29 86 4,470 1,114 58,113 1.6 15 24 1,251 312 16,269 1 62 3,219 802 41,844
Total All 80 1624.68 220.74 1,845 96,225 15,816 824,675 1,226 63,901 10,083 525,756 620 32,324 5,733 298,918

Before EC In EC Change
All Service UserPer Service User All Service User Per Service User All Service User Per Service User

Page 174



 

                                                          

ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 9

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

8 January 2020 

Report of: Director of Corporate Services

Date of Paper: 20 December 2019

Subject: Proposed amendment to Terms of 
Reference for Adults’ Commissioning 
Committee

In case of query 
Please contact:

Jenny Noble
Head of Governance and Policy

Carol Eddleston
Senior Democratic Services Advisor

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)
Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

To consider and recommend for approval an amendment to the Terms of Reference 
for the Adults’ Commissioning Committee in order to reduce the risk of a meeting 
not being quorate due to the number of voting members required to be in 
attendance.

Page 175

Agenda Item 9



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This change to clarify the quoracy position will 
ensure that formal decisions can be taken when 
required.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

None

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

None

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

None

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

All voting members have a potential interest in 
this change which will be managed in line with 
organisational policy.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

None

Footnote:

Members of Adult’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 176



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Paper considered by Integrated 
Leadership Team on 18 December 
2019.

Recommended for formal 
approval in January.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 177



Proposed change to quorum

1. Executive Summary

Since the new integrated commissioning governance arrangements were established 
earlier in the year there have been instances where meetings have not been quorate due to 
the number of voting members present.

This report seeks approval of a proposal to reduce the number of voting members required 
to be in attendance from each of SCCG and SCC from three to two on the Adults’ 
Commissioning Committee.

2. Background

2.1 The Terms of Reference (ToR) of the Health and Care Commissioning Board (H&CCB) and 
its Committees were approved earlier in 2019/20 as part of the NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (SCCG) and Salford City Council (SCC) Partnership Agreement 
relating to integrated health and care commissioning arrangements.

2.2 It was always intended that the ToR would be formally reviewed by SCC and SCCG by 
March 2020 as part of a wider governance review in the spring although they may be 
amended by mutual agreement between both parties at any time to reflect changes in 
circumstances which may arise.

2.3 Following early discussions at the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) and more 
recently at the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC), clarity has been sought 
regarding quorum. The ToR of the H&CCB, CCC and ACC state:

“The Board/Committee will be quorate providing one-third of the voting membership is an 
attendance, with at least three members present from each of SCCG and SCC.”

2.4 This appears to contradict itself and is a little confusing for those supporting the meetings 
about what constitutes a quorum so it is proposed that we make an amendment now and not 
wait until the date above so that meetings are quorate and clear decisions can be made. 
These proposals include the proposed ToR changes and a proposed governance route to 
approve the changes which were supported by the Integrated Leadership Team. 

2.5 This paper does not include changes to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
(PCCC) ToR which will be reviewed as part of the CCG’s constitution review in January.  
There have been no instances of inquorate meetings.

3. Current situation

3.1 Although the ToR are working effectively in the main, there have been instances where the 
quoracy requirements have proved challenging in relation to the SCC membership of the 
ACC, CCC and H&CCB. Whilst the committees aim to achieve a consensus for all decisions, 

Page 178



rather than a vote, a meeting must be quorate in order for a decision to be taken. Although 
SCCG and SCC have an equal number of members on each of the committees, the ‘voting 
membership’ of SCC is restricted to elected members and excludes SCC senior officer 
members.

3.2 In the case of the ACC and CCC there are four SCC voting members so the absence of two 
or more would render a meeting inquorate and no formal decisions could be taken. As there 
are seven SCCG voting members the likelihood of five being unable to attend and render a 
meeting inquorate is considered to be relatively low.

3.3 In the case of the H&CCB there are six voting seats allocated to SCC elected members, 
including to the Deputy City Mayor and to the Lead Member for Children’s and Young 
People’s Services. Since the terms of reference were drafted, however, responsibility for 
Children’s and Young People’s Services has transferred to the Deputy City Mayor, meaning 
that, in practice, the maximum number of SCC voting members is five. If three or more 
elected members are unable to attend, a meeting would be rendered inquorate and no 
formal decisions could be taken. As there are ten SCCG voting members the likelihood of 
eight being unable to attend and render a meeting inquorate is considered to be low.

3.4 The lack of a quorum at any meeting does not prevent the discussion of items which are 
included on the agenda for assurance or information purposes. 

3.5 Three decisions have been taken since May, two at ACC on 11 September:  

 Great Places Learning Disability Supported Housing Proposal – Feasibility 
Assessment, and 

 Additional Care Home Fees for Hospitality Charges Above Care Requirements

3.6 There were eight out of 11 voting members present and at least three members present from 
each of SCCG and SCC. Therefore it was suggested that the meeting was quorate as one-
third on the voting membership was in attendance, however, the three members from each 
of the SCCG and SCC were not all voting members, which we now understand was the 
intent. At that meeting apologies were received from two of the SCC voting members but 
both of them had attended the Lead Member briefing and no particular concerns or 
comments had been raised about either item.

3.7 The other decision was taken at CCC on 24 July – to approve the service model for the 
proposed redesign of Salford Children’s Services – and this meeting was also quorate.

3.8 Non-voting and voting members from both SCCG and SCC take their role and 
responsibilities as committee members very seriously and endeavour to attend meetings as 
regularly as possible. Inevitably however, as senior representatives of their respective body, 
there are occasions when members cannot attend due to other unavoidable work or 
personal commitments, or sickness. Given the existing heavy committee workload that 
members already have, it would not seem prudent to recommend that member 
representation on any of the commissioning committees be increased, nor that existing 
members nominate substitutes to attend in their place, even though this is provided for in the 
ToR of the ACC and CCC but is not permitted for H&CCB.

4. ToR changes

Page 179



4.1 It is considered that a reduction in the number of members required to be present from each 
of SCCG and SCC is a pragmatic approach which would reduce significantly the risk of a 
meeting being rendered inquorate.  The Adults’ Commissioning Committee is therefore 
requested to consider agreeing to a proposal to amend the terms of reference to read:

‘The Committee will be quorate providing one-third of the voting membership is in 
attendance, with at least three two voting members present from each of SCCG and SCC’.

5. Governance route

5.1 Following agreement at the Integrated Leadership Team meeting, the ACC, CCC and 
H&CCB is asked to endorse the proposal(s) prior to formal approval by Cabinet and 
Governing Body in January 2020. The Lead Members concerned will be briefed informally by 
email rather than scheduling it at their individual briefings. 

5.2 The ToR of the ACC, CCC and H&CCB will then be amended accordingly, following mutual 
agreement in writing. It is not thought that this amendment of these ToR would require a 
corresponding amendment of any other provision of the Partnership Agreement and/or would 
create any conflict or inconsistency with any other provision of the Partnership Agreement.

6. Considerations

6.1 This is in line with the integrated commissioning governance principles agreed by the Core 
Reference Group i.e. elected members and GPs will be represented in equal numbers on 
decision making groups (or will at the least have equal numbers of formal votes). Therefore it 
is considered to be a practical solution although the membership, attendance and quorum 
will be reviewed in more detail as part of the formal joint review.

7. Recommendations

7.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Consider and recommend for approval the amendment above to the Terms of Reference 
for the Adults’ Commissioning Committee in order to reduce the risk of a meeting not 
being quorate due to the number of voting members required to be in attendance.

Carol Eddleston
Senior Democratic Services Advisor

Jenny Noble
Head of Governance and Policy

Page 180



 

1

Adult Commissioning Committee

AGENDA ITEM NO 11

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING 12 JUNE 2019

Report of: Karen Proctor/Charlotte Ramsden

Date of Paper: January 8th 2020

Subject: Adult Commissioning Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Judd Skelton 0161 212 5632
Harry Golby 0161 212 6161

Purpose of Paper:

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult Commissioning Committee 
are kept abreast of developments and progress.

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This paper provides an overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and 
provision relating to adult health and care to 
ensure Adult Commissioning Committee are 
kept abreast of developments and progress.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

N/A

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 182



  

3

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought X
Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 183



4

Adult Commissioning Report

1. Executive Summary

This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult Commissioning Committee 
are kept abreast of developments.

Items in this month’s report include:

 Suicide Prevention Update
 Safeguarding Adults Week 
 Intermediate Care Unit & Acute Receiving Centre

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 

2.1 Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy Update  

Salford Suicide Prevention Partnership develops an annual Suicide Prevention Action Plan 
that sits under the overarching Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2022). The 2019/20 
Suicide Prevention Action Plan has been developed using the themes from Salford’s annual 
Suicide Audit 2017. The data that is currently collected for the suicide audit is two years 
behind. Below is an overview of some of the actions in the 2019/20 Suicide Prevention 
Action Plan. 

 Explore and develop suicide prevention approaches to at risk groups as 
identified by the audit – The CCG Communication and Engagement team have 
developed three suicide prevention comms campaigns aimed towards at risk groups: 
Children and Young People (Exam Stress), Construction Workers and LGBTQ+. 
Graphics and messages have been developed and shared on social media posts 
include signposting to help. The comms team shared events other organisations 
were holding for World Suicide Prevention Day (10/09/19) and World Suicide Mental 
Health Day (10/10/19). The Suicide Prevention Partnership will be discussing next 
year’s suicide prevention comms campaigns at the January 2020 meeting,  

 Investigate implementing an ‘at risk’ flag on the GP systems for people that 
have 4 or more suicide risk factors to ensure people receive the support 
needed - The project is based in Primary Care and works by using the codes in the 
GP system to flag up people that have three or more suicide risk factors as identified 
in the Salford 2017 Suicide Audit. This will then prompt the GP, Practice Nurse etc to 
use their judgement and ask the person question 9 of PHQ9 (Over the last two 
weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? - 
Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself in some way?). 

Page 184



5

Depending on the response the person would be signposted to support; this might 
include being referred to Community Connectors. We are currently scoping how 
many people this would identify and exploring linking with the Living Well 
Programme. 

 Work with construction workers in Salford to increase awareness of suicide 
prevention - START (commissioned by Salford CCG) hosted free builder’s lunches 
across four building sites in Salford. The lunches were used to raise awareness of 
suicide prevention and the support that is available whilst encouraging construction 
workers to talk openly about their mental health. The Suicide Prevention Partnership 
will agree at risk groups to target through the Assertive Outreach programme in 
2020/21. This will be based on the data that comes back from the 2018 Suicide 
Audit.

 Strategic mapping of a small number of people’s journeys to understand 
opportunities to improve the system – Meeting with people who have been 
affected by suicide, either as someone who has experienced suicidal thoughts or is 
bereaved from suicide to understand their experiences. The information gathered 
from peoples experiences will be presented back to the Suicide Prevention Board 
including recommendations for how people’s experiences can be improved in the 
future. 

 Expand the roll out of the Suicide prevention leaflets across Salford – Z-card 
suicide prevention leaflets were developed last year with people that have lived 
experience of suicide. One side of the leaflet gives advice on what to do if you are 
having suicidal thoughts and the other side give advice on how to support someone 
to manage suicidal thoughts. 3000 leaflets have been printed and are being 
distributed in areas at risk of suicide identified in the 2017 Suicide Audit.

 Reach Out, Vigil Procession of remembrance – START (commissioned by Salford 
CCG) organised a vigil of remembrance for those bereaved by suicide in Salford on 
World Suicide Prevention Day (10/10/19). People taking part in vigil included Andy 
Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester, Nav Kapur, Head of Research at the Centre 
for Suicide Prevention at the University of Manchester, Jon Rouse, Chief Executive 
of Greater Manchester Health & Social Care, Maria Roberts, bereaved by suicide, 
along with Paul Dennett, City Mayor of Salford. The event also had performances 
from Hacienda Classical Principle Vocalist, Yvonne Shelton, and Musician, James 
Holt. 

Work has started on the 2018 Suicide Audit and the numbers are provided below

Year Deaths by Suicide Male Female Transgender
2017 27 18 9 0
2018 22 14 6 1

The full audit will be presented to the Suicide Prevention Partnership meeting January 2020 
but initial contributory factors include: breakdown of relationship, social isolation, job loss, 
finance issues, bereavement and substance misuse.  The findings from the audit will be 
used to develop the 2020/21 Suicide Prevention Action Plan.

Page 185



6

Regular Suicide Prevention Updates can be found here: https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/live-
well/mental-health/preventsuicide/salford-suicide-prevention-strategy 

2.2  Safeguarding Adults Week 

Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week took place 18th -24th November 2019 and the 
following activities were undertaken across Salford to raise awareness of safeguarding 
adults and how people can get help and support.

 Salford Civic Centre turned purple on Monday 18th to mark the start of the week.  
This was shared on Facebook and Twitter along with other posts promoting the 
message throughout the week.
  

 Overall social  media outputs were
o Twitter - 3 tweets, 115,446 reach, 48 retweets, 65 likes
o Facebook - 3 posts, 5,980 reach, 24 shares, 391 engagements
o Total – 6 posts, 121,426 reach, 72 retweets/shares

 Elsie’s story (name changed but this is based on a real service user story) featured in 
Life in Salford Magazine which goes to all households in Salford.

 New posters (see below) were sent out to all GP Practices, all Care Homes, all 
Pharmacies, SRFT, Salford Community Leisure and housing providers with a letter 
asking them to display them. 

Page 186

https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/live-well/mental-health/preventsuicide/salford-suicide-prevention-strategy
https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/live-well/mental-health/preventsuicide/salford-suicide-prevention-strategy


7

 CCG included information in staff news and launched new bereavement card which 
was designed with a family member following a Learning Disabilities Mortality 
(LeDeR).  

 Salford City Council  and For Housing CC had wall paper messages and digital 
banners with access to further information

 Age UK – holding a number of activities and talks on specific subjects including falls 
prevention and scams awareness.  Age UK have also taken a supply of posters and 
leaflets for display / distribution. MIND In Salford and Salford CVS also displayed 
posters and posted info on social media.

 Aspire displayed posters and leaflets throughout their buildings (incl. 
toilets/bathrooms/café areas and noticeboards).  Aspire workforce (incl. senior 
management) dressing in purple and/or faces painted with purple hearts/purple hair 
ribbons etc.  Purple was incorporated into catering to encourage conversations and 
awareness e.g. purple buttercream on cupcakes in café area, purple layered sponge 
cakes in café areas, kitchens/cafés having beetroot/red cabbage with hotpot on the 
menus, Vimto , purple napkins in café areas

 Aspire Total Communication coordinator and Autism Coordinator are coaching 
people supported to perform the 1st verse of ‘Purple Rain’ in Makaton.

Page 187



8

2.3  Intermediate Care Unit & Acute Receiving Centre

On December 5th 2019 planning permission was approved by the Salford City Council 
Planning Committee for the Intermediate Care Unit (IMCU) on Stott Lane car park and the 
Acute Receiving Centre (ARC) on the Salford Royal site

The IMCU will provide short-term accommodation to aid patient recovery and increase 
independence, for example, to help patients recover after a fall, acute illness or operation to 
help them return home quickly. The IMCU will be a two-storey building, providing 60 patient 
beds in both multi and single bed rooms. 

The Acute Receiving Centre (ARC) supports Salford Royal’s work as a major trauma centre 
for Greater Manchester and as the centre for acute general surgery for the North West. The 
building will include 90 patient beds in both multi and single bed rooms. Services will include 
radiology, resuscitation, surgical triage, theatres and wards.

The Planning Committee were pleased to hear about the extensive mitigation package that 
has been developed to offset the parking and congestion impact of the IMCU and ARC 
developments.  This includes an extension to the resident parking scheme surrounding the 
hospital, the installation of VMS signage on the hospital estate, additional overflow parking 
spaces made available in the multi-storey car park for visitors and rationalisation of staff 
parking to ensure permits are only provided to those most in need and to give priority to 
patient and visitor parking.  SRFT has also committed to install 27 electric vehicle charging 
points across the hospital site. 

The parking strategy for the ARC and the IMCU developments initially included a lease 
arrangement for 150 spaces at Ladywell Metrolink Park and Ride.  Unfortunately TfGM 
withdrew support for this option and consequently SRFT has recently submitted a planning 
application to provide a deck car park on the southern half of Stott Lane that, if approved, will 
accommodate the loss of the place at the Ladywell Park and Ride.  

The current timeline for the IMCU is as follows: 

 Procurement Exercise for the contractor commenced on  04/12/19
 Contract Award – 04/03/20
 Start on site – 26/03/20
 Completion – 22/01/21

3. Recommendations

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 

Judd Skelton (Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning) & Harry Golby (Assistant 
Director of Commissioning)  

Page 188


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 6 November 2019
	6 Integrated Care: models proposed to continue transformation tests of change - Karen Proctor (Sarah Cannon) - 30 minutes
	7 Postural Stability Service - Gillian Mclaughlan - 15 minutes
	8 Extra Care Service Specification - Judd Skelton - 20 minutes
	08 - Appendix 1 - Final DRAFT Salford ASC Extra Care Service Specification
	08 - Appendix 2 - cia_initial_screening-updated-Extra Care - Care Spec

	8a Financial Appraisal for Arrow Street (Extra Care Strategy) - Paul Walsh - 15 minutes
	9 Proposed amendment to Terms of Reference for Adults' Commissioning Committee - H Dobrowolska - 5 minutes
	10 Adult Commissioning Report - Karen Proctor - 10 minutes

